Public Document Pack

Development Control B
Committee
Agenda
Date: Thursday, 15 April 2021
Time: 6.00 pm
Venue: Virtual Meeting - Zoom Committee Meeting
with Public Access via YouTube
Distribution:
Councillors: Tom Brook (Chair), Richard Eddy (Vice-Chair), Lesley Alexander, Stephen Clarke,
Mike Davies, Fi Hance, Chris Jackson, Olly Mead, Nicola Bowden-Jones and Sultan Khan
Copies to: Gary Collins, Zoe Willcox, Laurence Fallon, Matthew Cockburn and Oliver Harrison

Issued by: Jeremy Livitt, Democratic Services
City Hall, PO Box 3167, Bristol, BS3 9FS
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Date: Wednesday, 7 April 2021

Development Control B Committee – Agenda

Agenda
1.

Welcome, Introduction and Safety Information

6.00 pm
(Pages 4 - 6)

2.

Apologies for Absence

3.

Declarations of Interest

To note any interests relevant to the consideration of items on the agenda.
Any declarations of interest made at the meeting which are not on the register of
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion.

4.

Minutes of the previous meeting held on 17th March 2021

To agree the minutes of the last meeting as a correct record.

5.

Appeals

To note appeals lodged, imminent public inquiries and appeals awaiting decision.

6.

(Pages 11 - 21)

Enforcement

To note enforcement notices.

7.

(Pages 7 - 10)

(Page 22)

Practice Notes - Information Item
(Page 23)

8.

Public Forum
Any member of the public or councillor may participate in public forum. The
detailed arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet
at the back of this agenda. Please note that the following deadlines will apply
in relation to this meeting:
Questions:
Written questions must be received three clear working days prior to the
meeting. For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received
at the latest by 4.30pm on Friday 9th April 2021.

Development Control B Committee – Agenda

Petitions and statements:
Petitions and statements must be received by noon on the working day prior
to the meeting. For this meeting, this means that your submission must be
received at the latest by 12pm on Wednesday 14th April 2021.
The statement should be addressed to the Service Director, Legal Services, c/o
The Democratic Services Team, City Hall, 3rd Floor Deanery Wing, College
Green, P O Box 3176, Bristol, BS3 9FS or email democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Members of the public who wish to present their public forum statement,
question or petition at the zoom meeting must register their interest by giving
at least two clear working days’ notice prior to the meeting by 2pm on
Tuesday 13th April 2021.
PLEASE NOTE THAT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NEW STANDING ORDERS
AGREED BY BRISTOL CITY COUNCIL, YOU MUST SUBMIT EITHER A
STATEMENT, PETITION OR QUESTION TO ACCOMPANY YOUR REGISTER TO
SPEAK.
In accordance with previous practice adopted for people wishing to speak at
Development Control Committees, please note that you may only be allowed
1 minute subject to the number of requests received for the meeting.

9.

Planning and Development

To consider the following applications for Development Control Committee B

(Page 24)

a)

20/04474/F We The Curious, Millennium Square

(Pages 25 - 92)

b)

19/03660/F Astry Close, Lawrence Weston

(Pages 93 - 161)

10. Date of Next Meeting
No meetings have yet been fixed for 2021/22 Municipal Year pending the
forthcoming Bristol City Council elections.

Agenda Item 1
www.bristol.gov.uk

Public Information Sheet
Inspection of Papers - Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
You can find papers for all our meetings on our website at https://www.bristol.gov.uk/council-meetings
Covid-19: changes to how we hold public meetings
Following changes to government rules, we will use video conferencing to hold all public meetings,
including Cabinet, Full Council, regulatory meetings (where planning and licensing decisions are made)
and scrutiny.
Councillors will take decisions remotely and the meetings will be broadcast live on YouTube.
Members of the public who wish to present their public forum in person during the video conference
must register their interest by giving at least two clear working days’ notice to Democratic Services of
the request. To take part in the meeting, you will be required to register for a Zoom account, so that
Democratic Services is able to match your named Zoom account to your public forum submission, and
send you the password protected link and the instructions required to join the Zoom meeting to make
your statement or ask your supplementary question(s).
As part of our security arrangements, please note that we will not permit access to the meeting if
your Zoom credentials do not match your public forum submission credentials. This is in the
interests of helping to ensure a safe meeting environment for all attending or observing proceedings
via a live broadcast.
Please note: Members of the public will only be invited into the meeting for the duration of their
submission and then be removed to permit the next public forum participant to speak.
Changes to Public Forum
Members of the public may make a written statement, ask a question or present a petition to most
meetings. Your statement or question will be sent to the Committee Members and will be published
on the Council’s website before the meeting. Please send it to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk.
The following requirements apply:





The statement is received no later than 12.00 noon on the working day before the meeting and is
about a matter which is the responsibility of the committee concerned.
The question is received no later than 5pm three clear working days before the meeting.
Any statement submitted should be no longer than one side of A4 paper. For copyright reasons,
we are unable to reproduce or publish newspaper or magazine articles that may be attached to
statements.
Your intention to attend the meeting must be received no later than two clear working days in
advance. The meeting agenda will clearly state the relevant public forum deadlines.

Page 4

www.bristol.gov.uk

By participating in public forum business, we will assume that you have consented to your name and
the details of your submission being recorded and circulated to the Committee, published on the
website and within the minutes. Your statement or question will also be made available to the public
via publication on the Council’s website and may be provided upon request in response to Freedom of
Information Act requests in the future.
We will try to remove personal and identifiable information. However, because of time constraints we
cannot guarantee this, and you may therefore wish to consider if your statement contains information
that you would prefer not to be in the public domain. Other committee papers may be placed on the
council’s website and information within them may be searchable on the internet.
During the meeting:









Public Forum is normally one of the first items on the agenda, although statements and petitions
that relate to specific items on the agenda will always be taken just before the item concerned.
There will be no debate on statements or petitions.
Public Forum will be circulated to the Committee members prior to the meeting and published on
the website.
If you have arranged with Democratic Services to attend the meeting to present your statement or
ask a question(s), you should log into Zoom and use the meeting link provided which will admit you
to the waiting room.
The Chair will call each submission in turn and you will be invited into the meeting. When you are
invited to speak, please make sure that your presentation focuses on the key issues that you would
like Members to consider. This will have the greatest impact.
Your time allocation may have to be strictly limited if there are a lot of submissions. This will be
no more than one minute, and you may need to be muted if you exceed your allotted time.
If there are a large number of submissions on one matter, a representative may be requested to
speak on the group’s behalf.
If you do not attend the meeting at which your public forum submission is being taken your
statement will be noted by Members.

For further information about procedure rules please refer to our Constitution
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution
Webcasting/ Recording of meetings
Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in Public forum are advised that all virtual
public meetings including Full Council and Cabinet meetings are now broadcast live via the council's
webcasting pages. The whole of the meeting will be broadcast (except where there are confidential or
exempt items).
Other formats and languages and assistance for those with hearing impairment
You can get committee papers in other formats (e.g. large print, audio tape, braille etc) or in
community languages by contacting the Democratic Services Officer. Please give as much notice as
possible. We cannot guarantee re-formatting or translation of papers before the date of a particular
meeting.

Page 5

Development Control Committee Debate and Decision Process
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Stage 1:
Public Forum
Statements

OFFICER PRESENTATION

MEMBER QUESTIONS AND DEBATE
Stage 3:
Member Questions and
Clarifications of the
Proposal.
Officer Responses

Stage 2:
Officer Report &
Recommendation

Stage 4:
Member Debate

MAKING THE DECISION

Page 6

Stage 5:
CHAIR will either move a MOTION in accordance with the
Recommendation (to test if this is what Committee want to
do) or seek another Member of the Committee to do this.
If SECONDED1 go to stages 6 to 8.

Stage 6:
Any
AMENDMENT
Moved &
Seconded2

Stage 7:
VOTE on
successful
AMENDMENT
(if required)

Stage 8:
VOTE on
MOTION
(either original
Motion or as
amended)

IF CARRIED = DECISION
IF LOST = NO DECISION &
go back to Stage 5

If MOTION to APPROVE is not seconded or carried the CHAIR
will move a MOTION to DEFER a decision (allowing more time
for Members to propose grounds for refusal if needed) and
request that Officers bring back a report to the next meeting
of the Committee with detailed advice on these grounds,
supporting Members to make a final decision.
If the Chair’s MOTION is not seconded or not carried
the Chair will seek an alternative MOTION
from the Committee

1

A Motion must be Seconded in order to be formally
accepted. If a Motion is not Seconded, the debate
continues

2

An Amendment can occur on any formally approved Motion (ie. one that has been Seconded)
prior to Voting. An Amendment must itself be Seconded to be valid and cannot have the effect
of negating the original Motion. If Vote carried at Stage7, then this becomes the Motion which
is voted on at Stage 8

Agenda Item 4
Bristol City Council
Minutes of the Development Control B Committee
17 March 2021 at 2.00 pm

Members Present:Councillors: Tom Brook (Chair), Richard Eddy (Vice-Chair), Donald Alexander, Lesley Alexander,
Stephen Clarke, Mike Davies, Fi Hance, Chris Jackson, Olly Mead and Sultan Khan
Officers in Attendance:Gary Collins, Laurence Fallon and Claudette Campbell (Democratic Services Officer)

1. Welcome, Introduction and Safety Information
The chair welcomed all parties to the meeting.
2. Apologies for Absence
Councillor Don Alexander substituted for Councillor Nicola Bowden Jones
3. Declarations of Interest
There were none.
4. Minutes of the previous meeting
Resolved that the Minutes of the meeting held on the 25th February be confirmed as a correct record and
signed by the Chair.
5. Appeals
The Head of Development Management introduced the report bringing the following to Committee’s
attention:

Page 7

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

1. Items 11 & 12: The hearing date for the appeal has yet to be issued. Committee were reminded that
applicants had a right of appeal for non-determination to the Secretary of State where a decision has not
been made within the 8-week statutory timeframe.
2. Item 36: 7 Belvedere Road, scheduled as at agenda item 8(a); The application had been withdrawn from
the agenda; Planning Inspectors decision was released after the publication of the agenda; the decision
made was that the appeal against refusal was dismissed; the Inspector in the decision set a number of
factors on the matter of the Highway that are of material significance that now need to be considered by
officers and commented on in any future report on this application. Committee was asked to note that;
a. there was no award of costs
b. The Inspector agreed with the transport position put forward by the Committee

6. Enforcement
The Head of Development Management reported that no new notices had been served since the last
meeting.
7. Public forum
Members of the Committee received Public Forum Statements in advance of the meeting.
The Statements were heard before the application they related to and were taken fully into consideration
by the Committee prior to reaching a decision.
8. Planning and Development
The Committee considered the following Planning Application
9. 20/06030/F 7 Belvedere Road Bristol BS6 7JG
The application was postponed to a future meeting.
10.20/00433/F The Hawthorns Woodland Road Bristol BS8 1UQ
An addendum report together with the Amendment sheet was provided to the Committee in advance of
the meeting, and published in the committee papers.
The Head of Development Management introduced the report:
a. The application was considered by committee on the 25th February and at that time it was resolved to defer
the application to allow officers to prepare a further report setting out reasons for refusal.
b. The grounds given by committee for refusal were the issue of road safety; scale and massing and design;
and impact on heritage assets.

Page 8

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

c. Members were referred to the additional reports, marked as Addendum 10 and 10a(i); setting out key
issues for further consideration; in the reports officers worked through the case for refusal on each of the
grounds given in (b); considered which of the grounds would stand up to challenge if committee resolved
to refuse the application; and explained why a combined reasons for refusal relating to design and impact
on heritage assets was viewed as stronger than separating these reasons out and also that a reason for
refusal on transport impacts would not be a robust reason.
d. Acknowledged the difference in the membership of the committee but gave reassurances that members
had been provided with all reports and additional papers, together with the link to the previous broadcast
to ensure all were fully informed to enable sound decision-making. Officers were happy to answer any
questions about the proposals and could also show the previous presentation.

The Planning officer provided an overview of the plans and site layout, the following questions for
clarification was posed:
e. Officers were asked what was meant by ‘standing up in an appeal’.
f. The Head of Development Management commented that where committee resolved to make a decision
contrary to officers recommendation that could result in an appeal; that every effort was made to craft
reasons that would substantiate the decision made and support the case when it was brought before the
Planning Inspector. In particular, officers were keen to advise the Committee on reasons for refusal that
could be substantiated and would not attract an award of cost against the Council.
g. The improvement in the public realm sat well with the overall aspiration of the City to shift the common
mode of transport to cycling and public transport. The application would bring improvements to the
safety of road users in the area.
h. Officers were asked to set out what process of consultation was undertaken by the applicant and officers.
i. The Service Manager advised that.
i. The UoB had engaged a service provider to lead on the consultation process and had exceeded
expectation
ii. This had resulted in a citywide consultation process across digital platforms; a website set up on
the project; stakeholder events and an extensive media exercise.
iii. The team had engaged with Stakeholders as set out in page 77 of the report.
iv. Over 300 comments had been received and fed into the process.
v. That consultation included the various institutions/education settings in the area with opposing
views.
vi. That the duties to consult had been properly executed.

Discussion:
j. Cllr Eddy; accepted the case put that refusing on the transport grounds could not be substantiated and was
happy to support refusal on the damage to heritage assets; that the design was overbearing, ugly and
would dominate the area.
k. Cllr Mead; thanked the transport officers for setting out the position with the highways and road safety;
that he was aware that the University has had a long standing issue with the library space; the issue with
having a campus in the heart of a conservation area; that he would vote against as the design needed to be
better and in keeping with the area.
l. Cllr Clarke; expressed his disappointed that the application was not approved at the last committee; noted
the positive impact on the city on the proposed investment in the library to house art collections for the

Page 9

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

m.

n.

o.

p.

q.
r.
s.

benefit of Bristol citizens; the development had the potential to have a marmite effect; liked the design
and would support.
Cllr D Alexander; noted and accepted the explanation given by Officers clarification on the highway issues
arising from the development; the build was imposing but for the right reasons as this was a new
development that will be a landmark building; would support.
Cllr Hance; found the design concerning; accepted the benefits of the internal space and design of the
build; that the university needed a library space; but considered the overall external design was not one
she wanted to be associated with; would vote against.
Cllr Jackson; thanked the officers for all the reports and had viewed the committee debate on line; noted
that the traffic concerns had been alleviated; agreed that the building would divide opinion but he was in
favour of marmite; would support.
Cllr Khan; noted the officer explanation about the extent of the consultation; that the traffic issues had
been alleviated in the subsequent reports; the building would be a landmark for future generation;
accepted that facilities in the library would benefit students who need a place to study away from difficult
living spaces; that the construction would have a positive stimulus impact on the economy follow the
consequence of the pandemic; would support.
Cllr L Alexander; agreed that the university had a need for a new library building but looked to them to get
the design right and would vote against.
Cllr Davies proposed Cllr Khan seconded, moving that the original officer’s recommendation to grant with
conditions and subject to s106 agreement, presented on the 25th February be approved.
When put to the vote it was resolved:
a. Resolved (6 for; 4 against; 0 abstention)
b. That the original application presented to committee with officer’s recommendation on the 25th
February, with conditions and those set out with a S106 agreement in the Amendment Sheet be
granted.

11.Date of Next Meeting
Thursday 15th April @ 6pm

Meeting ended at 3.15 pm
CHAIR __________________

Page 10

Agenda Item 5

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE B
15th April 2021
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR: DEVELOPMENT OF PLACE
LIST OF CURRENT APPEALS
Householder appeal
Item

Ward

Address, description and appeal type

Text0:
1
St George
Troopers Hill

42 Nicholas Lane Bristol BS5 8TL
A single storey extension is proposed to the rear of the
property with a roof terrace accessed from the rear bedroom.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
2
Hillfields

6 Esson Road Bristol BS15 1NP
Proposed two storey rear extension.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
3
St George Central

278 Two Mile Hill Road Bristol BS15 1AT
Formation of dropped kerb.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Date lodged

12/10/2020

28/01/2021

29/01/2021

Informal hearing
Item

Ward

Text0:
4
Southville

06 April 2021

Address, description and appeal type
Former Pring And St Hill Ltd Malago Road Bristol BS3 4JH
Redevelopment of the site to provide 74 No. student cluster
units and 40 No. affordable housing units (social rented),
flexible ground floor community/commercial use (Use class
A1-A5/D1/B1). Landscaping , access and public realm works
and associated works to the Malago Road. (Major Application)
Appeal against refusal
Committee

Page 11

Date of hearing

15/12/2020

Page 1 of 11

Text0:
5
Southville

Text0:
6
Central

Text0:
7
Central

Former Pring And St Hill Ltd Malago Road Bristol BS3 4JH
Redevelopment to provide student accommodation across
four development blocks, landscaping, access, public realm
works and associated works to the Malago River.
Appeal against non-determination
Delegated decision
Public Realm Colston Avenue Bristol BS1 4RD
Temporary art installation for a period of 2 years
(retrospective) entitled, 'A Surge of Power (Jen Reid) 2020'
on the plinth of the former statue of slave trader Edward
Colston (grade ll listed).
Appeal against non-determination

Public Realm Colston Avenue Bristol BS1 4RD
Temporary art installation for a period of 2 years
(retrospective) entitled, 'A Surge of Power (Jen Reid) 2020'
on the plinth of the former statue of slave trader Edward
Colston (grade ll listed).
Appeal against non-determination

15/12/2020

TBA

TBA

Public inquiry
Item

Ward

Text0:
8
Lawrence Hill

Address, description and appeal type
Land And Buildings On The South Side Of Silverthorne Lane
Bristol BS2 0QD
Phased development of the following: site wide remediation,
including demolition; (Plot 1) outline planning permission with
all matters reserved aside from access for up to 23,543m2
GIA of floor space to include offices (B1a), research and
development (B1b), non-residential institution (D1) and up to
350m2 GIA floor space for cafe (A3); (Plots 2 and 3) erection
of buildings (full details) to provide 371 dwelling houses (C3),
offices (B1a), restaurants and cafes (A3); (Plot 4),
redevelopment of 'Erecting Sheds 1A and 1B' (full details) to
provide offices (B1a); (Plot 5) erection of buildings and
redevelopment of 'The Boiler Shop' (full details) to provide a
1,600 pupil secondary school (D1); (Plot 6) erection of
buildings (full details) to provide 693 student bed spaces (Sui
generis); infrastructure, including a new canal side walkway
and associated works.

Date of inquiry

11/05/2021

Committee

06 April 2021

Page 12

Page 2 of 11

Text0:
9
Lawrence Hill

Land And Buildings On The South Side Of Silverthorne Lane
Bristol BS2 0QD
Redevelopment of the site for: (Plot 1) Removal of the Shed
4 western gable wall; (Plot 2) Removal of Shed 4 (excluding
wall to canal), insertion of opening into boundary wall and
lowering/removal of material; (Plot 3) Removal of Shed 3,
removal of Sheds 2a-c; (Plot 4) Insertion of pedestrian
access opening into the northern boundary wall of shed 1b,
alterations to the South wall of Shed 1b/north wall of Shed 2b,
Restoration/rebuild of Shed 1a; (Plot 5) Reduction in height of
the walls attached to the North Gateway, removal of western
Hammer Forge Wall, reduction of Northern Hammer Forge
Wall, demolition and rebuild of Eastern Hammer Forge wall.
Works to the Boiler Shop, including new openings in the
Western gable end, replacement of asbestos cement roof,
removal of post-war cladding and glazing between piers,
internal works including new floor level; (Plots 2-5) Potential
stabilisation to the early 19th century Feeder Canal rubble
stone wall.

11/05/2021

Committee
Text0:
10
Bedminster

Police Dog & Horse Training Centre Clanage Road Bristol
BS3 2JY
Proposed change of use from training centre (Use Class D1)
to touring caravan site (Use Class D2), consisting of 62
pitches and associated buildings and works.

20/07/2021

Committee

Written representation
Item

Ward

Text0:
11
Frome Vale

Text0:
12
Clifton Down

Text0:
13
Henbury & Brentry

06 April 2021

Address, description and appeal type
67 Symington Road Bristol BS16 2LN
One bedroom single storey dwelling in the rear garden of the
existing property.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
41 Alma Vale Road Bristol BS8 2HL
Enforcement notice appeal for use of ground floor and
basement levels of building as domestic storage.
Appeal against an enforcement notice

The Lodge Carriage Drive Bristol BS10 6TE
Sycamore Tree T3 - Crown reduce canopy by a maximum of
30%. TPO 1148
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Page 13

Date lodged

19/05/2020

14/08/2020

07/09/2020

Page 3 of 11

Text0:
14
Avonmouth &
Lawrence Weston

Text0:
15
Eastville

Text0:
16
Clifton

Text0:
17
Eastville

Text0:
18
Southville

6 Springfield Lawns Station Road Shirehampton Bristol
BS11 9TY
6 x Lawson Cypress - Felling including stubbing out to the
rear of 6 Springfield Lawns. TPO 097.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
12 Lodge Causeway Bristol BS16 3HY
Change of use from existing family dwellinghouse (C3) to a
House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) with 8 bed-spaces (sui
generis), incorporating a single-storey rear extension and all
associated works.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
31 West Mall Bristol BS8 4BG
Application for a Certificate of Existing Use/Development use of upper floors as self contained maisonette.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
15 Bridge Street Eastville Bristol BS5 6LN
Enforcement notice appeal for the erection of a two storey
rear extension with door access onto the roof from first floor
level to rear without planning permission.
Appeal against an enforcement notice

215 North Street Bedminster Bristol BS3 1JH
Demolishing existing single storey building and replacement
with new two storey residential unit.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
19
Westbury-on-Trym
& Henleaze

7A North View Bristol BS6 7PT
Erection of rear roof extension to create 1 no. new flat (Class
C3) - resubmission of planning application ref: 19/05608/F.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
20
Hengrove &
Whitchurch Park

32 Widcombe Bristol BS14 0AS
Erection of new 2 bed dwelling attached to side of existing
house.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

06 April 2021

Page 14

28/09/2020

12/10/2020

02/11/2020

01/12/2020

15/12/2020

07/01/2021

18/01/2021

Page 4 of 11

Text0:
21
Westbury-on-Trym
& Henleaze

Orange Mast Lime Trees Road Bristol BS6 7XW
Application to determine if prior approval is required for a
proposed - Monopole and cabinets to be installed.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
22
Central

6 Pipe Lane City Centre Bristol BS1 5AJ
Proposed single storey rear extension, replacement rear
windows, addition of secondary glazing and internal
alterations.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
23
Central

Text0:
24
Eastville

Text0:
25
Stockwood

Text0:
26
Cotham

Text0:
27
Clifton Down

06 April 2021

6 Pipe Lane City Centre Bristol BS1 5AJ
Proposed single storey rear extension, replacement rear
windows, addition of secondary glazing and internal
alterations.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
4 Island Gardens Bristol BS16 1BU
Application for a Certificate of Proposed Development detached outbuilding.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
211 Whittock Road Bristol BS14 8DB
Proposed 2 bed, two storey single dwelling house, attached
to the side of the existing property.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
Ground Floor Flat 3 Victoria Walk Bristol BS6 5SR
New window to side elevation.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
Whiteladies Residential Home 22 Redland Park Bristol BS6
6SD
Proposed demolition of coach house and conversion of
Nursing Home into one 1 bedroom (2 bedspace) flat four 2
bedroom (3 bed space) flats, two 2 bedroom (4 bed space)
flats, one 3 bedroom (6 bed space) flat and the rebuilding of
the two storey coach house to form a new 2 bedroom (4 bed
space) cottage, with associated bin and cycle storage and
parking.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Page 15

18/01/2021

26/01/2021

26/01/2021

29/01/2021

01/02/2021

01/02/2021

03/02/2021

Page 5 of 11

Text0:
28
Redland

Text0:
29
Ashley

125 Redland Road Bristol BS6 6XX
Replace existing upvc top hung dormer windows at second
floor level and replace with enlarged dormer windows with
side hung timber windows.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
The Jamaica Inn 2 - 4 Grosvenor Road Bristol BS2 8XW
Outline planning application (including consideration of
Access, Appearance, Layout and Scale) for the demolition of
the existing building and the erection of 10 no. self-contained
flats (Use class C3) with associated cycle storage, private
amenity space and refuse storage.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
30
Bishopston &
Ashley Down

7 Selborne Road Bristol BS7 9PH
Enforcement notice appeal for development not in
accordance with the plans approved as part of planning
permission 19/00729/H.
Appeal against an enforcement notice

Text0:
31
Henbury & Brentry

The Hazels Sheepwood Road Bristol BS10 7BS
T3 conifer cypress - Fell.(TPO 398)
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
32
Horfield

TA Centre Dorian Road Bristol BS7 0XL
The installation of supporting steelwork accommodating 6no
antenna apertures and 2no transmission dishes, plus 4no
equipment cabinets and ancillary development thereto. As
part of this application, 2no existing telecommunications
flagpoles (measuring 5m and 7m, respectively), and two
existing equipment cabinets, will be removed.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
33
Hartcliffe &
Withywood

60 Gatcombe Road Bristol BS13 9RD
New attached dwelling to existing terrace.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
34
Avonmouth &
Lawrence Weston

The Glebe House 1 Mclaren Road Bristol BS11 9FE
Demolition of The Glebe House and the erection of five
townhouses and three self-contained flats (Use Class C3)
with associated car parking, cycle storage, refuse storage
and private amenity space.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

06 April 2021

Page 16

08/02/2021

08/02/2021

08/02/2021

10/02/2021

17/02/2021

23/02/2021

25/02/2021

Page 6 of 11

Text0:
35
Southville

Text0:
36
Knowle

6 Albany Buildings Bristol BS3 1BT
Works and a change of use to facilitate the conversion of an
existing building to two residential units.
Appeal against non-determination
Delegated decision
100 Newquay Road Bristol BS4 1DS
Change of use from vacant off-licence (A1) to a Hot Food
Takeaway (Sui Generis).
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
37
Westbury-on-Trym
& Henleaze

32 Parrys Lane Bristol BS9 1AB
Partial change of use from residential C3 to D1 for dentistry
purposes on the ground floor. Proposed part single
storey/part double storey extension and alterations the
existing house to maintain C3 dwelling unit above. Creation
of new access from Elmlea Avenue and alteration of existing
access from Parrys Lane. Creation of car park to front and
side of property.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
38
Southmead

Greystoke Avenue Repton Grange Bristol BS10 5NZ
Application to determine if prior approval is required for a
proposed telecommunications installation: 15m high Phase 8
monopole, C/W wraparound Cabinet at base and associated
ancillary works.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
39
Brislington West

Text0:
40
Clifton Down

Text0:
41
Eastville

06 April 2021

57 West Town Lane Brislington Bristol BS4 5DD
New single storey dwelling. (Self Build).
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
41 Alma Vale Road Clifton Bristol BS8 2HL
Change of use from D1 (pre-school care) to C3 flat. (Ground
floor and part basement).
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision
4 Island Gardens Bristol BS16 1BU
Application for Outline Planning Permission With Some
Matters Reserved for two dwelling houses. Approval sought
for Access, landscaping, Layout, Scale.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Page 17

25/02/2021

01/03/2021

10/03/2021

12/03/2021

15/03/2021

25/03/2021

30/03/2021

Page 7 of 11

Text0:
42
Bishopsworth

Telecommunication Cabinet Lake Shore Drive Bristol BS13
7BA
Proposed telecommunications installation: Proposed 20m
Phase 8 Monopole C/W wrapround Cabinet at base and
associated ancillary works.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

30/03/2021

List of appeal decisions
Item

Ward

Text0:
43
Stoke Bishop

Address, description and appeal type
Casa Mia Bramble Lane Bristol BS9 1RD
Demolition of existing dwelling (Casa Mia) and erection of
four detached residential dwellings with associated garages,
refuse storage, internal access road and landscaping
(resubmission of application 17/07096/F).
Appeal against non-determination
Delegated decision

Decision and
date decided
Appeal dismissed
25/03/2021

Costs not awarded

Text0:
44
Easton

77 - 83 Church Road Redfield Bristol BS5 9JR
Outline application for the erection of a four-storey building
comprising 2no. ground floor retail units and 9no. selfcontained flats at first, second and third floor levels, with
matters of scale, layout and access to be considered
(landscaping and design reserved).
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
25/03/2021

Text0:
45
Redland

36 Woodstock Road Bristol BS6 7EP
Erection of a structure on garage roof.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
16/03/2021

Text0:
46
Redland

36 Woodstock Road Bristol BS6 7EP
Enforcement notice appeal for installation of timber/glazed
structure at end of rear garden without planning permission.
Appeal against an enforcement notice

Appeal dismissed
16/03/2021

Text0:
47
Westbury-on-Trym
& Henleaze

47 Henleaze Avenue Bristol BS9 4EU
Retrospective application for removal of wall and formation of
vehicular access and hardstanding.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
24/03/2021

06 April 2021

Page 18

Page 8 of 11

Text0:
48
Westbury-on-Trym
& Henleaze

47 Henleaze Avenue Bristol BS9 4EU
Enforcement notice appeal for the removal of boundary wall
and formation of parking space.
Appeal against refusal

Text0:
49
Hengrove &
Whitchurch Park

84 Westleigh Park Bristol BS14 9TQ
First floor extension to form new 1 bed dwelling.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal allowed
31/03/2021

Text0:
50
Hartcliffe &
Withywood

181 Highridge Green Bristol BS13 8AA
New dwellinghouse within the existing curtilage.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
11/03/2021

Text0:
51
Hengrove &
Whitchurch Park

1 Maidenhead Road Bristol BS13 0PS
New dwelling to side of existing with removal of garages and
outbuildings.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
12/03/2021

Text0:
52
Southville

Unit A & B Baynton Road Bristol BS3 2EB
Erection of building three storey building containing 7no.
residential flats, and associated works.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
24/03/2021

Appeal allowed
31/03/2021
Split cost decision

Text0:
53
Frome Vale

Open Space Gill Avenue Bristol
Proposed telecommunications installation: Proposed 20m
Phase 8 Monopole C/W wrapround Cabinet at base and
associated ancillary works.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
31/03/2021

Text0:
54
Bishopsworth

1 Little Headley Close Bristol BS13 7PJ
Two storey side and single storey rear extensions.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
11/03/2021

Text0:
55
Redland

7 Belvedere Road Bristol BS6 7JG
Change of use from 3 x flats to a 17 x bed extension to the
nursing home at 8-9 Belvedere Road.
Appeal against refusal
Committee

Appeal dismissed
10/03/2021

06 April 2021

Page 19

Costs not awarded

Page 9 of 11

Text0:
56
Clifton Down

175 Whiteladies Road Bristol BS8 2RY
Proposed replacement the current valley roof with a new attic
roof, to form two bedrooms and to form a new bathroom over
the present rear extension.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
57
Bishopsworth

58 Dancey Mead Bristol BS13 8DF
To erect an attached house.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
58
St George
Troopers Hill

3 Northfield Road Bristol BS5 8PA
Two storey side extension, to provide additional living space.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
31/03/2021

Text0:
59
Southmead

26 Charlton Road Brentry Bristol BS10 6NG
Demolition of outbuilding and erection of two storey side
extension.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
31/03/2021

Text0:
60
Redland

8 Zetland Road Bristol BS6 7AE
Erection of single-storey rear extension and external
alterations to sui generis HMO.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
61
Clifton Down

23 Burlington Road Bristol BS6 6TJ
Replacement of 3no. aluminium windows to the front
elevation, at mansard roof level, with 3no.double glazed
single pane sliding aluminium windows. Replacement of rear
first and second storey aluminium windows with 6no. six pane
double glazed timber sash windows.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
31/03/2021

Text0:
62
Clifton Down

23 Burlington Road Bristol BS6 6TJ
Replacement of 3no. aluminium windows to the front
elevation, at mansard roof level, with 3no.double glazed
single pane sliding aluminium windows. Replacement of rear
first and second storey aluminium windows with 6no. six pane
double glazed timber sash windows.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Appeal dismissed
31/03/2021

06 April 2021

Page 20

Appeal dismissed
30/03/2021

Appeal allowed
25/03/2021

Split decision
22/03/2021

Page 10 of 11

Text0:
63
Hartcliffe &
Withywood

3 Four Acres Bristol BS13 8NQ
Demolition of existing garage and erection of single storey
side extension. Extend roof canopy over front door/window
on front elevation.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

Text0:
64
Clifton Down

5 Woodbury Lane Bristol BS8 2SE
Replacement and enlargement of existing masonry
shed/store to front elevation to form new kitchen.
Appeal against refusal
Delegated decision

06 April 2021

Page 21

Appeal allowed
10/03/2021

Appeal dismissed
15/03/2021

Page 11 of 11

Agenda Item 6

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE B
15 APRIL 2021
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR: DEVELOPMENT OF PLACE
LIST OF ENFORCEMENT NOTICES SERVED

Item Ward
1

Avonmouth & Lawrence
Weston

Address, description and enforcement type
130 Nibley Road Bristol BS11 9XN

Date issued
24/03/2021

Use of building to rear for operation of motorbike
repair business.
Enforcement notice

2

Frome Vale

Strathmore Pound Lane Bristol BS16 2EP

31/03/2021

High hedge at 4 metres in height and evergreen in
rear garden.
Remedial notice - high hedge
3

Lawrence Hill

1 Milsom Street Bristol BS5 0SS
Erection of extension without planning permission.
Enforcement notice

06 April 2021

Page 22

17/03/2021

Agenda Item 7

Development Control B Committee
PURPOSE: For noting
DATE: 15 April 2021

TITLE

Practice Notes information

Ward(s)

All

Purpose of Report: To advise the Committee about recent planning practice notes.
Details:
1. The Council publishes a number of practice notes to provide technical guidance to help applicants for
planning permission make sure their development meets the requirements of the Local Plan. The current
practice notes available on the Council’s web site are:
•Space Standards Practice Note March 2021
•Government's Housing Standards Review: Operation of Bristol Local Plan policies
•Climate change and sustainability practice note
•Broadband Connectivity practice note
•Affordable Housing practice note
•Flood risk sequential test practice note
•Assessing the health impacts of development practice note
•Waste and recycling: collection and storage facilities
•A guide to cycle parking provision guidance
•Marketing guidelines for a change of use planning application
•Travel plan guide for new developments
•Bristol City Council Transport Department Schedule of Fees 2020 to 2021
2. The Committee’s attention is drawn to the most recently published practice note on space standards. The
note gives advice on how local plan space standards are applied to different types of residential
accommodation.
3. Attention is also drawn to the climate change and sustainability practice note . This note was updated last
year and offers advice to applicants on the implementation of Bristol Local Plan policies as they relate to
sustainability, climate change and resilience. The note was updated to cover PassivHaus; an explanation of
why the council generally resists non-renewable electric heating, and; gives new guidance on how to connect
to heat networks and what to do when a heat network may be available in the future.
Recommendation: To note the practice guidance

Page 23

1

Agenda Item 9
Development Control Committee B
15 April 2021
Report of the Director: Development of Place
Index
Planning Applications
Item

Ward

Officer
Recommendation

Application No/Address/Description

1

Hotwells &
Harbourside

Refuse

20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA - We The Curious
One Millenium Square Anchor Road Bristol BS1
5DB
Construction of moving observation cabin in
Millennium Square and associated works to the
Engine Shed.

2

Avonmouth &
Lawrence
Weston

Refuse

19/03660/F - Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11
0RB
Construction of 36 new dwellings, a mixture of
one, two and three bedroom houses and flats of
two and three storeys with associated
landscaping and parking.

index
v5.0514

Page 24
E:\Bristol\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00023947\$4zwu3s5y.docx

07/04/2021 12:14

Agenda Item 9a
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021

ITEM NO. 1

WARD:

Hotwells & Harbourside

SITE ADDRESS:

We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor Road Bristol BS1 5DB

APPLICATION NO:

20/04474/F
20/04475/LA

Full Planning
Listed Building Consent (Alter/Extend)

DETERMINATION
16 April 2021
DEADLINE:
Construction of moving observation cabin in Millennium Square and associated works to the
Engine Shed.

RECOMMENDATION:

AGENT:

Refuse

CSJ Planning Consultants Ltd
1 Host Street
Bristol
BS1 5BU

APPLICANT:

We The Curious and Arc Global Ltd
C/O Agent

The following plan is for illustrative purposes only, and cannot be guaranteed to be up to date.
LOCATION PLAN:

06/04/21 13:45

Page 25

Committee report

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

SUMMARY
These planning and listed building applications seek the development of a large moving observational
structure to be known as the Arc, which would provide aerial views across the city and would measure
approximately 78 metres at full height. The Arc would operate from the listed We The Curious Building
(former Canon’s Marsh Goods Shed) which would be altered and extended at second floor roof level.
The proposal would operate as a tourist destination, and would in addition to We The Curious, be
close to other attractions such as the Aquarium, M Shed, and Arnolfini. It would enhance the role of
the harbourside as an informal leisure destination and as such is supported in principle by Local Plan
Policies.
The site is located within the City Docks Conservation Area and either adjoins or is close to many
heritage assets. These include the Canon’s Marsh Goods Shed (Grade II listed), the Former
Leadworks and attached chimney and wall (Grade II listed); to the north, the Cathedral (Grade I listed)
and former Abbey Buildings that are now the Cathedral School (all Grade II* listed). The Arc would
also be seen from the City and Queen Square, and College Green Conservation Areas.
It would be a unique, moving structure of elegant construction and would contrast with its
surroundings. There are differing views on the visual impact the Arc would have on the townscape.
There is a significant level of support for the development from many local businesses and commerce
related organisations.
As a large, moving structure the Arc would be noticeable and would result in a degree of ‘less than
substantial’ harm to the heritage assets listed above. This ‘harm’ will need to be given significant
weight by Members when considering whether or not the proposal merits approval. There are
outstanding objections from Historic England and the Victorian Society to the proposals.
The proposal does provide public benefits. It would provide opportunities for educational and cultural
benefit, although there is uncertainty over how this would work in practice and how extensive its reach
would be to ensure the opportunity is open to the wider public.
The proposal would clearly be a significant addition to the range of tourist attractions in the city centre
of Bristol and Harbourside. This would deliver economic public benefit through attracting visitors,
encouraging a higher number of overnight stays and consequent higher levels of related expenditure
in the local economy. The Arc would also directly support ‘We The Curious’.
The applicant purports that the proposal would provide heritage public benefits, but these have been
given very little weight for the reasons set out in the responses received from Historic England on this
issue (see below).
While the public benefits are significant, the issue is whether they are in themselves enough to
mitigate the harm to heritage assets. In view of the great weight that should be given to the
conservation of important heritage assets as set out in the NPPF it is considered that the benefits do
not outweigh the scale of the harm involved and accordingly, the application is recommended for
refusal.

Page 26

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

SITE DESCRIPTION
The application site includes parts of the following locations:
Millennium Square
•
•
•

The Engine Shed (Canon’s Marsh Goods Shed) – home to We The Curious
Anchor Square and adjacent land; and
Bristol Aquarium and associated land

The building works will take place in Millennium Square and on the Engine Shed. The other land is
included in the application site to account for the flight path of the Arc.
The Engine Shed is a rectangular building constructed in 1906 for the Great Western Railway
Company. It is listed Grade II and was formerly used as a transit shed. It was remodelled in 1998 and
a modern roof extension (2nd floor) was added. A glazed extension to the northern elevation was also
added (the ‘north gallery’) which provides a contemporary façade to Anchor Road. The building hosts
various interactive exhibitions, displays and live shows, and includes a planetarium.
Millennium Square dates from 1998 and is located to the south of We The Curious (WTC). It
comprises a paved area, occasionally used for community events. It is an important and well-used
public space located along the ‘Brunel Mile’, an identified route linking the northern harbour to Bristol
Temple Meads.
WTC manage Millennium Square together with the attractions within and around it. These include the
water features and the large paved area. The Square is surrounded by:
•
•
•
•

The Engine Shed to the north with a height of 15.4m with its spherical mirror panelled
planetarium;
Hotel Ibis and the Casino to the west;
Commercial tenants such as Las Iguanas and Tikka Flame to the east and partly to the south;
The underground car park covered entrance and coach turning area to the south.

The application site is predominantly within Flood Zone 2, although a small element on Millennium
Square is within Flood Zone 1. The base of the Arc is located entirely within Flood Zone 2.
The site lies within the City Docks Conservation Area.
In addition to the Engine Shed, other listed buildings within the vicinity of the site include the Grade I
listed Bristol Cathedral Church of St Augustine and Bristol Central Library to the north, together with
the Grade I listed Great Gatehouse and Grade II* Abbey House Cathedral School and Grade II* The
Old Deanery. The Grade II Former Leadworks building lies to the north east of the site across Anchor
Square. There are also two Grade II listed gas lamp posts hear the site.

Page 27

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

The We The Curious building and The Wildscreen Trust Limited building are identified as Landmark
Buildings in the City Docks Conservation Area Appraisal and have an important interface with the
public realm areas in Millennium Square and Anchor Square.
The site is not allocated for any land use within the Local Plan. However, it is located close to a
Waterfront Site allocation for office/culture and tourism allocated under Policy BCAP SA1 reference
SA102.
RELEVANT HISTORY
97/00160/F: Redevelopment of GWR Train Shed to form Science World / New Exploratory. Planning
consent granted.
97/00161/F: New public open spaces, 2 storey underground car park and associated infrastructure.
Planning consent granted.
05/05019/LA and 05/05020/F: Single storey enclosures to part of existing terraces on second floor, to
north and south elevations, to create meeting spaces and storage areas for conference facilities.
Planning and listed building consents granted.
19/04875/PREAPP: A pre application was submitted in October 1989 seeking guidance on the
development of the Arc in Millennium Square.
The advice given was that the principle of the Arc as a moving observational structure in this part of
the Harbourside is accepted and that the proposal would be a positive addition to the range of
attractions in the City Centre and Harbourside. However, it was noted that the proposed site location
is within a historically sensitive location and has the potential to cause a pinch point to pedestrian
flows in this part of Millennium Square.
Whilst a level of detail was been submitted with the pre-application proposals, it was considered that
further assessment work and engineering information was required to fully assess the impact of the
development on heritage assets and the public realm, in order to reach a properly considered view.
The Bristol Urban Design Forum also considered the emerging proposals for the Arc, and commented
that the structure and lightness of the Arc would contrast to the historic buildings and meant that it
could be seen as contributing to rather than detracting from the city landscape. The BUDF also felt the
design of the roof extension was well considered and sympathetic to the historic building and to the
late 20th Century additions to it.
A pre application had also been submitted in 2018 (ref: 18/06414/PREAPP) for the Arc to be located
in Museum Square on Princes Wharf adjacent to the M Shed. The advice given was that this was an
inappropriate location due to its harmful impact on heritage assets; and because the Arc would
significantly compromise one of the most successful areas of public realm in the city. It was also felt
that the Arc would cause a harmful conflict with other attractions in this already popular tourist
destination.
APPLICATION
Planning and listed building consent is sought for a moving observational structure to be known as
‘The Arc’, supported by two asymmetric masts linked to a base located within Millennium Square. The

Page 28

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

Arc would provide aerial viewing across the city and when fully upright would measure 78.7 metres
from ground level to its tip, with the cabin floor level at 67.3 metres.
The application also proposes works to the Engine Shed to facilitate control, docking and access for
passengers. The Arc would dock horizontally, and when doing so would sit slightly higher than the
roof of the Engine Shed.
The lifting structure is composed of two slim carbon fibre ‘masts’ that hold the passenger cabin. This
composition rests on a pillar – ‘the anvil’ – and is counterweighted. At the top of the anvil is an
engineered hinge and midway on the counterweight is the ‘quillon’, a crescent-shaped drive that
allows the Arc to tilt up and over, while the anvil turns itself, the masts and cabin, on a large slew
bearing above the keel which is fixed to the ground.
The Arc would be mirror finished to reflect the sky and environment, similar to the adjacent
planetarium. The cabin would have 14 identical glass panels with an elliptical section, arranged in a
circular plan.
The keel of the Arc is a 3.2 metre diameter cylinder (8 square metres in area) positioned in the northwestern corner of Millennium Square.
Operation of the Arc
The Arc will have a capacity of 42 passengers, plus the pilot and co-pilot. Passengers would spend 20
minutes on board, from boarding to disembarking. Tickets would be booked online in advance, with
some ‘walk-on’ tickets available for purchase within WTC. All users would have level, lift access.
The flight would be smooth, gentle in acceleration and at all times the cabin would remain horizontal.
It would be crewed by a pilot who would act as a guide to the sights below. The pilot would explain the
history and the stories of Bristol as the flight takes place.
The cabin would either be air-conditioned or naturally ventilated. The exterior of the cabin would not
be lit, except for aircraft warning lights. Celebratory lighting and fireworks would be used on special
occasions.
The Arc would operate for about two-thirds of daylight hours throughout the year up to a maximum of
18 hours a day (subject to high winds and maintenance shutdown). During operational hours, the Arc
would be in the air about 60% of the time, and at its highest position for about half of that time. When
not in use, the Arc would be docked in the vertical position between the hours of midnight to 6am
(except in high winds).
The Arc has been designed to give people a view of the city from just above, so that they can
appreciate how the city has evolved through its topography, street patterns and buildings.
Proposed works to the Engine Shed
On the ground floor the existing toilet pod would be reconfigured. The WCs would be refurbished, a
new staircase added, and a new lunch / event space provided beneath a new mezzanine.
A new lift core would be constructed adjacent to some existing stairs and a second stair and lift is
proposed for operational flexibility during busy times and for increasing the fire exit capacity for We
The Curious.

Page 29

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

At first floor, as above, the existing toilet pod would be replaced and a new lunch / event space
created. This would again be accessible via the new stairs and lift as well as an existing staircase.
At second floor level a docking area for the Arc’s cabin would be constructed fronting Anchor Road.
This would comprise an outdoor timber deck embarking /disembarking area leading to two access
promontories providing level access into the cabin.
The existing second floor would be extended over the eastern portion of the roof to provide new
facilities for the Arc, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Lounge and seating area
Arc theatre
Terraces with timber decking
WCs and baby changing
Check-in
Kitchen and servery
Store and workshop

Works to Millennium Square would involve installing the Arc’s base which would be centrally aligned
with the planetarium to the west to maintain symmetry. The keel would include a water fountain
cascade to complement the existing water wall fountain.
Six Sheffield cycle stands are proposed in Anchor Square.
PRE APPLICATION COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT
The applicant engaged with the community and interested stakeholders by taking the following steps:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Briefings with ward members and cabinet
A programme of stakeholder meetings, including the Bristol Harbourside Forum
A public exhibition
A project website
A stakeholder launch event, and
Media coverage, including local television and radio

The applicant states that feedback from all quarters was very positive. 24 of the 25 written responses
from the public exhibition were supportive of the Arc. An online poll by Bristol Post revealed that 75%
of respondents were supportive of the Arc.
The proposals were presented to the Bristol Urban Design Forum. In summary, the Panel welcomed
the proposal to create a new visitor attraction in the city and felt that the design represented an
appropriate high standard for the location.

Page 30

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION
PUBLIC RESPONSE
Site notices were erected and an advert placed in the local press. In addition more than 75 local
addresses were notified of the proposals. Following receipt of additional information a second round
of consultation took place in February this year.
In response, on the first consultation 35 comments were received, with many from local businesses.
Leaving aside the comments which are detailed in full below, of the responses received 32 were in
support of the proposals and 3 raised objections.
The second consultation in February resulted in 16 comments, with 15 in support of the proposals and
1 raising objections.
Two comments have been received from Councillor Wright in support of the proposals as set out
below.
First Consultation
Councillor Wright:
As the local ward councillor for this area for over 15 years I give my full and enthusiastic support to
these plans.
Arc have been open and forward in engaging with stakeholders over the last two years as these plans
have taken shape. Their proposal will boost Millennium Square and give Bristol a wonderful and
unique vantage-point for people to enjoy the beauty of our harbour-side, city centre, and the
cathedral. The elegant nature of the engineering solution is very "Bristol", and I'm sure Brunel himself
would be pleased that such an imaginative machine will give a great view of his SSGB just over the
water.
These plans have already been held up much longer than anticipated, and it's important that they are
now allowed to proceed ASAP so that Bristol can start to shape it's post-Covid offer to restart the local
tourist economy, and thereby lift the city out of recession.
Bristol Civic Society
The proposal is to construct "The Arc" visitor attraction, a moving observational structure to provide
aerial viewing across the city.
The Society thanks The Arc development team for the presentation of the planning application version
of the proposal. The Society supports development that brings social and/or economic development to
the City. The proposal produces another engineering focus of attention in the Harbour area. Images of
the Arc in Bristol's visitor publicity would produce a striking impression.
The Society notes the level of support for the proposal that includes the Dean of Bristol Cathedral.
Subject to any concerns that Council Officers may have about the impact of the proposal on any of
the surrounding heritage assets the Society considers that the advantages of development would
outweigh any harm to the surrounding conservation area.

Page 31

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

The Society supports the proposal.
Bristol Civic Society: Additional Comments
Further to our earlier representation the Civic Society has now had the opportunity to consider the
submissions inter alia, from the Bristol Walking Alliance (BWA), Historic England and the City Design
Group. [These three submissions are set out below].
The Society continues to support the concept of the Arc. As an addition to the City’s tourist attractions
it could make a valuable contribution to the City’s economy including the hospitality sector. However,
some of our members have significant concerns about this particular proposal and for the reasons set
out below consider the proposed location in Millennium Square to be inappropriate.
The Arc as a piece of innovative engineering clearly has potential to be the focus of attention in the
harbour area. Given this, it is important the City Council is convinced that the proposed location is
acceptable. This should be considered both in terms of the immediate impact on Millennium Square
and on the wider townscape, in particular Bristol’s historic buildings.
We have noted the BWA’s concerns about the impacts on the Arc’s immediate vicinity arising from the
positioning, size and potential noise of the ride. The concerns about the base sitting in a key, narrow,
part of the entrance to Millennium Square are shared by some of our members. Similarly, there are
worries that the counterbalance and movement overhead could dominate the Square. There is a risk
these, together with noise from the machinery used in operating the Arc, could distract from the many
events held in the Square and also diminish its use for casual leisure.
It is important these concerns are addressed on an evidential basis and not dismissed out of hand.
For example, is there experience elsewhere that can be drawn on of a kinetic structure of the Arc’s
size, with similar noise characteristics, successfully co-habiting a public space with the type of leisure
and cultural activities the Square hosts?
We have considerable sympathy with the views of Historic England, the City Design Group and others
about the importance of taking care to not adversely affect the City’s historic townscape. Whilst we
have members who consider the proposal has the potential to be an exciting addition to Bristol’s
skyline, other members are concerned about the impact on views - of the Cathedral in particular.
There are many vantage points in the City from where the Cathedral can be appreciated and it is
important that the proposal’s impact is fully understood. We therefore have our doubts about the
adequacy of the TVIA. In part this is because of the relatively limited number of vantage points
assessed but also the form of the assessment. This will be a moving, not static structure and we
agree with Historic England that the TVIA should be augmented with kinetic visual representations.
We are particularly concerned to note that it is being suggested that when not operating the Arc would
be rested in the vertical. If this is correct, the Arc would be highly visible for long periods of time with a
commensurately more significant impact. This is not something we could support.
The Conservation Advisory Panel
The Panel objects to this application.

Page 32

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

The proposed structure would be in an historic and sensitive location and would affect the setting of
numerous grade I and II* listed buildings, the host building of 1906 is itself listed grade II. The
proposed location was questioned as it is at a low level compared to large areas of the city. A full
assessment of all alternative locations must be provided. There are concerns regarding the wider
impact on surrounding heritage assets. Further information needs to be provided to demonstrate the
wider visual impacts of the movement of the Arc from various viewpoints from around the city.
The previous alterations to the Canons Marsh Goods Shed and the additional second floor at roof
level were approved because the second floor was to be set well back from the edges of the roof in
order to be subservient to the listed building. The proposed extension at roof level would destroy this
balance. The proposed extension is shown to contain, in addition to a waiting area, a café with kitchen
and bar, theatre, exhibition space, retail area, substantial toilets and an external terrace with a new
staircase and lift. This is far more than is required for users of the new facility.
The base of the structure would be of a significant size and would have an adverse impact on the
views of the south side of the host building and the square. The enclosure of the proposed additional
lift would introduce a solid element into the glazed area on the north side. The approved design of the
conversion ensured that the north elevation of the original building remained visible. This would be
compromised.
The increase in the extent of the roof storey would erode the significance of the heritage value of the
building, as it would further diminish the original appearance of the building and remove the ability to
understand its original scale and form. The NPPF states that where a development proposal will lead
to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. The roof extension would cause harm to the
significance of the listed Goods Shed and must be reconsidered.
Bristol Cathedral
We have carefully examined the submission and held discussions with the applicant.
The application documents together with our discussions confirm that working together with the
Cathedral and other key city centre attractions is central to the applicant's proposal. We are also
encouraged by the applicant's intention to co-create stories with local communities which will form the
focus of various flights. This connection with communities, particularly those which are struggling,
aligns with our mission to proclaim hope for all.
We especially welcome Arc's proposal in the midst of the coronavirus pandemic when the Cathedral,
like so many charities, institutions and businesses, is facing a reduction in visitors and income. A flight
in Arc will show a fabulous new view of the Cathedral to visitors and the people of Bristol, which,
working with the applicant, will become a vital addition to our promotion of the Cathedral, its history
and its mission.
The significance of the Cathedral has successfully navigated 860 years of change and we need to
look to the future, embracing whatever the 21st Century will bring - welcoming beneficial changes like
Arc as well as building resilience against damaging changes like the virus.
We strongly encourage the council to approve this application.

Page 33

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

Business West
Bristol Chamber of Commerce & Initiative at Business West is the main business representative and
leadership organisation for the West of England with over 22,000 members from the smallest to the
largest businesses and employers. As an independent business support, representation and
leadership organisation we write to strongly support this application based on the long term economic
interests of the region and the whole spectrum of businesses and employers who operate here. We
jointly own and run Destination Bristol, the destination management and tourism organisation for the
city and wider region, and so directly understand and recognise the importance of our visitor economy
to the city and region.
We welcome the concept of this innovative and world-first new attraction, Arc Bristol, into the centre of
Bristol which we understand could attract an additional 250K visitors pa, additional spend of £13.3m
pa and create 175 new jobs via a 20 minute 'flight' over Bristol's Harbourside. At a time of significant
economic challenge we further note that this proposal provides additional ongoing beneficial facilities
for We the Curious which we were partners in helping create and have long supported as a very
important science centre, education facility, visitor attraction and venue within the city.
The tower is a significant visual intervention into Millennium Square but having consulted our
members involved in the design of the square, we are able to support it. Its location, close to the often
fairly busy point of access and egress to the square will not, we consider, inhibit the movement of
people.
We note that the proposal is stated to have been fully engineered and we assume that the applicant
can guarantee that key dimensions such as the diameter of the tower will not need to be increased as
a result of any further design work.
Our support is on the basis of the detailed information provided with this application and it will be
important that the design is not compromised in the later stages of development for construction,
particularly, for example, in the use of high-quality, long lasting materials.
Destination Bristol
Destination Bristol has been consulted and informed by the applicant throughout their research, site
selection and evidence gathering phases, we feel we are fully appraised of the application and its
merits.
Arc Bristol fits naturally with our mission to encourage more people to enjoy, visit and stay in Bristol.
Our main aim is to increase the value of the visitor economy in Bristol and the region.
Every destination in the world competes fiercely for visitor spend and we are constantly seeking new
and worthwhile initiatives to support, extend and develop the value of tourism here in Bristol. Our
2019 figures show the visitor economy to be worth almost £1.5b and growing, with over 29,000 people
working in our sector.
When presented with Arc Bristol and also through extensive conversations with the applicant over
three years, we admired the truly exceptional calibre of their proposal. Seldom has the city had such
an outstanding and innovative concept. Not only for the city, but also originating in Bristol - and
leading the world. Undoubtedly, Arc Bristol will be another great reason to visit Bristol (we must add
and evolve continually to remain as market leaders).

Page 34

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

In addition Bristol Arc is extremely elegant in design; observation attractions (e.g. London Eye) have
proved very popular with visitors worldwide. There is an additional bonus opportunity of local storytelling to explain the city and act as a signpost to everything Bristol has to offer, especially Bristol's
first-rate tourism offer which we must do everything in our power to promote.
Coronavirus has sharply reminded us all of just how precious it is for people to meet together, relax,
celebrate and have fun - and just how easily we take these simple things for granted. The isolation
which accompanies lockdown has caused harsh damage to well-being and mental health.
Lockdown has devastated the leisure and tourism sectors. Along with the council and everyone in the
city, Destination Bristol are determined to encourage a return to normality. Arc Bristol will be a major
asset in that recovery. The current pandemic has seen our figures plummet, 2019 was our best year
ever, with 2020 being our biggest challenge ever!
However, Arc Bristol will not just be for the immediate aftermath of the pandemic. We are confident
that this scheme will bring long-lasting tourism gains to the city with all the linked employment,
financial benefits, and the unique visitor experience and enjoyment.
For a multitude of different reasons we reiterate our support for this proposal.
Bristol City Centre BID (Business Improvement District)
This project will bring significant benefits to the city centre, these are both economic and cultural.
Once again Bristol will be seen as a forward thinking city in the areas of technology and tourism.
The installation of such an iconic advanced project in a key city centre location affording spectacular
views of the city centre will provide both local communities and visitors with unparalleled views of their
city and in particular of the harbour and surrounding areas.
Since becoming aware of this project a couple of years ago I have been supporter of its potential to be
a new and exciting contributor to our current harbourside vista.
The installation of the Arc will draw national and international visitors to our city who in turn will bring
significant economic benefit to the city centre's hospitality industry. This is particularly pertinent at this
time and signifies a commitment to the future that is crucial at the current time.
Approval of this application during a second period of lockdown that is significantly affecting our
tourism and hospitality venues will send a positive of support and commitment to the future.
The Arc project will provide a support the City Centre BID's levy payer aims of making the city centre
a welcoming and attractive place to visit.
Bristol Hoteliers’ Association
As the Bristol Hotelier Association Chairman and on behalf of the 40 hotels I represent, I wish to
express my support for the proposed Arc at We The Curious.
We can see that Arc at We The Curious will bring added value and more footfall to the exciting
Harbourside area and benefit tourism by bringing in over quarter million more visitors to the city centre
a year

Page 35

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

By increasing the range of visitor attractions with a unique offer of Arc at We The Curious, this will
hopefully result in increasing the amount of overnight stays in the city
The hospitality sector, particularly in Bristol, has come under enormous pressure due to Covid which
many restaurants and smaller businesses have not been able to weather, but on the other side of this,
having an attraction of this quality and stature to attract people to Bristol can only be a huge benefit to
our industry.
The post-Covid economy in the city will benefit from the boost to the local tourism economy that Arc
will contribute to and will support the hotels around the city as they will come out of this crisis.
Having a new unique attraction in the city will certainly add value to the city and will allow our DMO to
push visitors to Bristol even more. The main aim and wish for all hoteliers is to increase the value of
the visitor economy in Bristol and the region and we are confident that the Arc will do that. Over the
next 18 months we are expecting an additional 1000 hotel bedrooms to be available in the city and the
outskirts which is a huge increase in the current climate, and 2022 is looking similar to even more and
therefore we need the city to add more valuable visitors attractions and compete with other larger
cities in the UK and in Europe. The delivery of Tourism attractions to bring people to our city is
paramount to ensuring our businesses remain sustainable and viable in the long term.
We recommend that the Council approve Arc at WTC as soon as possible
Bristol Walking Alliance
Bristol Walking Alliance (BWA) objects to the proposal to construct a visitor ride in Millennium Square
due to its impact on pedestrians passing through and on people, particularly children, enjoying the
amenities of the square.
The proposal in 20/04474/F to construct a visitor ride alongside and above We The Curious will have
an overbearing and discriminatory effect on people enjoying the public realm in the area of Millennium
and Anchor Squares. It will also have a harmful impact on the Primary Pedestrian Route, part of the
Brunel Mile, which will be narrowed by the proposed siting of the base. Though we appreciate the
ambition and novelty of the proposal, we feel that it is proposed for the wrong place.
Our objection relates to the position, size and potential noise of the ride. Its base, counterbalance and
movement overhead will dominate an area used by many people for relaxation, including children who
especially enjoy the water features in Millennium Square. Its presence will also be an interruption to
and distraction from the many events that are successfully held in the Square.
The base of the ride will sit in a key part of the entrance to Millennium Square, occupying 8 square
metres and intruding into one of the main water features used as a paddling pool by children in
warmer months of the year. It will visually interfere with both the featured artworks and the sightlines
along the shared pedestrian and cycle route that passes through that corner of the Square.
The width of the shared pedestrian/cycle route between the Reflection Pool and the quadrant water
fountain will be reduced by approximately 1.6m by the base of the ride and a further 0.3m drainage
gulley. Given the potential presence of families sitting and standing along the edge of the paddling
pool, ignored in the proposal, this reduces the usable width to 4m or less - which is unacceptable for a
shared route used by pedestrians and cyclists. In addition, the base of the ride will obscure movement
around the corner of the pool, increasing the chance of interference between cyclists and pedestrians,

Page 36

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

and so harming this Primary Pedestrian Route, contrary to policy BCAP30 of the Bristol Central Area
Plan. The application seems to have ignored the fact that this is a shared use route, only considering
pedestrian flows.
Presumably during construction and during the two-week maintenance period each year there will be
a much larger area cordoned off at the base of the ride to ensure public safety. This will cause more
harm to pedestrian and cycle routes passing through this corner of Millennium Square.
The application does not include any visualisations showing the overhead appearance of the ride
taken from the viewpoint of people standing or sitting in Millennium Square near the water sculpture
and pool.
The counterbalance of the ride will move up and down and rotate overhead in this part of the Square.
The passenger pod of the ride will have a radius of movement overhead that will cover more than half
of both Millennium Square and Anchor Square. Together, the counterbalance and the pod will form an
intimidating presence above the walking and sitting spaces. This will be harmful to the amenity of the
Square as a public space in what is designated a Conservation Area.
Further Public Comments:
The main points of support raised were as follows:
•

•
•
•
•

Tourism: The Arc will add to the range of tourist attractions available in Bristol which will
increase ‘dwell time’ leading to more overnight stays in the city. It would be enjoyed by both
residents and visitors.
Economy/Employment: The Arc will help the local economy and create employment
Design: The design is elegant and would be a welcome addition to the skyline.
Image: The Arc would demonstrate that Bristol is an innovative, forward thinking city, which
embraces modern engineering, building on its past association with Isambard Brunel.
Education: The Arc would be inspiring, engender curiosity in science and be of educational
benefit.

The main points of objection were as follows:
•

•
•
•
•

The Arc would have a harmful impact on Millennium Square due to: its visual dominance,
presenting as a physical obstruction when entering from Anchor Square; its noise, dominance
and movement would inhibit existing use of the pools / water features; its mass and kinetic
nature would overshadow and interrupt people’s experience and enjoyment of Millennium
Square [See Key Issue B].
It would have a harmful impact on Bristol’s historic and celebrated skyline and would present a
poor image of the City by allowing its development.[See Key Issue C].
The new rooftop structure would be bulky and harmful to the original listed building [See Key
Issue C].
The Arc would have limited capacity and be a ‘pay to ride’ attraction. It would be enjoyed by a
minority to the detriment of the wider public [See Key Issue C].
The Arc would not offer views that differ significantly from those already available elsewhere.

Page 37

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB
•

Similar structures in Portsmouth and Brighton have failed to attract the anticipated visitor
numbers so the economic benefits are unlikely to outweigh the disbenefits [See Key Issue C].

Second Consultation
On re-consultation, following the receipt of additional information including a video of the Arc in
operation, a further 16 public comments were received, together with a second comment from
Councillor Wright detailed below.
Councillor Wright
I wholeheartedly support the plans to create this exceptional attraction on Millennium Square: the Arc.
I believe it will be an exciting addition to Bristol's skyline, managing the rare feat of being
simultaneously: striking but also unobtrusive. This unique attraction is "very Bristol". It is a new and
cutting-edge engineering solution that Brunel himself would be delighted to see - a worthy addition to
the city of his Suspension Bridge.
As Bristol starts to exit the economic and social trauma of Covid, we will need both economic stimulus
and cultural inspiration to drag ourselves out of what will inevitably be a deep and painful recession.
The Arc provides both, and will help Bristol on the road to recovery. I note the very enthusiastic
support of the key nearby tourist businesses, who see the big pull that this will have for visitors to the
city.
Clearly the setting of the grade I listed Cathedral will be at the front of many peoples' minds. I
understand the concerns some have in this regard. I personally feel that the Eye is sufficiently far
away from the Cathedral that it will have minimal impact visually over the Cathedral. I also feel that
the impact that it does have is counter-balanced by the exceptional views of the Cathedral that it will
offer passengers. Those who have the most interest in the Cathedral will be able to take in truly
remarkable new views - previously only possible to those in a helicopter - and I feel that this will
enhance understanding and appreciation of the Cathedral.
I do not believe that this installation, which exudes an aura of metallic 'engineering' most akin to the
harbour-side cranes of old and those remaining alongside M-Shed, will harm the industrial setting and
feel of the listed Engine Shed. Indeed, if this futuristic shiny metal structure were to cause harm to the
Engine Shed, then presumably the existing futuristic shiny metal structure right next to the Engine
Shed (the sphere planetarium) has been doing likewise for several decades; yet I have never heard
anyone suggest that. I believe the Arc will complement the planetarium outside We the Curious, and
together they announce Bristol's engineering past history and future potential.
Finally, given the large number of "skyscrapers" that the Council has recently granted permission for
across the city centre - that I personally find almost all to be extremely obtrusive, inelegant and
generic - I find it hard to believe that serious objection could be brought against the Eye on visual
grounds. The Arc will be a welcome distraction from some of the ugly tall-buildings currently being
built in the city. As I said at the start, it is elegant and graceful, and deserves full support.
Further Public Comments:
Of the 16 comments received, 15 were in support of the Arc, with one comment received objecting to
the proposals. No new issues were raised.

Page 38

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

COMMENTS MADE ON THE APPLICATION
INTERNAL CONTRIBUTORS:
City Design Group
The Arc has the potential to be a unique and interesting feature within the city. However, the chosen
site for the arc is particularly sensitive in relation to the medieval Cathedral and other city landmarks
that sit proud above the richly historic City Docks Conservation Area. Canon’s Marsh (part of the
conservation area) is intended to be low-lying so that the Cathedral towers and the cityscape beyond
continue to be the focus when new development comes forward. Maintaining this historic townscape
when viewed from south of the Floating Harbour is an established design and heritage objective for
the city. By interrupting this picturesque and celebrated cityscape the proposal would have a harmful
impact on the city centre’s historic character especially when enjoyed from the quay in front of the MShed.
When viewed from College Green and lower College Green the structure will be incongruous
projecting over the medieval outline of the cathedral church and above the cloisters and Abbey
buildings. Views of other Listed buildings, the setting of Queen Square, and characteristic panoramas
of the historic docks will be impacted by the development, through its alien scale and character. All of
these areas have a special historic and architectural character and fall within the statutory protection
of Conservation Areas.
The proposed ride structure itself would occupy an important location within Millennium Square, a
popular civic space with interactive artwork and opportunities for informal children’s play. The location
is part of the Brunel Mile, a key pedestrian route stretching between Temple Meads, through Anchor
and Millennium Squares, before terminating with views of the SS Great Britain across the Harbour.
The proposed base of the ride is 3m in diameter, but the scale of the structure above it with its
counterweight would potentially create an overly dominant feature within the square. This unintended
consequence may impact the legibility and continuity of the Brunel mile discouraging onward
movement.
The proposals seek a substantial extension of a Grade II Listed building. The Grade II Listed GWR
Goods Shed forms the core of We the Curious and was reinvented with an award-winning conversion
for the Millennium. The redevelopment celebrates the original and pioneering low-profile concrete
building with creative and eye-catching alterations that preserve the historic importance of the host
structure. Key to the design of the conversion was the preservation of the principle front elevation to
Anchor Square, with the rooftop extension set far back from it so not to disturb the original Edwardian
façade. The proposed development would encroach substantially onto that façade. The carefully
handled and well executed redevelopment of the GWR Sheds is a meaningful design achievement
within the city which is not fully recognised within the applicant’s heritage appraisal. The result of the
new development would be overbearing rooftop structures that undermine the original historic building
and the sensitive redevelopment that followed. The addition of further rooftop mass is opposed in
principle due to unnecessary harm posed to the Listed Building.
The ride is an eye-catching structure with potentially great novelty value. However, to truly celebrate
our heritage it is best located away from some of the city’s most sensitive assets. Access to and
enjoyment of the city’s historic assets is an important objective. However, this should not result in
harm to the historic environment.
It is considered that many of the public benefits of the development can be secured on a less
sensitive site. Whist it is acknowledged that other locations including M-Shed have been looked at, a

Page 39

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

clear and convincing case for ruling out a full set of alternatives locations has not been made. This
includes Albion Dockyard, The Grove, Castle Park, Temple Quarter, The Centre, Cumberland Basin,
or any number of other locations along the docks. Many of these locations hold the possibility of
removing or significantly reducing the impact on the historic environment.
We object to the current proposal as it fails to meet policies relating to good quality inclusive design,
public realm and designated heritage assets. The objective to preserve and enhance the historic
environment has not been met by the proposal.
Further CDG comments on design and heritage issues are set out in Key Issues B and C.
Transport Development Management
Principle
Arc Bristol is a cabin based, aerial viewing observation platform which is expected to start operation
during the spring of 2023. Access for passengers will be through We the Curious to an upstairs
dedicated lounge and reception area which leads to a roof extension where the cabin will be located
between flights.
Arc’s design requires a base to be provided which will take the form of a 3.2 metre wide diameter
cylinder that will be located in Millennium Square, close to where it joins Anchor Square.
As stated within the supporting Transport Statement Arc Bristol is expected to attract around 250,000
visitors to Bristol Harbourside annually. The cabin will have capacity for 42 passengers with typical
flight duration of 20 minutes. During holiday periods Arc Bristol could operate between 0600 hours
and midnight. It is noted Arc Bristol is expected to employ 22 full-time members of staff.
Local Conditions
Millennium Square and Anchor Square are pedestrianised public open spaces which are located to
the south of Anchor Road and We The Curious. The area is used for informal recreation, outdoor
public events and exhibitions.
Underneath Millennium Square is a 550 space underground car park. There is currently a coach
parking/dropping off area provided to the south of Millennium Square and again this facility is owned
by We The Curious however it is noted this area is subject to development proposals.
Pero’s Bridge is 3.0 metres wide and forms part of the Brunel Mile Primary Pedestrian Route that
provides access to the Harbourside through the city to Temple Meads rail station.
Millennium Square is close to bus stops on Anchor Road, College Green and Prince Street which
serve over 20 different bus routes and is also close to route M2 of the MetroBus which serves the City
Centre, Temple Meads rail station, Bristol bus station and the Long Ashton Park and Ride site. Buses
on the M2 route run every 10-12 minutes. The closest bus stops on Anchor Road are large covered
cantilever shelters that have full height kerbs, rest benches and real time information. This part of
Anchor Road has an eastbound and a westbound bus lane.
Other schemes

Page 40

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

There is a proposed development that has been discussed at pre application (20/01542/PREAPP)
regarding the land adjacent to the V-Shed. This is of importance as the submitted Transport
Statement makes reference to the fact that Waterfront Place is to be used for coach drop off/pick ups
and parking. This will be lost if the area were to be developed as per the pre application discussions.
Trip Generation
Arc Bristol is proposed to operate for 12 to 18 hours a day all year round and the capsule will have a
capacity for 42 passengers, each passenger would be on board for 20 minutes. The demand is
expected to be to up to 126 passengers per hour
Section 3.10 of the submitted Transport Statement details the expected modal split for visitors to the
Arc however it is unclear how this data has been derived. TDM require further information regarding
this in order to ascertain their acceptability and subsequent application.
Millennium Square Widths and Local Connections
A survey of the pedestrian and cycle movements was carried out in the vicinity of the corridor on
Friday 13th and Saturday 14th December 2020. It should be noted that during these dates (the run up
to Christmas) Millennium Square is at its busiest with a roller disco, food/drink stalls and the Ferris
Wheel in operation and as such the survey results represent peak flows rather than average flows.
Arc’s design requires a base to be provided which will take the form of a 3.2 metre wide diameter
cylinder that will be located in Millennium Square, close to where it joins Anchor Square. The mast will
be a water feature and the base will be surrounded by a 0.3 metre wide drainage grille.
The proposed design retains a 5.2m effective width at the arc base (5.4m – 0.2m reduction for vertical
features) this is acceptable for a shared use footway. The pedestrian comfort level has been
calculated at 7.8 pedestrians per metre of clear footway width per minute. This is graded at A- for
what is likely a peak flow scenario. The proposed width is considered suitable for the conditions. In
respect to cycling the route through the square is a fairly low volume and peak time for cycle
movements do not generally overlap with times when the square is busy with pedestrians.
Although central Bristol has relatively good cycle connections the links from the site to this network
are incomplete and in some instances substandard when measured using the level of service tool in
LTN 1/20. As referenced within paragraph 4.9 of the Transport Statement, movement east via Peros
Bridge is substandard at a 3m (2m) effective width creating significant conflict between pedestrian and
cyclists, limiting access to the wider cycle network. Additionally Anchor Road poses a significant
severance issue for those travelling on foot approaching from College Green. Furthermore the
movement north/north west is missing with Park Street subject to a number of accidents involving
cyclists. On this basis TDM require a contribution towards improvements to the local pedestrian and
cyclist network to enable the transport network to safely accommodate the approximate 2000 people
per day and 250,000 per year attending the site.
Coach Parking
It has not been adequately demonstrated that coaches serving the development can be
accommodated. The existing coach parking provision is over-subscribed at peak times, as previously
stated. The Waterfront Place car park is private and subject to future development proposals,
therefore reservations are made regarding its use to serve this development in perpetuity. There can

Page 41

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

be no dropping-off/picking-up on Anchor Road, in order to avoid any impediment of the operation of
the bus stops and the 24-hour bus lane. TDM require the applicant to explore expanding the current
coach parking facilities and to identify and subsequently utilise further sites. An s106 contribution may
therefore be required and the applicant should make contact with our public transport colleagues to
further discuss this issue and potential solutions. TDM will be able to facilitate this.
Car Parking
The Millennium Square public car park has a capacity for 550 cars. There are also other public car
parks close by including:
i. Bristol Harbourside (384 spaces)
ii. College Street (248 spaces)
iii. Prince Street (277 spaces)
iv. Queen Square (159 spaces)
v. The Grove (146 spaces)
The applicant has stated there are over 1,900 public car parking spaces in close proximity to We The
Curious and there are many other city centre car parks within walking distance of the site. The
Transport Statement states that ‘while car parks can be busy at peak times, there are typically a
significant number of car parking spaces available’. No study has been undertaken to verify this
assumption, however, given the requirement to enhance and provide for more sustainable modes of
transport TDM would not consider a parking survey to be required. It is however unclear if there is
sufficient disabled parking within the Millennium Square car park to facilitate this development. Further
information regarding this is required.
Cycle Parking
We The Curious currently has 20 secure staff only spaces provided within their Millennium Square car
park. Given the development will generate 22 full time jobs, TDM require additional secure and
covered cycle parking be provided for the employees. This will encourage cycling to the site by
employees.
Based on the proposed modal splits the requirement for an additional six cycle parking spaces has
been identified. The applicant has proposed the installation of three Sheffield Stands within Anchor
Square, however, TDM request further provision be provided in order to encourage future cycling to
the site and to increase in percentage of cyclist trips over and above that predicted. It should be noted
the location of the cycle parking is deemed to be acceptable however the quantum may need to
increase in line with the modal split assumptions and the aspirations to increase cyclist numbers to
the site.
Travel Planning
Given the nature of the development TDM require a full travel plan which will require an audit and
management fee of £5,335. This will need to include the offering of a discount to public transport
users, such as the Bristol Zoo 33% entry discount. There should also be strong promotion of park &
ride as part of the offer. Car parking fees should be adjusted to make sure the public transport/park &

Page 42

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

ride is competitive for a family of four. Further information can be provided by request from our travel
planning officer.
S106 Contributions
Concerns are raised regarding the ability of the existing infrastructure to accommodate the inclusion
of a tourist attraction that will generate 252 two-way movements an hour to the area throughout the
day. TDM therefore require the following s106 contributions towards the following projects:
•
•
•
•
•

£20,000 towards the upgrade of the Anchor Road crossing to single stage, remove railing and
reduction of wait time
£50,000 towards the improvement to Cascade Steps which include the surfacing, kerbing,
separation of cycleway
£25,000 towards the upgrade of the College Green crossing to parallel cycle/pedestrian
£2,000 towards the installation of a concrete cycle ramp up steps to College Green
£5,335 Travel plan monitoring and audit fee

Waste and Servicing
Explore Lane contains double yellow line parking restrictions and has a 40 metre long
loading/unloading bay which is used by We The Curious and others. We The Curious have confirmed
that waste and recycling is stored within their building and this is collected by a private contractor who
use this loading bay. They have also confirmed that recycling is collected twice a week and general
waste is collected five times a week.
The strategy for the storage and collection of waste and recycling will mirror that of the existing
facilities for We The Curious i.e. the refuse vehicle will use the loading bay in Explore Lane and the
service access of We The Curious to serve Arc Bristol. Collection is expected once per week and will
be by a private contractor. We The Curious confirm that there is sufficient space within their storage
area to accommodate waste and recycling from Arc Bristol.
The strategy for delivery vehicles will mirror that of the existing facilities for We The Curious i.e.
delivery and service vehicles will use the loading bay in Explore Lane and the service access of We
The Curious to serve Arc Bristol. Only two or three delivery vehicles per day are envisaged.
Maintenance
Information regarding the maintenance schedule and the implications this may have on the highway
network and pedestrian routes are to be provided by a maintenance plan. TDM request an outline
maintenance plan is provided given the impact and frequency of any maintenance is unknown due to
the unique nature of the proposal. Following this a full maintenance plan can subsequently be secured
by condition.
Construction Management
A construction management plan is required which details how the applicant will intend to install the
Arc and how this will be undertaken and the requirement for any street/road closures. As with the
maintenance plan, given the unique nature of the proposal TDM request an outline construction

Page 43

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

management plan is provided up front. A full construction management plan can subsequently be
conditioned.
Recommendation
After assessing the current information submitted TDM would be unable to recommend approval. The
following points must be addressed before TDM are in a position to provide a positive
recommendation of this application:
• An outline Maintenance plan is required
• An outline Construction Management Plan is required
• Information of how the modal splits were calculated is required
• Information on disabled parking provision
• Additional secure and covered employee cycle parking facilities
• Additional secure visitor cycle parking facilities taking into account future cyclist growth
• Discussion and further information regarding the proposed coach parking facilities
• A Travel plan
Additional information was subsequently received from the applicant with revised S106 contributions.
In response, TDM has advised that the above matters have been satisfactorily addressed (See Key
Issue D).
Pollution Control
First Response (10/11/2020)
An acoustic report has been submitted with the application and this finds that noise from the operation
of the [ARC] should be within acceptable limits at nearby residential properties. This assessment is
based on attenuation, such as an acoustic enclosure, giving a 20 dB noise reduction at 1000 Hz.
Whilst the acoustic report gives noise levels for the various noise sources associated with the Arc I
have been unable to find anything in the application which actually specifies where all the plant will be
located. Indeed the acoustic report states in ‘At this stage in the development, the exact location and
operational hours of the plant units are not known’.
Without knowing where all the plant is to be located and whether it is feasible for the plant to be
housed in an acoustic enclosure or other mitigation applied I cannot be fully satisfied that he predicted
noise levels within the report can be achieved or what the likely noise levels in Millennium Square will
be.
I fully accept that exact items of plant and noise levels may not be known at this stage and I would be
happy for further information or assessments to be provided by condition should the application be
approved. However in order to make a reasoned assessment of this application at this stage I will
really need to know where all the noise generating plant associated with the Arc will be located and
whether the necessary mitigation detailed in the acoustic report can be provided from a design and
operational point of view.

Page 44

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

Additional Comments (8/1/2021)
I’ve read through the revised acoustic report and would confirm that it resolves most of my concerns.
The only further details I would require to see our details of the mitigation measures necessary to
achieve the attenuation detailed in 6.5. I am more than happy for this to be provided by condition. As
well as this condition I would also ask for a condition, as suggested in the acoustic report, requiring
that plant noise limits be 5 dB below the existing background noise level at any noise sensitive
properties.
I would also confirm that I am satisfied from the acoustic report that noise from the Arc will not cause
any harm to members of the public in Millennium Square. I do however understand that this has been
of concern to others who have commented on this application and a condition regarding noise levels
in Millennium Square could be added to the decision notice.
Economic Development
Economic Impact
The economic impact assessment is thorough and follows an appropriate methodology. The
assumptions with regard to visitor numbers, spend and impact are within reasonable parameters and
the authors have been clear where estimates are included.

General comment
The proposed installation would complement the existing facilities at We The Curious and highlight its
focus on innovation and technology. Bristol has a vital and dynamic technology sector and We The
Curious plays a key role in raising awareness of this to both our resident population and the outside
world. The Arc would create a high profile addition to this.
Regeneration Team
The Arc proposal is welcomed, it will provide an additional visitor attraction to help diversify,
strengthen and increase the tourism/leisure offer within the City Centre. Enhancing the city centre
offer is critical to supporting the city’s recovery from COVID-19.
The Bristol Central Area Plan states ‘Proposals for new cultural facilities, tourist attractions and waterbased recreation uses in the city centre boundary will be encouraged. Existing cultural, tourist and
water-based recreation facilities should be retained in those uses and enhanced where possible
unless appropriate replacement facilities are provided in a suitable alternative location.’ The proposal
will enhance an existing facility (We The Curious), which already plays an important role in the visitor
economy and education within the city.
We would encourage the developer to work with the Council and other organisations to ensure that
the project is inclusive and open to all residents and visitors alike from a social, employment,
education and skills, and economy perspective.
Education
The Arc could provide many education and learning opportunities for art, history, science and
geography as well as STEM subjects. It could be a stimulating and beneficial school trip (similar to the
London Eye – however this could be a cheaper and quicker alternative for local schools and young

Page 45

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

people). Many schools, as part of their intent, are looking to localise their curricula and develop a
local sense of belonging and identity (aligned with LA strategy). This proposal could aid in this
objective.
Education & skills would encourage the developer to ensure the project is representative of inclusive
education opportunities and accessible to all (including making sure that price points enable access
from all members of the community).
Nature Conservation
In accordance with the recommendations in the ecological appraisal dated November 2019, the
applicant is advised to be aware of the possibility of birds such as feral pigeons and gulls nesting on
the flat roofs on the site. All species of wild birds, their eggs, nests and chicks are legally protected
until the young have fledged. Related planning conditions are recommended.
Land Contamination
The proposed development is not overly sensitive to contamination but is situated on land that has
been subject to a potentially contaminating land use. Conditions recommended.
Flood Risk
No objection: Evacuation plan submitted is acceptable.
Sustainability Team
No objection. Conditions recommended.

EXTERNAL:
Historic England
First response: (30/10/2020)
Summary:
After reviewing the submitted planning documents, particularly the Townscape Visual Impact
Assessment (TVIA), we feel that additional viewpoints and kinetic views are needed to help us assess
the potential impacts of the proposed development. Additional information relating to the construction
of the Arc and its non-operational resting position is also needed to help us provide you with informed
and comprehensive advice. As it stands, we have strong concerns over its impact on the historic
environment and will be taking the proposals to our national development advice committee (HEAC)
on the 19th November and therefore request an extension of time until the end of November to form
our detailed advice and conclusions.
Historic England Advice
The proposal for Bristol Arc is located within the former industrial Canon’s Marsh area and Bristol
Docks. The area retains some historic industrial buildings (some as designated heritage assets),
including the now converted leadworks and the eastern half of a railway goods shed for the Great

Page 46

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

Western Railway (now converted as We The Curious). This area is now thoroughly re-developed into
a leisure and key visitor hub within the city centre. The success of the harbourside area is as a result
of the focus of the city’s cultural activities and attributed to the repurposing of historic buildings in a
way that hasn’t compromised the maritime industrial character of this part of the city. The area is
rightly protected through Conservation Area designation.
To the immediate north is the Cathedral precinct with a highly significant group of Grade I and II*
designated assets. Bristol Cathedral is one of England's great medieval churches. It originated as an
Augustinian Abbey, founded c. 1140. It is sited on raised ground overlooking the historic confluence of
the Frome and the Avon. This forms the backdrop to the application site, with the more prominent
views across the city skyline from the south side of the Floating Harbour. The rising topography
affords an important and rich composition of historic buildings and structures, the settings of which
contribute to their significance, and which collectively defines Bristol’s unique and distinctive
cityscape.
The site is also within the City Docks Conservation Area; as set out in Section 72 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 there is therefore a requirement for the Local
Authority to have special regard the of preserving or enhancing its character. As the Arc would be
within the setting of highly-graded heritage assets, these being within the top 2% of designated
assets, greater weight should be given to their conservation. The National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) defines 'conservation' as 'the process of maintaining and managing change to a
heritage asset in a way that sustains and, where appropriate, enhances its significance'.
Paragraph 128 of the NPPF requires an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets
affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate
to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the
proposal on their significance. The application includes a heritage assessment that identifies a range
of heritage assets that would be impacted by the proposals. We advise that the list of highly-graded
assets should also extend to the Wills Memorial Tower (Grade II*) and the Church of St Mary
Redcliffe (Grade I). The Wills Memorial Tower is the most prominent elevated historic building in views
from the southern side of the Floating Harbour and there is also potential that the Arc could coalesce
or visually compete with the spire of St Mary Redcliffe from Brandon Park and the Scheduled Civil
War earthworks.
We have strong concerns over the impact of the proposals and the advice of the Historic England
Advisory Committee will help us define where the impacts are likely to be greatest and how we advise
the council on levels of harm and our concluding position. In order for us to fully assess the impacts of
the proposals upon the historic environment, we advise that further viewpoints are contained within
the Townscape Visual Impact Assessment (TVIA). In addition, we advise that the TVIA is augmented
with some kinetic visual representations. As with many tall buildings/structures, they are experienced
within their context as a result of moving through the city, where the tall structure provides a visual
dialogue with surrounding buildings. Their impact often changes throughout a kinetic experience and
when the proposed structure is designed to move in an arc within different vertical planes, the impacts
will not all be as a result of its static position. We therefore request Kinetic visual representations
taken from the point at Prince Street Bridge, along Princes Wharf to the position of Viewpoint 3.2.
Also, a kinetic view should be taken from the north corner of College Green/Park Street to the
southern end of City hall and the former gateway to the Augustinian Abbey.

Page 47

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

While the City Design Group may advise on certain additional viewpoints to be assessed, we would
ask that the following are added to the TVIA:
1. The proposed Arc should be added to Viewpoint 3, which includes the Wills Memorial Tower as it
comes into view between the Cathedral towers.
2. An additional view to Viewpoint 3.2 but slightly more to the west which presents the better framed
view of the Cathedral.
3. A view from the south-eastern corner of Millennium Square looking north, in order to assess the
impact of the proposed extension to We The Curious on the setting and legibility of the Cathedral.
4. A view from the southern part of Brandon Hill that picks up the panorama over the Floating Harbour
and the Church of St Mary Redcliffe to the east.
We also have some questions regarding the construction of the Arc and implications upon its final
visual appearance and potential restrictions on operational periods. Firstly, we would want further
assurance that the design, as submitted, is simply not conceptual and that engineers have provided
input into the construction and sizes of principal elements. Very often, a design intention to deliver a
minimal, slender structure is compromised later by detailed engineering revisions; we would want
assurances that this would not be the case here. In addition to the information already submitted, we
would request any detailed structural reports that have been produced to be made available, so that
we can offer our assessment of the engineering designs with particular reference to implications for
the historic environment.
The visual impact of the Arc upon the historic environment would be affected by the length of time the
observation pod and its supporting arms are spent in the upright position. We understand that security
reasons have been cited for the non-operational position to be in the vertical. However, we would ask
the applicant confirms whether the security concerns of having the Arc in a horizontal non-operational
position can be overcome?
We understand that the lightweight carbon fibre construction may have operational restrictions due to
wind loading. While the Design and Access Statement does not provide information on any limitations
of the structure, we would ask whether the ability to accommodate the projected 250,000 to 330,000
visitors per year would be compromised by the constraints of its construction and design?
Central to our consultation advice is the requirement of the Planning (Listed Buildings 29 and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in Section 66(1) for the local authority to “have special regard to the
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of architectural or historic interest
which it possesses”. Section 72 of the Act refers to the council’s need to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area in the
exercise of their duties. When considering the current proposals, in line with Para 189 of the NPPF,
the significance of the asset’s setting requires consideration. Para 193 states that in considering the
impact of proposed development on significance great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation and that the more important the asset the greater the weight should be. Para 194 goes
on to say that clear and convincing justification is needed if there is loss or harm.
Once we are in receipt of this further information, we will be in a position to make an informed
assessment of the relevant impacts upon the historic environment. If the requested information could

Page 48

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

be provided by the 19th November, we will present this to our HEAC committee for their assessment
and provide you with our full advice by the end of November. Please do not hesitate to contact me
should you wish clarification over any of the above points.
Second Response (30/11/2020)
Summary
Further to our letter of 30th October 2020, the subsequent submission of images which demonstrate
Arc as a more kinetic structure within the city, has given us sufficient information to make a more
comprehensive assessment of the likely impacts that Arc would have on the historic environment.
This information, together with the outcome of discussions with the applicant and their agents as part
of lasts week’s HEAC committee meeting, has confirmed our initial concerns that Arc would cause an
unacceptable degree of harm to the setting of highly-graded heritage assets and the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area. We therefore object to the application as it stands and request
that the council defers determination until the previously tabled site of Museum Square, as part of the
pre-application submission, is revisited as a more [suitable] site where we believe that the heritage
impacts would be significantly reduced.
Advice
In our previous letter we outlined those heritage assets that would be affected by the construction of
Arc over the roof of We The Curious (WTC), a Grade II listed building itself. While we have no
statutory remit in advising upon the material works to this particular building and therefore defer to
City Design Group to describe and assess relevant material and setting impacts, we will advise on
how these works will impact upon views of Bristol Cathedral from Millennium Square. We have
nothing to add to our previous assessment of how extensive the impacts on setting of heritage assets
will be, as the Heritage Addendum (November 2020) has now included an assessment of St Mary
Recliffe and the Wills Memorial Building.
We would remind you of the requirement for the Local Authority to have special regard the of
preserving or enhancing character of the Conservation Area, which is part of the primary legislation in
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Moreover, as the
impact of the proposed development would impact and cause harm to the setting of Grade I heritage
assets, the highest level of national designation, the NPPF requires great weight to be given to their
conservation in the planning balance.
We have now sought the advice of the Historic England Advisory Committee and they have helped
identify where and how the impacts of Arc will cause harm to the significance of heritage assets. We
requested from the applicant further viewpoints to be added to the Townscape Visual Impact
Assessment (TVIA). In addition, we advised that the TVIA was augmented with some kinetic visual
representations. The visual impact of Arc will be the result of a combination of the movement of Arc
and the experience of viewing the structure when moving through the city, providing a visual dialogue
with surrounding buildings. The impacts will therefore be constantly changing, although it static
position in the vertical during the flight experience and its non-operational position at night would
result in the greatest impact from key views.
The proposed Arc would undermine the visual dominance of Bristol Cathedral when viewed from the
South side of the floating harbour. As a major Norman architectural foundation, the location of the

Page 49

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

building when entering Bristol by river was a powerful political statement of overlord-ship. The visual
dominance of the Cathedral and its connection to the historic waterways would be challenged if the
Arc were to be constructed in the foreground of views from the South side of the harbour. It is
acknowledged that these views have changed considerably since the foundation of the Cathedral, but
development has generally respected its visual dominance.
The presence of Arc above the silhouette of the Cathedral would also detract from people’s
appreciation of both the Cathedral and the ensemble formed by City Hall, the Great Gatehouse and
the Central Library surrounding College Green. The submitted animation of Arc rising to the left of the
central tower of the Cathedral demonstrates its distraction and discord against the full north elevation
of the Cathedral. In its non-operational position, Arc would be visible for longer periods of time within
this view. We now understand that the construction of the carbon fibre arms of Arc would require the
optimum resting position to be in the vertical. However, if the design could be adapted or the stresses
on the carbon fibre arms in the horizontal position accepted by the applicant’s engineers, the
reduction in time that Arc is in the vertical position would reduce the impact upon the historic
environment.
While we would not wish to comment on the material alterations proposed to the Grade II listed former
GWR goods shed, an additional photomontage taken from the south-east corner of Millennium
Square looking towards the application site demonstrates that the view of the Cathedral above the
roof of WTC would be further truncated by the proposed extension at its eastern end. Although
resulting in modest change, the legibility of the Cathedral would be further reduced from within the
Conservation Area, resulting in harm.
The Heritage Statement argues that harm to heritage significance as a result of Arc would be slight to
moderate and this would be off-set by the heritage benefits offered by the development. This would
include an increased number of visitors experiencing Bristol’s heritage; the ability to experience and
understand Bristol’s historic environment and individual heritage assets, such as the Cathedral, from a
new perspective; and continuing Bristol’s story of technological and design development in the Docks.
We advise that little weight should be given to the purported heritage benefit of increased visitor
numbers and providing new, elevated views over the historic centre of the city and Floating Harbour
and would not mitigate the harm. While Arc would offer an elevated view of the city from this particular
point, the steep and undulating topography of the city and public access to existing tall, historic
buildings (eg Cabot Tower and Wills Tower) already gives very good and varied elevated vistas over
Bristol. While the close range of the Cathedral precinct may give observers a more legible view of the
complex, this would not necessarily better reveal its significance.
We understand that the proposals have been subject to pre-application discussions with the council,
both on the proposed site and alternative sites. An alternative site in Museum Square (south side of
the Floating Harbour) is identified in the Design and Access statement by the applicant’s economic
impact consultant as also satisfying the commercial criteria for Arc. Although not part of the current
proposals, we believe that the construction of Arc in Museum Square would result in significantly
lower impact and degree of harm. We therefore recommend that the application is deferred while
consideration is given to the alternative location of Museum Square and Arc modelled to demonstrate
its visual impact from this position.

Page 50

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

Impact on the historic environment would, in our view, result in less than substantial harm, as
defined under the NPPF. We recommend that alternative sites are further explored, where the
benefits of Arc can be delivered, but the harm minimised. As it stands, we object to the proposed
development on this site.
Central to our consultation advice is the requirement of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in Section 66(1) for the local authority to “have special regard to the
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of architectural or historic interest
which it possesses”. Section 72 of the act refers to the council’s need to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area in the
exercise of their duties. When considering the current proposals, in line with Para 189 of the NPPF,
the significance of the asset’s setting requires consideration. Para 193 states that in considering the
impact of proposed development on significance great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation and that the more important the asset the greater the weight should be. Para 194 goes
on to say that clear and convincing justification is needed if there is loss or harm.
Recommendation
Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds. We consider that the application does
not meet the requirements of the NPPF, in particular paragraph numbers 193, 194 and 200. In
determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which they possess, section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of
conservation areas and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to
determine planning applications in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, safeguards or
further information as set out in our advice. If, however, you propose to determine the application in its
current form, please treat this as a letter of objection, inform us of the date of the committee and send
us a copy of your report at the earliest opportunity.
Third Response (03/02/2021)
Further to our advice letter of the 30th November 2020, a response has been provided by the
applicant and raises two areas of discussion: the setting of the Grade I Cathedral and secondly the
purported heritage benefits that Arc would deliver. The applicant has also submitted a Heritage
Addendum which includes some of the additional viewpoints that we received from the agent prior to
providing our previous advice, but were not included in the originally submitted documents to the
council.
The comments made by the applicant in response to Historic England’s comments are shown at
Appendix 1.
Firstly, while the applicant acknowledges that the dominance of the Cathedral from the Floating
Harbour is unquestionable, it is argued that this is only one aspect of its setting that contributes to its
heritage significance. The applicant also places weight on the intervening period of high industrial

Page 51

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

activity when the warehouses, ships and masts, and smoke from the leadworks chimney on Canon’s
Marsh would have obscured the legibility of the Cathedral until the mid-20th century. We certainly
acknowledge this chapter in the historic narrative of the area and setting of the Cathedral. This special
character is one that the present Conservation Area strives to conserve and manage in a positive
way. However, the changes that have taken place on Canon’s Marsh have deliberately attempted to
respond positively to the primacy of the Cathedral from key vantage points on the Floating Harbour.
This is on the basis that for much of the time since the building of the Cathedral, its visual command
over the water has been the prime aspect of its setting within the city. We do not therefore agree that
our assessment of the setting of the Cathedral from this point is overplayed.
There are, of course other aspects of the Cathedral’s setting that we have identified (principally from
College Green) and these also contribute to its significance. We have made an assessment of Arc
from this particular area in our advice. There are other views and appreciation of setting of the
Cathedral throughout the city, mainly from elevated positions such as Cabot Tower. These aspects of
setting, while still relevant, do not contribute to significance in the same way and extent than those
that we have given most weight to.
The applicant has requested a further explanation to why we have advised that the heritage benefits
outlined in the application should be given little weight. We advised in our previous letter that while
Arc may deliver an increased number of visitors experiencing Bristol’s heritage and the ability to
experience and understand Bristol’s historic environment from a new perspective, these benefits are
limited and do not better reveal the significance of the historic environment to the extent that would
mitigate the harm outlined in our advice. The heritage values of those assets that would be affected
can be experienced within their existing individual and combined settings. An elevated view would not
greatly increase this experience and understanding; hence we place little weight on this particular
benefit. However, we continue to advise that the benefits of Arc, identified in the application, could be
delivered on an alternative site with significantly reduced harm to the historic environment.
The applicant has also pointed out that the benefit is not simply a heritage benefit, but also a wider
educational and commercial one. While there would be heritage aspects of educational benefits
delivered by Arc, the wider public benefits are those that the council is tasked in identifying and
weighing against the harm, as required by para 196 of the NPPF.
The Heritage Addendum has now included assessments of the Wills Memorial Tower (Grade II*) and
St Mary Redcliffe (Grade I). With regard to their settings, these are described in sections A/3.6-3.8
and A/3.11 respectively. Both have a wide reaching setting and experience within the City. Pertinent
to the impacts of Arc, the Wills Memorial Tower sits prominently on the elevated city skyline. In kinetic
views from the south side of the Floating Harbour, it coalesces with the central and west towers of the
Cathedral and then becomes most prominent over the nave of the Cathedral in Viewpoint 5. As
described in the Heritage Addendum, its prominent visibility and distinctive position within the City of
Bristol is both physical and symbolic. As with the impact and harm to the setting of the Cathedral, as
outlined in our previous letter, there would be a similar form of impact upon the setting of the Wills
Memorial Tower. However, due to its arguably greater prominence and elevated position, resulting in
a more extensive setting, the degree of harm is less than that caused to the setting of the Cathedral.
In a similar way to the Wills Memorial Tower, the spire of St Mary Redcliffe is a key and conspicuous
landmark within the city. We asked for an additional assessment of the setting of the Church and
identified that there may be a degree of impact from views from Brandon Hill, in particular. The

Page 52

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

additional view (figure 11) added to the TVIA indicates that while from this particular position Arc
would not coalesce with the spire of St Mary’s, it would appear to compete with its primacy when in
the vertical position. This will result in a small degree of harm. We refer to our advice on the resting
position of Arc in our previous letter with regard to reducing the impact upon the historic environment
if the resting position could be adjusted to the horizontal, over the roof of WTC.
The additional information has not caused us to change our position and advice on the proposals. We
still consider that the impact on the historic environment would, in our view, result in less than
substantial harm, as defined under the NPPF and strongly advise that alternative sites are further
explored. We continue to object to the proposed development on this site.
Central to our consultation advice is the requirement of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in Section 66(1) for the local authority to “have special regard to the
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of architectural or historic interest
which it possesses”. Section 72 of the act refers to the council’s need to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area in the
exercise of their duties. When considering the current proposals, in line with Para 189 of the NPPF,
the significance of the asset’s setting requires consideration. Para 193 states that in considering the
impact of proposed development on significance great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation and that the more important the asset the greater the weight should be. Para 194 goes
on to say that clear and convincing justification is needed if there is loss or harm.
Recommendation
Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds. We consider that the application does
not meet the requirements of the NPPF, in particular paragraph numbers 193, 194 and 200. In
determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which they possess, section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of
conservation areas and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to
determine planning applications in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
The Victorian Society
The case was discussed by our Southern Buildings Committee. The committee objected to the
proposals as they currently stand, and I write to convey its comments.
Whilst the committee was not opposed to the principle of a moving observation cabin in this location,
there were concerns about the design, how it would relate to the Grade II Canon’s Marsh Goods
Shed, and how it would interact with the wider historic environment.
The proposed observation cabin would presumably be mostly ‘at rest’ lying on the roof of the goods
shed. We understand that the goods shed has been greatly altered, with its partial demolition and
later conversion to the ‘We the Curious’ building. However, it is important that its status as a
designated heritage asset is not further harmed by the proposals. The design of ‘Arc’ shows little
relation to the goods shed, and appears to impose on it rather, rather than complement it. The

Page 53

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

committee felt that a much more subtle design was therefore needed to reduce the impact of what will
essentially be an addition to the building. Similarly, whilst in motion, ‘Arc’ would appear in many views
in several conservation areas, and in surrounding views of the Grade I cathedral and library. A more
elegant design would additionally reduce the potential impact on these surrounding heritage assets
and should be strongly encouraged.
The roof extension added as part of the previous conversion was presumably designed to be as
subservient as possible, set back and only occupying part of the roof space. The addition of a further
roof extension would undermine this attempted subtly and reduce the legibility of the once modest
goods shed. Once again, whilst we are not opposed to the principle of ‘Arc’ or the use of the goods
shed in tandem with the working of this, a redesign is needed so that any extension reads as
subservient to the original building.
Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that where a proposal would impact on the significance of a
designated heritage asset “this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal”.
In its present form, the proposed observation cabin would negatively impact the goods shed and
potentially several surrounding heritage assets. A redesign is needed so that the impact on these can
be reduced whilst still realising any potential public benefits and the provisions of the NPPF met.
Crime Reduction Unit
In conjunction with the Avon and Somerset Police Counter Terrorism Security Advisor we have
worked with the applicant on this project and are satisfied that safety and security have been
addressed.

KEY ISSUES
For information, any policies quoted in the report with the prefix BCS are from the Core Strategy, DM
are from the Site Allocation and Development Management Plan, and BCAP are from the Bristol
Central Area Plan. Any references to paragraphs within the National Planning Policy Framework will
have the prefix NPPF.
A: IS THE PROPOSAL ACCEPTABLE IN LAND USE TERMS?
The site lies within the Harbourside area of the City centre within which the following policies apply:
BCAP 9, which promotes the delivery of cultural facilities and tourist attractions in the city centre.
BCAP 41, which concerns the Harbourside, and states that development will be expected to enhance
Harbourside’s role as an informal leisure destination and a focus for maritime industries, creative
industries and water-based recreation, preserving and enhancing the setting of the neighbourhood’s
major attractions including the Floating Harbour itself.
The policy also states that development adjacent to the Floating Harbour will be expected to be of a
scale and design appropriate to its setting, reflecting the special interest and visual prominence of
quayside areas and character and setting of the surviving historic buildings and fabric, and preserving
and enhancing views to and from the Floating Harbour.

Page 54

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

The proposal would operate as a tourist destination, and would be located alongside We The Curious
and close to other attractions such as the Aquarium, M Shed, and Arnolfini. It would enhance the role
of the harbourside as an informal leisure destination.
In terms of the principle of development, the Arc complies with policies BCAP9 and BCAP41. Its
acceptability will, however, depend on how it measures against the key issues considered in the
remainder of this report.
B: IS THE DESIGN OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT ACCEPTABLE?
Policy BCS21 promotes high quality design, requiring development among other requirements to
contribute positively to an area’s character, promote accessibility and permeability and deliver a
healthy and attractive public realm.
DM policies reinforce these requirements, including DM26 (local character and distinctiveness), DM27
(layout and form of buildings, structures and spaces), DM28 (public realm), DM29 (design of new
buildings) and DM30 (alterations to existing buildings).
NPPF Para 131 states that in determining applications, great weight should be given to outstanding or
innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability or help raise the standard of design
more generally in an area, so long as they fit in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.
The design of the Arc in itself is of high quality, being an elegant ‘light’ structure to be made from
quality materials. It would clearly be different in form and character from its surroundings and the
fundamental question to be considered is whether the Arc would contribute positively to, rather than
detract from, the buildings and spaces around it.
In addressing this question there are three aspects to consider, the alterations to the ‘We The
Curious’ building (former GWR Engine or Goods Shed), the impact of the Arc on its immediate
surroundings and the visual impact of the Arc from further afield.
Alterations to the Canon’s Marsh Goods Shed (‘We The Curious’ Building)
The Canon’s Marsh Goods Shed is Grade II listed. The 1998 Wilkinson Eyre roof extension and
conversion of the Listed Goods Shed won awards from the Royal Institute of British Architects, and
the Civic Trust for its design and quality.
The applicant states that the proposed extension has been designed to reflect the existing roof
extension, using glazed curtain walling within a grey frame structure which complements the existing
arrangement, as does the use of a flat roof.
The design of the extension reflects the simplicity of form and detailing of the existing building and the
applicant points out the following features:
•
•
•
•
•

Simple rectangular form
Projecting eaves with extended overhang to south façade
External walls set back from existing parapet to reduce visual appearance from ground level
New second floor level to be constructed c.1.2m above existing roof to match existing
extension floor level
General horizontal emphasis to the architectural details and materiality

Page 55

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

The more bespoke changes would be the creation of a dock for Arc’s cabin, along with the extension
of the stair core and construction of an adjacent lift shaft.
In commenting on the design of the extension, the Council’s City Design Group (CDG) make the point
that the proposed extension should respect the notable architectural merit of the Wilkinson Eyre roof
extension which is subservient to the host building and configured to create a considerable setback
along the Anchor Square frontage and smaller set back along Anchor Road. This design principle was
to ensure the architectural integrity of the main Edwardian façade facing Anchor Square, a more
intimate space surrounded by smaller scale buildings, remains unaltered with minimal built form
impact along Anchor Road.
CDG consider that the proposed roof extension to the ‘We The Curious’ building to accommodate the
pod docking area, waiting lounge and escape stairway creates prominent built form along the Anchor
Square frontage which appears to dominate the host building failing to preserve and enhance this
heritage asset. (The question of whether the harm to designated heritage assets is justified is
discussed in Key Issue C.)
Local Impact
The Arc would be positioned at the entrance to Millennium Square when entered from Anchor Square.
Millennium Square is the culmination of the ‘Brunel Mile’, the primary pedestrian route from Temple
Meads to the Square. Along its length is a series of key public realm spaces including, Queens
Square, Pero’s Bridge and Anchor Square. These spaces have been designed to create a transition
from one space to another, with a clear route through both visually and physically. Farr’s Lane has
recently been upgraded as part of the urban repair in this area to enhance the legibility of this part of
the route.
The design intent for the Millennium Square approached from Anchor Square is for pedestrians to be
greeted by a shimmering wall of water which curves in an embracing arc in front of them, momentarily
masking the view beyond. Through a gap in this wall, pedestrians pass between the reflecting water
terraces and view the expanse of the square beyond.
The City Design Group (CDG) have commented that the location of the base at the entrance to
Millennium Square undermines the design as a movement motivator and creates a visual obstruction,
cluttering the visual link between the squares, affecting the visual transition and flow from Anchor
Square and the enhanced reveal of Millennium Square on entering.
CDG further comment that the position of the base within the square edging the primary
pedestrian/cycle route affects the sight lines for pedestrian and cyclists using this movement corridor
and potentially increases conflicts between the two user groups. Policy BCP30 states;
‘Development that would be harmful to the amenity or accessibility of primary or secondary pedestrian
route will not be permitted’
However, TDM in their comments do not consider that the structure would impede pedestrian and
cycle flows at this point. Therefore, there are conflicting views within the Council’s expert teams on
this matter.

Page 56

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

Millennium Square itself is a high quality well-designed open area of public realm and an important
space within an area of dense residential development whose special character is protected by
Conservation Area designation.
The proposed base is 8m2 and approximately 16m tall and is positioned at the north east corner of
Millennium Square. This element of the proposals includes the moving Fulcrum that extends
approximately 10m beyond the base unit at various points in the Arc’s journey taking up a further 10m
diameter of air space above the square. CDG comment that unlike the modern additions of the
Planetarium and Lloyd’s building which are scaled to relate to the surroundings, the size of the base
would be overbearing within the space.
The scale and mass of the base with the kinetic nature of the fulcrum would undoubtedly give rise to a
degree of visual distraction however, the projected noise levels are considered reasonable which
would lessen the distraction that might otherwise occur. Comment has been made that the movement
of the Arc in close proximity to the water features is likely to suppress the playful use of the
rectangular pond running along the northern end of the square by children. While there is no evidence
to substantiate this comment, the visual distraction of the Arc would alter the local character and
ambience, and may inhibit use of the Square in its proximity.
Impact on Public Art
CDG has further commented that William Pye’s Aquarena was a landmark Millennium project in 2000
for the regenerated Bristol Harbourside. A number of distinct features characterise this immersive
sculpture – such as reflective water terraces, jets and water walls. It continues to be a much loved
destination for many Bristol citizens and characterises this public city centre civic space – offering
space for children to play and people to reflect.
There is a serious concern that the close proximity of the base of the Arc form would overshadow and
interrupt this public realm experience and diminish this public art offer in the civic square.
Wider Visual Impact
It should be noted from the outset that the impact of the Arc is clearly different to that of a tall, solid
and immovable mass, i.e. a permanent building. Its design is ‘lightweight’, with a large void between
the two masts below the passenger cabin. Obviously, it also moves, up to a maximum speed of 5mph
across multiple trajectories as part of each ‘flight’, so it will not be fixed in one position, except when
non-operational when it would be reside in a vertical position.
During operational hours, it is estimated that approximately 60% of the time, the Arc would be ‘in
flight’ and for the remainder of the time it would be docked to the roof of WTC for boarding and
disembarking passengers. It would therefore have a moving rather than a solid mass, and its slender
form would have a transient impact on the majority of middle and long range views.
However, by virtue of its scale and movement, the Arc would clearly have a material impact on the
Harbourside and the wider skyline of Bristol. When in the upright position, the floor level of the Arc’s
cabin would stand at 67.3 metres above ground level, and so would be visible from numerous vantage
points across the city.
A Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (TVIA) has been produced by the applicant that
analyses the impact of the Arc on various key views. The TVIA comments that the Arc would be

Page 57

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

complementary to the character of the area and would reinforce the City Docks as “… one of the most
exciting districts in the city” and as containing: “A remarkable mix of land uses and building types,
bringing a special character that has placed it ahead in the process of late 20th century urban
renewal”.
It states that given the scale and form of the proposed structure, the Arc presents an exciting iconic
addition to the Bristol skyline which does not obscure existing features in the view, cause deterioration
to the view, or detract from the receptors ability to enjoy the view. It subsequently finds that:
•
•

The site is assessed as making a positive contribution to the local landscape character.
The significance of the townscape effects of the Arc is considered neutral on the site and
surrounding townscape.
• The significance of the visual effect of the proposed development is considered to range from
negligible to moderate beneficial across all identified viewpoints.
The TVIA closes in finding that where the Arc forms a dominant feature in the view within close
proximity to existing historic landmarks, this would express the layering of historic and contemporary
architecture within the City Centre to the viewer. It finds that the presence of complementary but
distinct structures within the view might serve to draw attention to the diversity of land uses which are
present in the Canon’s Marsh area today and historically.
A tall buildings assessment has been submitted to supplement the TVIA in accordance with the Urban
Living SPD, and concludes that the Arc is appropriate in terms of design and impact to its setting as a
tall structure.
The City Design Group in their comments express a contrary view to the findings of the submitted
TVIA, and state that the proposal introduces a new incongruous element within the City Docks
Conservation Area without contributing to the Harbourside character.
CDG state that the Arc would create a new and unnecessary focus within the conservation area and
would dominate the view from various points.
Examples of views shown in the TVIA that CDG consider would be harmed include the following:
The TVIA view northwest from Princes Wharf, M Shed: This view incorporates a number of key
landmark buildings - Cabot Tower, Cathedral, the Wills Memorial Building – that characterise the
Bristol skyline from this viewpoint, as well as buildings fronting the harbour that express the strongly
horizontal form typical of the Conservation Area. The proposal reduces the significance of the historic
structures within the view. Also the proposal does little to add to the character of the conservation
area and arguably detracts from it more through the movement of the Arc through its flight pattern.
The Arc is considered to have a slight to moderate adverse impact from this viewpoint.
The view from Queen Square: Queen Square was the subject of an historic restoration scheme to
recreate as far as practicable its Georgian townscape, one of the largest squares of its time
throughout Europe. The view of the ride would be incongruous in this context, harmful to both the
character of Queen Square and the wider City and Queen Square Conservation Area. From this
viewpoint, due to the importance and quality of the historic context within Queen Square the proposal
is judged to have a moderate adverse impact.

Page 58

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

The view from College Green: Views of the grade I listed Cathedral and its setting within College
Green are one of Bristol’s most valued historic townscapes. Though the proposed ride is revealed
only slightly, its visual effect would provide a major distraction. Its intermittent appearance during
operational hours will exacerbate its alien character within the view. It is regarded as resulting in a
significant adverse effect.
In concluding on the townscape impact of the proposal, CDG comment that all of the viewpoints
depicted in the TVIA are popular locations and the buildings and structures form a series of familiar
elements that make the special character of the Conservation Area. The impact of the proposals is to
shift the focus of attention to the Arc structure itself, thereby lessening the significance of the existing
built form.
Conclusion
Clearly, there are conflicting opinions on the merits of the impact the Arc would have upon the
townscape. A rebuttal statement was received from the applicant countering the comments made by
CDG, and this demonstrates in detail the differing opinions on the impact the Arc would have (full
details are shown at Appendix 2).
A good example concerns the view from Princes Wharf, M Shed. The rebuttal statement agrees with
CDG that the buildings in this view express the strongly horizontal form of the retained dockside
warehousing at the eastern end of the dock, but continues by stating that this currently uncluttered
view has not always been so and that in the recent past, the view was dominated by the bonded
tobacco warehouse and for centuries before that, a forest of masts of cranes and ships. The rebuttal
goes on to state that the Conservation Area celebrates the docks as shaping Bristol’s sense of place
as a great maritime city, and that a visual assessment of this context should acknowledge the
particular maritime sense of place created by tall, vertical, moving masts set against horizontal-form,
utilitarian warehouses. The rebuttal statement explains that it is for this reason that the impact in the
view is assessed to be ‘slight beneficial’, whereas CDG considers the impact to be ‘slight to moderate
adverse’ (see above).
In general, many will see the design of the Arc as an exciting, contemporary and welcome addition to
the skyline of Bristol, as reflected in many of the public comments received. Others however, take a
different viewpoint.
In view of such conflicting opinions concerning the impact the Arc would have on the surrounding
townscape it is perhaps unreasonable to consider this as a determining factor. Similarly, in terms of
the local impact, it is simply unknown whether the size and movement of the Arc would inhibit the use
and enjoyment of Millennium Square as some people fear, or diminish the existing public art.
However, what is accepted by all parties is that the Arc would cause some degree of harm to heritage
assets and in such situations the acceptability of a proposal depends on what ‘public benefits’ arise
from the proposal, and whether these are sufficient to outweigh the harm. This critical key issue will
now be considered.
C: WOULD THE PROPOSAL HARM DESIGNATED HERITAGE ASSETS AND IS THAT HARM
JUSTIFIED?
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its

Page 59

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

setting, the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.
The Authority is also required (under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990) to pay special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of the area.
Section 16 of the NPPF states at Paragraph 193, that when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the
asset’s conservation, and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Paragraph
194 states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset should require
clear and convincing justification. Paragraph 196 states that where there is less than substantial harm,
this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. Paragraph 200 states that
Council’s should look for opportunities for new development within Conservation Areas, and within the
setting of heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve
those elements of the setting that make a positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its
significance) should be treated favourably.
Policy BCS22 requires development to safeguard or enhance heritage assets, which includes historic
buildings, both nationally and locally listed, and conservation areas.
Policy DM31 states that development that has an impact upon a heritage asset will be expected to
conserve and, where appropriate, enhance the asset or its setting. The policy goes on to state that
where a proposal would affect the significance of a heritage asset the applicant will be expected to
demonstrate that all reasonable efforts have been made to mitigate the extent of the harm to the
significance of the asset.
HERITAGE ASSESSMENT
The identified heritage assets are identified as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Grade I listed Cathedral
Grade II* listed Great Gatehouse
Grade II* Cathedral School
Grade II* listed Old Deanery, Cathedral School
Grade II* listed Abbey House, Cathedral School
Grade II listed Former leadworks and attached chimney and wall
Grade II listed Canon’s Marsh Good Shed (We The Curious)
City Docks Conservation Area
City and Queen Square Conservation Area
College Green Conservation Area

In addition, in middle and long distance views the experience of the Grade I listed St Mary Redcliffe
Church; Grade II* listed Wills Memorial Tower; Grade II listed HH Wills Physics Building and Tower;
Grade II listed Cabot Tower and Grade II listed Bush warehouse (Arnolfini Gallery) are also affected
so have been included.

Page 60

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

It should be noted that when assessing what constitutes ‘harm’ to a heritage asset, the NPPF (paras
193-202) categorises harm into three areas: substantial harm; less than substantial harm; and no
harm. Substantial harm is any impact which could cause harm to or loss of the significance of a
heritage asset.
The Heritage Statement submitted with the application concludes that the Arc would have the
following impacts on these identified heritage assets:
•

The likely harm to the significance of the Cathedral is considered to be ‘slight to moderate’ of
‘less than substantial harm’.

In assessing the impact of the Arc on the setting, experience and appreciation of the Cathedral, The
Heritage Statement comments that it would be likely to have a ‘neutral’ effect, except when the
Cathedral is viewed from Park Street, across College Green. From this position the masts and cabin
of the Arc would iteratively appear close beside the Cathedral’s tower above its nave. The currently
unchallenged, complete dominance of the Cathedral against the skyline will be compromised as the
Arc moves towards the tower, halts, rotates, and sinks from view behind the tower. To that extent, the
Arc’s presence and pattern of movement within the view will adversely affect the spiritual symbolism
provided by the Cathedral’s current pre-eminent architectural standing and provide a distraction to
appreciation of its heritage and significance.
•

The likely harm to the Canon’s Marsh Goods Shed is considered to be a ‘moderate adverse’
effect of ‘less than substantial harm’.

The Heritage Statement comments that the Goods Shed would experience both direct impacts (from
the rooftop lounge extension, new stairway and lift) and indirect impacts from changes to its setting.
The new rooftop lounge would conceal the form and height of the original building, cumulatively
adding to the loss of legibility caused previously by the 1998 rooftop extension.
The presence of the Arc in Millennium Square would divert attention away from the listed Goods Shed
and harm its legibility and experience in views within its setting.
The Heritage Statement makes the point that this harm should be balanced by the Arc’s intimate
association with the Goods Shed and We the Curious as an attraction which would result in greater
numbers of visitors who would experience the listed building and learn from its significance. The
Statement considers this to be a considerable heritage benefit.
•

The likely harm to the Former leadworks and attached chimney and wall is considered to be
‘slight adverse’ effect of ‘less than substantial harm’

The Heritage Statement comments that the Arc would be clearly visible and markedly more eyecatching in local views alongside the listed building and its chimney. In some such views it would
largely obscure visibility of the chimney during its operation. The Arc would also change the character
of the listed building’s setting, affecting the contribution it makes to the significance of the leadworks
as a designated heritage asset.

Page 61

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB
•

The likely harm to the College Green Conservation Area is also considered to be ‘slight
adverse’ effect of ‘less than substantial harm’ on the significance of the Conservation Area as
a whole.

The Heritage Statement comments that from the meeting point of Park Street and College Green, the
key view identified in the College Green CA appraisal, the Arc would be clearly visible for part of its
cycle of movement. The Arc’s effect on the key view of the Cathedral as part of the Conservation Area
would be temporary but iterative, with an ascending movement to the left of the Cathedral’s tower
that, combined with its futuristic elegance, would prove eye-catching and hard to ignore. The
Statement states that undoubtedly that will impact upon and diminish the viewer’s experience of the
cathedral’s otherwise dominant presence, creating a competitor for attention and interest.
While visible from other vantage points in the Conservation Area, this is regarded as being the
primary adverse effect that the Arc would have upon it.
•

It is considered that the Arc would have a ‘slight to moderate beneficial’ effect on the City
Docks Conservation Area.

The Heritage Statement comments that very close views in Millennium Square, Anchor Square and
from Anchor Road, to the north of the Goods Shed would be adversely affected from a heritage
perspective (but not in landscape terms). However, beyond that, the Arc’s potential impact would
represent an enhancement to the Conservation Area’s character by adding further special interest,
vitality and movement. This would increase visitors’ appreciation of the Conservation area’s exciting
offer, adding a major new attraction to its recreational/educational/cultural facilities.
•

•

Wills Memorial Tower: The Arc would cause a limited amount of harmful impact on the
contribution the Wills Memorial Tower’s setting makes to its significance, however, by far the
greater part of its significance will remain entirely unaffected by the Arc. Overall, the effect of
the Arc on the significance of the Wills Memorial Tower is likely to be slight ‘less than
substantial’ harm.
Cabot Tower: The Arc would cause a very limited amount of harmful impact on the contribution
Cabot Tower’s setting makes to its significance. By far the greater part of its significance will
remain entirely unaffected by the Arc. The effect of the Arc on the significance of the Cabot
Tower is also likely to be slight ‘less than substantial’ harm.

For the remaining heritage assets considered in the Heritage Statement the impact of the Arc is
considered to be neutral.
The Statement also states that in all cases where a level of harm to significance is identified, the very
considerable heritage educational benefit that would be delivered by the Arc as its functional purpose
must be recognised as being a major counter-balancing factor.
City Design Group Response
In response to these findings, CDG comment that the harm caused is considered to be greater than
the extent detailed in the Heritage Statement.

Page 62

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

Impact on Cathedral precincts: Grade I and Grade II* Listed buildings
CDG comment that the Arc would have direct impacts on the setting of both the Grade I listed
Cathedral and the Grade II* Listed buildings in very close proximity, namely the former Abbey
buildings (now Bristol Cathedral Choir School).
The Arc would be a highly visible and incongruous addition into the setting of the Cathedral. It’s
among the highest graded buildings in the country, on the same level as Wells Cathedral, York
Minster, or Salisbury Cathedral, and, like any great medieval church, the presence of a new intrusion
of this nature is unwelcome. The church has been a landmark for mariners arriving and departing the
docks since its foundation in 1140. Its relationship with the waterfront is an essential aspect of its
historic significance, and anything that disturbs that relationship is likely to have a negative impact.
Whether positioned above the chancel from College Green, gesturing over the rooftops of the Abbey
buildings, or distracting from the landmark character of the Cathedral’s towers from the docks, the
Arc, through its alien scale, would be damaging to the historic significance of this important medieval
grouping. Views of the Cathedral towers between Prince Street Bridge and the public square to the
west of M-Shed will be impacted upon, including that from the viewing galleries of the museum. These
views have been the focus for development within the docks, and Harbourside, for decades, and
development that begins to undermine that landmark status is considered harmful.
Impact on Canon’s Marsh Goods Shed (We the Curious) Grade II Listed building
The proposals seek to make a substantial new extension to the rooftop. The existing roof structure is
to be extruded forwards as far as the main east elevation and across the existing green roof. This
extension now has an overbearing impact on the principal facade of the listed building. What was
suitable at a distance now becomes an over-dominant presence that significantly diminishes
understanding of the historic and architectural importance of the GWR building. The bulky, top-heavy,
composition created is further emphasised by an uncomplimentary choice of materials, alien to the
building; These attempt to make a show in their own right, rather than allowing the Listed building
adequate expression; it effectively becomes a podium deck on which the new development is
balanced uneasily over.
The new structures extend to the north of the building, further unbalancing the historic building and
seriously damaging the careful balance achieved in the 1998 conversion between old elements of
solid character, and new, visually lightweight additions in frameless glass and fine steel structure.
The addition of the Arc viewing structure to the south of the building further harms the well-composed
composition of old and new buildings achieved in 1998. The planetarium, a Locally Listed structure in
its own right, could lose its landmark status by the competing and dominant Arc base and armature.
The Arc is an uncomfortable and unnecessary accretion on the roof of the listed building, one
uncharacteristic of the Edwardian building or its award-wining additions.
Impact on other Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas
CDG further comment that there are a number of Listed historic buildings and the character of
Conservation Areas around the city that will be impacted by the Arc, and which the Council has a
statutory role to protect. Whether landmarks in panoramic views from the quay wall alongside the MShed, or from other locations within the Docks Conservation Area these buildings contribute to the

Page 63

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

identity of the city. The landmark quality of the Grade II* listed Wills tower, and the Grade II Listed
Cabot Tower will be marginalised by the proposed development which, through its singular height, will
become the focal point in important views across the docks from M-Shed.
Further to the east, along the harbour, the Arc would rise up high above the profile of the Arnolfini
gallery building, the Grade II Listed Bush Warehouse. It would remain an incongruous intrusion above
the low-lying historic roofscapes north of the harbour in views between Prince Street Bridge, and the
raised promenade of Redcliffe Parade. Queen Square is one of the most important historic public
spaces in the city, both through its design, and its historical interest. Although the ride will not project
above the roofline of the square when experienced from within its confines, it will be highly visible
along the southern edge, where the Brunel Mile is a principal route through it. The setting of Listed
buildings, and the character of the conservation area will be impaired by the proposed development,
though it does provide a new visual focus, albeit of incongruous character to that of the Conservation
Areas. Despite assertions it is considered unlikely that the ride will be interpreted as a ship mast or
crane in the docks through its size and design. Arguments put forward concerning this analogy and
the related heritage gain are not accepted.
Historic England in their assessment object to the application, and conclude that the Arc would cause
an unacceptable degree of harm to the setting of highly-graded heritage assets and the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area. The Arc would undermine the visual dominance of Bristol
Cathedral when viewed from the South side of the Floating Harbour, and the presence of the Arc
above the silhouette of the Cathedral would also detract from people’s appreciation of both the
Cathedral and the ensemble formed by City Hall, the Great Gatehouse and the Central Library
surrounding College Green. The impact would result in ‘less than substantial harm’, as defined under
the NPPF and does not meet the requirements of paragraph numbers 193, 194 and 200. Historic
England advise that alternative sites that have less impact on heritage assets should instead be
considered.
In addition, Historic England considers that the Arc would harm the setting of the Wills Memorial
Tower, however due to its arguably greater prominence and elevated position resulting in a more
extensive setting, the degree of harm is less than that caused to the setting of the Cathedral.
Similarly, the Arc would impact on views of the spire of St Mary Redcliffe Church as seen from
Brandon Hill, as it would compete with its primacy when in the vertical position. Historic England
considers this would result in a small degree of harm.
Justification
NPPF, paragraph 194 states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage
asset should require clear and convincing justification, which it is suggested by CDG should include
consideration of less harmful sites. The applicant has previously considered use of Museum Square
adjacent to M Shed, but other possible sites such as Albion Dockyard, The Grove, Castle Park,
Temple Quarter, The Centre or Cumberland Basin could be alternative locations. Many of these
locations would remove, or significantly reduce, the impact on the historic assets. However,
alternative locations may not be available or suitable and may raise other issues such as a harmful
impact on public realm.
The applicant has responded to this by stating that there is no policy or legal basis to have to assess
alternatives, however the following information has been provided.

Page 64

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

Albion Dock is not available as under Bristol Central Area Plan policy, locations around the Floating
Harbour that are currently used wholly or partially for maritime industries are safeguarded for that
purpose as Maritime Industrial and Warehousing Areas, and therefore are not considered available for
leisure or tourism uses.
McArthur’s Warehouse suggested uses [in the Bristol Central Action Plan] are housing, offices and
workspace. The site is too far distant to be viable, especially as the SS Great Britain’s pay point
perimeter severs pedestrian movement along the quayside, forcing active travellers inland.
The Grove / Mud Dock, Castle Park and Temple Quarter were considered and eliminated in
collaboration with the most senior executive and planning officers, (see Design Statement, Chapter B,
Section b3 Site Selection).
No site has been identified in the Centre. Cumberland Basin / Western Harbour is at the outset of
extensive transport and masterplanning, development and funding allocation which may last decades.
Its role as the entry point into the greater city from the west and the convergence of the A370, A3029,
A4 and A369 with the concomitant heavy transport infrastructure, flyovers and bridges and associated
perpetual noise and sterilisation makes this location everything the Arc could not accept.
PUBLIC BENEFITS
Notwithstanding the differences of opinion outlined above, there is agreement between all parties that
the Arc would result in ‘less than substantial harm’ to heritage assets, including harm to the Grade I
listed Cathedral. In accordance with Paragraph 196 of the NPPF this level of harm has to be weighed
against the public benefits of the development. These are put forward by the applicant as the
following:
Heritage benefits:
NPPF Paragraph 200 states that local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new
development within Conservation Areas and within the setting of heritage assets to enhance or better
reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive
contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be treated favourably.
The applicant considers that the Arc would both enhance and better reveal numerous heritage assets.
In particular:
•
•
•

Unique and varied aerial views of Bristol Cathedral, Cathedral School, Gatehouse, Library,
Abbey House and Former Leadworks would be better revealed by a journey within the Arc.
The topography and form of the City Docks Conservation Area and the Park Street and
Brandon Hill Conservation Area would be better revealed through the Arc’s aerial perspective.
The rich layered history of individual assets and different periods of building would be better
revealed and understood from an aerial perspective.

In addition the Heritage Statement identifies the following historic related public benefits from the Arc:
•
•

Increasing the number of visitors experiencing Bristol’s heritage annually.
Increasing the visibility and recognition of the importance of the City’s heritage, internationally.

Page 65

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB
•
•

•

•
•

•

•

Increasing visitor awareness and interest in We the Curious as an attraction and learning
experience and reinforcing its offer to visitors.
Creation of a fully accessible popular new learning attraction from which to experience and
understand Bristol’s historic environment and individual heritage assets, such as the
Cathedral, from a remarkable and thoroughly memorable angle.
Enabling people from all walks of life and academic backgrounds to understand the
topography, landscape, layout, and development of the City, its historic docks, its University,
historic core, suburbs, commerce, and transport infrastructure.
Reawakening/strengthening of the sense of historic importance of movement within the City
Docks and its Conservation Area.
Highly legible enhancement of the story of technological and design development in the Docks
– from hand crane to steam crane to electric crane to the Arc, as the cutting-edge use of the
same technology today.
Strengthening of the Council’s City Docks Conservation Area appraisal assessment that the
distinctive character and special interest of the Docks is enshrined in continuity, yet diversity of
innovative development generation by generation in the dockscape.
Continuity of and emphasis upon the long tradition of ‘Bristol First’: corporate and civic heritage
arising from iterative adoption by the City Council of innovative approaches, solutions and
technology.

Historic England, however, do not concur with these statements concerning heritage benefit and state
as follows:
“We advise that little weight should be given to the purported heritage benefit of increased visitor
numbers and providing new, elevated views over the historic centre of the city and Floating Harbour
and would not mitigate the harm. While Arc would offer an elevated view of the city from this particular
point, the steep and undulating topography of the city and public access to existing tall, historic
buildings (eg Cabot Tower and Wills Tower) already gives very good and varied elevated vistas over
Bristol. While the close range of the Cathedral precinct may give observers a more legible view of the
complex, this would not necessarily better reveal its significance”.
Historic England continue by stating in their third response (see above) that: “… while Arc may deliver
an increased number of visitors experiencing Bristol’s heritage and the ability to experience and
understand Bristol’s historic environment from a new perspective, these benefits are limited and do
not better reveal the significance of the historic environment to the extent that would mitigate the harm
outlined in our advice. The heritage values of those assets that would be affected can be experienced
within their existing individual and combined settings. An elevated view would not greatly increase this
experience and understanding; hence we place little weight on this particular benefit.”
Educational and Cultural Benefits:
The applicant states that leading on from, and linked to, the heritage benefits, WTC’s vision and
mission are focused on increasing its inspirational delivery. The Arc’s contribution of being able to see
a city from above, learn about its history and development, and then also the engineering and
technology which has brought them there is an enormously attractive proposition.

Page 66

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

The Arc will add to WTC’s inspirational propensity. The sheer exhilaration of Arc’s peerless, sweeping
motion carrying observers close above the fascinating prospect of the city achieves an unparalleled
visceral introduction to the wonders of the science which brought the city about.
Coupled with carefully choreographed stories created and told by enthusiastic guides, Arc will add
greatly to WTC’s reach.
Viewing this city science lab from above will be a truly different educational experience, offering
kinaesthetic learning-by-doing which will suit the widest number of people, whatever their learning
style or prior knowledge. Arc will create a magical, memorable experience on every voyage, and Arc’s
pilots will engage their audience with ever-changing stories about Bristol, interwoven with the stories
being told by WTC and in the city generally.
Gliding above the memories of the maritime industry of Canon’s Marsh and the Floating Harbour
coupled with the Arc’s engineering prodigy form a compelling educational narrative about innovation
and progress.
By combining Arc’s space-time motion with the Harbour overview location, Arc will achieve a firstclass educational experience irrespective of the observer’s educational prowess.
Social Inclusion:
Complementing WTC’s identical vision to inspire, enthuse and attract visitors to the pursuit of science,
the applicant states that it would be the Arc’s express intention to further this goal to a wider, more
diverse audience, some from audience sectors less comfortable with the concept. The Arc will also
bolster WTC’s existing outreach programme by channelling 10% of its profits to make available
educational and inspirational flights for those where funds would have been a hurdle. This would be
done through implementation of a ‘Social Innovation Programme’. Off-peak flights, priced at marginal
cost only, would maximise the reach of the funds to as wide an audience as possible.
There have been discussions with the applicant to obtain details on how the Social Innovation
Programme would work in practice, as the more socially inclusive the operation of the Arc, the greater
the degree of public benefit would be.
In response we have been advised that the Arc project is unique so there are no examples that can
be used to understand the detail. Instead, the Arc proposes to undertake a pilot study to identify how
the Programme would be delivered and evolve.
The applicant adds that, from personal experience, those who may benefit may be suspicious so
efforts would be channelled at first, through people who have gained the recipients’ trust. Existing
community programmes would, inevitably, be fully stretched and unable to divert attention unless they
have certainty, i.e. a scheme with consent, and funding. Consequently, the applicant advises that time
and money has to be invested to develop a programme. For that, staff are required, who would only
be appointed once funding has been obtained, which, in turn, depends on having planning consent.
The applicant has agreed to submit a unilateral obligation in the event of a planning approval, to plan
and budget to deliver, evaluate and review a social innovation programme in accordance with a 10%
of profit financial commitment.

Page 67

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

Using the Somalian community in Lawrence Hill as just one example, the social programme would
include working with local communities to identify potential pilots and story-tellers, helping them to
create a story of perhaps their origins and experiences: as a British protectorate since 1887 and with
Bristol’s maritime traditions, Somaliland has a long history with the city. Thus the first to benefit will be
those engaged in this learning experience. Once the content has been matured to an immersive, fully
rounded, multimedia, dual language presentation, the story-tellers would invite friends and relatives to
enjoy their dress rehearsals, which may have a competitive element to draw out the best. Somalian
cuisine would be served by Somali chefs in the ‘Workshed’ café with locally produced Somalian
merchandise in the shop.
Thus, as well as subsidising their attendance, the social innovation plan would be specifically
developed to engage these particular audiences and, hopefully, generate stories which all audiences
may enjoy. Successful story-tellers drawn from the communities would be offered employment in the
main programme. The critical point is that the stories would be developed and made their own by
those who narrate them, giving presenters a stake in the tale, helping their telling to remain fresh and
providing an ever-evolving, rich, personal and authentic experience for all passengers, encouraging
them to visit again and spread the word.
On the basis that Arc’s ticket sales are as per our expectation of around 7,000 flights, the social
innovation plan would subsidise about 70 flights, which is approximately 3,000 tickets or roughly 1%
of the total audience. Some tickets will include coach travel and a meal in addition to a narrated flight
in Arc and a tour of We The Curious.
Experience has shown that subsidised tickets should, nevertheless, be charged at a nominal amount,
say £5, to ensure that attendees place value on the experience and to make the programme go
further. A discretionary fund would be available to partner charities to waive this figure based on their
knowledge of the recipients.
We The Curious have two decades of track record in social engagement. Last year, they attracted
53,836 school visitors and 6,559 residents from the most deprived wards of Bristol. As Arc’s operator,
in accordance with their charitable objectives and the covenant in their 150 year lease with Bristol City
Council, WTC will integrate visits to Arc with their schools and outreach programmes.
In summary, the Arc is seen by the applicant as a unique education opportunity for Bristol. It will
enable a new and powerful learning experience, supported in turn by an inclusive and welcoming
approach to design and operation. It represents a resource which can be enjoyed and valued
academically, culturally, and socially by all. Such an addition to the educational resources of the city,
amplified by its association with WTC, is considered by the applicant to represent a significant public
benefit of a very high order.
The Council’s Education Department also support the proposals as an education opportunity (see
above).
Economic Benefits:
An Economic Impact Assessment was submitted with the application.
The assessment notes that WTC has been adversely affected by the COVID-19 crisis, and that they
are currently engaged in a recovery programme.

Page 68

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

The assessment states that the recovery could be assisted by collaboration with Arc Global Limited in
developing and operating the Arc project, which has the potential to transform We The Curious from
essentially a regional attraction into an attraction of national prominence. A recovery programme
incorporating the Arc could help, not just to attract more visitors to WTC, but to open up a completely
new visitor population, significantly enhancing WTC’s wider economic impact by increasing the
proportion of overnight stayers (visitors travelling more than 90 mins drive time) from one in five
currently to closer to one in two, many of whom will stay Bristol hotels and spend in Bristol’s
restaurants during their stay.
The Arc is forecast to attract between 250,000 and 330,000 visitors each year.
The total impact of monetary expenditure by visitors to WTC and the Arc combined is estimated at
approximately £25 million per annum. It is estimated that this expenditure would support an estimated
293 FTE jobs, or 440 individual full and part-time jobs.
In terms of the non-financial impacts of WTC and Arc Bristol, including their educational, scientific and
wider social impact, NAL estimate that the total value of benefits generated by Arc would equate to
£13.3 million in a steady state year.
This gives a combined economic value for the two attractions of £19.6 million for WTC and £13.3
million for Arc Bristol, equating to £32.9 million per annum. Discounted over 10 years and applying a
discount rate of 3.5% in line with HM Treasury guidance, gives a combined net present value (NPV)
for We The Curious and Arc of £273.2 million.
The Arc will directly create an estimated 22 full time equivalent positions in a flexible working pattern.
This includes pilots and engineers, marketing, curation, and creative roles. The erection, testing, and
operation of the Arc in Millennium Square, and the adaptation of WTC, will also create short-term and
long-term engineering and maintenance jobs. Additionally, the Arc will indirectly create and sustain
other jobs in the hotel, restaurant, leisure and travel sectors by virtue of the increased spend.
The Arc would therefore invest in WTC, expanding, and adapting an existing visitor attraction with a
new nationally relevant facility. The development will take advantage of an opportunity to develop a
complementary attraction both consistent with the current offer at WTC (capitalising on its
performance and potential), and the visitor draw of the Harbourside location.
The economic assessment has been reviewed by the Council’s Economic Development Team who
accept the methodology used and concur with the findings. The Regeneration Team also support the
proposals (see above).
Comments were made during public consultation that a similar attraction, the i360 in Brighton has not
been as popular as originally forecast.
In response the applicant has advised that the BA i360 is Brighton’s most popular paid-for attraction
and has achieved an attendance of 1.11 million visitors over the 3 years’ since opening (before
lockdown stymied all observation facilities), which, if achieved by the Arc, would be an outstanding
success. BA i360 has contributed £89.6m to the Brighton economy since opening and is forecast to
deliver £640m by its loan term 2041, equivalent to a return of £15.90 for every £1 of public sector
investment. The i360 supports 447 jobs. In 2017, Brighton welcomed 10.9m visitors and the tourist

Page 69

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

industry is worth £1.1bn to the city. In 2018, Bristol welcomed 23.2m visitors, 2.1m domestic and 0.6
overseas staying overnight and 20.5m day visitors and its tourist industry is worth £1.5bn.
For these reasons, the applicants strongly believe that Bristol is a better proposition – a much more
varied, dynamic and adventurous city with deeper stories, which will attract great demand. However,
the applicants say that they have been cautious in their business case and modest in their forecasts.
Exemplary Design:
The applicant considers that the complex design, layout, and the innovative technological and
engineering requirements combined with the bold, but contextually and historically driven outward
design of the Arc should, taken together, be viewed as ‘outstanding’. The design also is also
considered to ‘fit in’ with the overall form and layout of the surroundings. This includes the provision of
a highly unique public realm experience. The development would raise the standard of design for the
area and the city as a whole.
NPPF Paragraph 131 is therefore considered triggered, and ‘great weight’ in determination should be
attributed to the exceptional design of Arc. The applicant considers that this represents the delivery of
a public benefit of a high order.
Conclusion
Having set out the perceived public benefits the question to address is whether in combination they
carry sufficient weight to overcome the harm to heritage assets.
Historic England have clearly stated that little weight should be given to the purported heritage benefit
as the benefit of increased visitor numbers and the ability to view the heritage assets from a different
perspective do not mitigate the harm being done. Your officers concur with this position.
In considering the design, it is agreed that it is innovative, bold and exciting however, opinions on its
merits are mixed. It is also very large and within close proximity such as in Millennium Square the Arc
would be particularly dominant. It is considered that through its scale and bulk it does not ‘fit in’ with
the overall form and layout of its surroundings. For this reason NPPF Paragraph 131 does not apply
and again little weight should be attached to the design as a public benefit.
This then leaves the education and economic public benefits to be considered.
There is no doubt that the Arc has the potential to provide educational and cultural benefit, using
‘storytellers’ to provide narratives on each flight to describe the history and development of Bristol and
other subjects as described above. How well this would actually work in practice is unknown but the
potential is there.
To work as a wider public benefit, it would be necessary to extend the reach of the Arc so that all
parts of the community would be able to experience this educational opportunity, rather than just
those with the ability to pay. The greater the degree of social inclusion, the greater would be the
degree of public benefit.
To this end the applicant has agreed to develop a ‘Social Innovation Programme’ as a Unilateral
Undertaking in the event that planning consent is granted. The difficulty faced is that at this stage it is
not known how this would work in practice or how effective it would be in attracting sections of the

Page 70

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

community to experience the Arc. However there is clearly the opportunity to combine visits to the Arc
via the We The Curious Outreach Programme but again the details of this would need to be worked
out.
From the above some weight can be attached to the education public benefit but this is limited as
there is much uncertainty.
Turning to the final economic public benefit there is far less to question. The Arc would clearly be a
novel attraction that would attract much interest. As set out in the economic assessment, it would be a
significant addition to the range of tourist attractions available in Bristol and encourage a higher
number of overnight stays. It would be of direct benefit to We The Curious and would generally assist
the local economy through related expenditure.
While the education and particularly the economic public benefits are significant, the issue is whether
they are in themselves enough to mitigate the harm to heritage assets. The NPPF is very clear on this
point, stating at paragraph 193 that great weight should be given to an asset’s conservation, and the
more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. The proposed development would result
in a degree of “less-than-substantial” harm to assets afforded the greatest level of protection: Grade I
and Grade II* Listed buildings and their setting, namely the Cathedral and cloistral buildings.
Added to this is the scale of harm to the special character of the Conservation Areas, due to the scale
and dynamic nature of the Arc, and its impact on the quality of Millennium Square and environs,
protected by Conservation Area designation. Although lower-graded assets, the former leadworks and
the GWR Canon’s Marsh Goods Shed would also be harmed by the development.
Cumulatively all of these issues, and the impact on other designated Listed Buildings, have a
permanent and adverse impact on the historic environment as a whole and are considered to be of
such a scale that they are not outweighed by the public benefits.

D: WOULD THE PROPSED DEVELOPMENT SATISFACTORILY ADDRESS TRANSPORT AND
MOVEMENT ISSUES?
Policy BCS10 states that development should not give rise to highway safety issues and should
reduce the negative impacts of vehicles as far as possible. It also sets out transport user priorities,
with pedestrian and sustainable modes of transport taking precedence over the private car. Policy
DM23 states that development should not give rise to unacceptable traffic conditions.
Policy BCAP30 outlines a vision for Bristol City Centre with the aim to deliver it by 2026. The Policy
seeks to promote attractive, accessible and safe pedestrian routes in the city centre, and it confirms
the importance of traffic free quayside walkways for pedestrian and recreation use. Accordingly,
developments in and around the route should maintain accessibility and high standards.
Developments causing harm to the amenity and accessibility of pedestrian routes will not be
permitted. Policy BCAP32 identifies a primary network of pedestrian routes including Brunel Mile
which runs through Anchor Square and Millennium Square.
The application site is in a highly sustainable location, easily accessible by walking, cycling and public
transport. It is in an established visitor area where the proposed development would benefit from
linked trips to other tourist attractions in the harbourside.

Page 71

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

The application is supported by a Transport Statement and its findings conclude that there are no
significant impacts in terms of highway safety or the operational capacity of the surrounding transport
network and therefore planning permission should not be withheld on transport grounds.
Following the submission of further information TDM concur with the findings of the Transport
Statement, subject to planning conditions and the following Section 106 contributions (these have
been agreed with the applicant):
•
•
•

£2,000 towards the installation of a concrete cycle ramp up the Trinity Steps to College Green.
£50,000 towards the improvement to Cascade Steps which includes the surfacing, kerbing and
separation of the cycleway.
£5,335 – Travel plan monitoring and audit fee

In terms of transport and movement issues the development is therefore considered acceptable.

E: WOULD THE DEVELOPMENT HAVE AN IMPACT ON LOCAL AMENITY?
Policy BCS21 states that new development will be expected to safeguard the amenity of existing
development. Policy BCS23 states that development should avoid adversely impacting upon
environmental amenity by reason of, amongst other things, noise and air pollution.
The slender design of the Arc’s masts and its nature as a moving structure will minimise any potential
overshadowing or overbearing impacts. Whilst the Arc will be visible during flight from some dwellings,
the closest dwellings are 180m distant which is sufficiently far away to ensure that no harm will arise
to their amenity.
It should be noted that the nearest residential receptors to the Arc are to the west in Anchor Point,
Balmoral House, and Cathedral Walk. These are largely screened by intervening commercial
buildings. All other buildings in the immediate vicinity are in non-residential use.
The Arc will be powered entirely by green electricity, provided by solar PV panels and battery storage.
As such, no generators or engines will release fumes into the atmosphere and therefore no harmful
air quality impacts and no detriment to the Air Quality Management Area will result.
Taking the above into account, the proposed development is considered to be in accordance with
policies BCS21 and BCS23.

F: WOULD THE PROPOSAL SATISFACTORILY ADDRESS SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE
CHANGE ISSUES?
Policies BCS13, BCS14 and BCS15 give guidance on sustainability standards to be achieved in any
development, and what measures are to be included to ensure that development meets the climate
change goals of the development plan.
A chapter on sustainability was included in the applicant’s design statement which makes the
following points.

Page 72

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

Energy requirements would be minimised through the design. The tilt and turn motion of the Arc will
be powered by specialised electrical motors with fine tuning capability. The movement of the cabin
and masts is energy efficient and of a similar arrangement to observational wheels and astronomical
telescopes. In essence, the counterweight within the design serves to balance the load of the masts,
cabin and passengers so that the energy to move the Arc only needs to overcome inertia.
Renewable energy sources would then be utilised to satisfy the reduced energy requirement. The
electrical energy which drives the motors for the Arc would come from photovoltaic panels mounted
on the roof of WTC. Surplus energy generated will be stored in second-hand batteries for later use.
The Arc’s power consumption would be less than the solar panel yield, so the Arc would be
completely solar powered.
The proposal satisfies the requirements of policies BCS 13 – 16.

CONCLUSION
This planning application seeks the development of a large moving observational structure to be
known as the Arc, which would provide aerial views across the city and would measure approximately
78 metres at full height.
It would be a unique, moving structure of elegant construction and would contrast with its
surroundings. There are differing views on the visual impact the Arc would have on the townscape.
As a large, moving structure the Arc would be noticeable and would result in a degree of ‘less than
substantial’ harm to heritage assets which include the Cathedral, a Grade I listed building, Grade II*
and Grade II listed buildings, including extensions and alterations to the GWR Goods Shed Building
(We The Curious building), and several Conservation Areas. This needs to be given significant weight
when considering whether or not the proposal merits approval. There are outstanding objections from
Historic England and the Victorian Society to the proposals.
The proposal does provide public benefits. It would provide opportunities for educational and cultural
benefit, although there is uncertainty over how this would work in practice and how extensive its reach
would be to ensure the opportunity is open to the wider public.
The proposal would clearly be a significant addition to the range of tourist attractions in the city centre
of Bristol and Harbourside. This would deliver economic public benefit through attracting visitors,
encouraging a higher number of overnight stays and consequent higher levels of related expenditure
in the local economy. The Arc would also directly support ‘We The Curious’.
The heritage public benefits purported by the applicant are however, given very little weight for the
reasons set out in the responses received from Historic England on this issue.
While the public benefits are significant, the issue is whether they are in themselves enough to
mitigate the harm to heritage assets. In view of the great weight that should be given to the
conservation of important heritage assets as set out in the NPPF it is considered that the benefits do
not outweigh the scale of the harm involved and accordingly, the applications are recommended for
refusal.

Page 73

Item no. 1
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 20/04474/F & 20/04475/LA: We The Curious One Millenium Square Anchor
Road Bristol BS1 5DB

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT
During the determination of this application due regard has been given to the impact of this scheme in
relation to the Equalities Act 2010 in terms of its impact upon the key equalities protected
characteristics. These characteristics are age, disability, gender realignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. Overall, it is
considered that if approved, this application would not have any significant adverse impact upon
different groups or implications for the Equalities Act 2010.

RECOMMENDATION:
A: In respect of 20/04474/F: Refused for the following reason:
By reason of its siting, scale, form and design, the proposed development would fail to contribute
positively to the character and appearance of the City Docks Conservation Area. The proposal would
result in an unsympathetic form of development that would result in less than substantial harm to
identified heritage assets; the setting of the Grade I listed Cathedral, the Grade II* listed former Abbey
buildings (Bristol Cathedral Choir School), the Grade II listed GWR Works Shed and the Grade II
Former Leadworks. The proposal would also harm the character and appearance of the City Docks
Conservation Area, the City and Queen Square Conservation Area and the College Green
Conservation Area. The public benefits associated with the proposed development are not considered
to outweigh the identified harm. The proposal therefore conflicts with guidance contained within
Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990; S16 of the
NPPF, policies BCS21 and BCS22 of the Bristol Development Framework Core Strategy 2011, and
policies DM26, DM30 and DM31 of the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 2014.
B: In respect of 20/04475/LA: Refused for the following reason:
By reason of its siting, scale, form and design, the proposed development would result in an
unsympathetic form of development that would result in less than substantial harm to identified
heritage assets; the setting of the Grade I listed Cathedral, the Grade II* listed former Abbey buildings
(Bristol Cathedral Choir School), the Grade II listed GWR Works Shed and the Grade II Former
Leadworks. The public benefits associated with the proposed development are not considered to
outweigh the identified harm. The proposal therefore conflicts with guidance contained within Sections
66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990; S16 of the NPPF,
policies BCS22 of the Bristol Development Framework Core Strategy 2011, and policies DM26 and
DM31 of the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 2014.

commdelgranted
V1.0211

Page 74

APPENDIX 1: Applicant’s Response to Historic England Comments.

Historic England Response
Points from its letter of 30th November 2020

Applicant’s Response to Case Officer
The dominance of the Cathedral viewed from the river to the south in the early medieval
period is unquestionable, the ground in front of the slope on which it was built being
marsh. However, this is but one aspect in the far wider contribution made by setting to
its significance and, with respect, is historically selective and, arguably, overplays the
point. As Historic England notes, there has been very considerable change in this setting
in the intervening 900 years, and the appearance and dominance of the Cathedral have
also changed markedly, especially with the building of its towers much later than the
Norman period. Until mid-20th century decline and closure, arguably, the visibility and
appreciation of the Cathedral in this stated view were greatly diminished – and in part,
obliterated - by the bustling noisy commercial docks, tall warehouses (up to seven storeys)
built on Canon’s Marsh, the highly toxic smoke from the leadworks chimney, and the masts
and superstructures of its many ships. The issue to be considered, and that has been
dealt with in the heritage statement and its addendum are of the kinetic impact of Arc on
the contribution made by the Cathedral’s setting to its significance. The ‘powerful political
statement of overlordship’ attribute seems unlikely to be adversely affected by Arc’s
presence and movement.

The Heritage Statement argues that harm to heritage significance as a result of Arc
would be slight to moderate and this would be off-set by the heritage benefits offered
by the development. This would include an increased number of visitors experiencing
Bristol’s heritage; the ability to experience and understand Bristol’s historic
environment and individual heritage assets, such as the Cathedral, from a new
perspectives; and continuing Bristol’s story of technological and design development
in the Docks.

Historic England’s advice that little weight should be given to the heritage benefit of
increased visitor numbers etc is noted, but no explanation is given as to why this advice
is given and on what grounds the claim is made that it would amount to being of little
value. The benefit is not simply a heritage benefit, but also an educational benefit as well
as being a commercial one to the wider City. The heritage statement does not claim that
it will completely mitigate harm to significance, but to rule it out entirely as mitigation
seems wholly inappropriate, especially as no justification is made for doing so.

Page 75

The proposed Arc would undermine the visual dominance of Bristol Cathedral when
viewed from the South side of the floating harbour. As a major Norman architectural
foundation, the location of the building when entering Bristol by river was a powerful
political statement of overlord-ship. The visual dominance of the Cathedral and its
connection to the historic waterways would be challenged if the Arc were to be
constructed in the foreground of views from the South side of the harbour. It is
acknowledged that these views have changed considerably since the foundation of
the Cathedral, but development has generally respected its visual dominance.

We advise that little weight should be given to the purported heritage benefit of
increased visitor numbers and providing new, elevated views over the historic centre
of the city and Floating Harbour and would not mitigate the harm.

Appendix 2: Comments on Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment
Report

City Design Group Consultation Response (verbatim)

Applicant’s Response to CDG and Case Officer

Page 76

Viewpoint 1 – View looking west from Narrow Quay
Existing image and proposed verified view should occupy separate A3 pages. Wider
angle context image is useful but should be on a separate page.

It is accepted that Arc introduces a new element and focus to this view but we dispute
that it is incongruous and dominating – our independent consultant’s view is slight
beneficial.

The proposal introduces
a new incongruous
element within the Harbourside
Conservation Area without contributing to the harbourside character. The structure
dominates the view frame, creating a new and unnecessary focus within the
conservation area. From this viewpoint the proposal is judged to be of moderate
adverse effect.

In this view exists the contemporary sinuous Pero’s Bridge with its dramatic gun-metal
coloured flute bascule counterweights, the white painted steel masts of the Aquarium
tented structure and the tan coloured timber masts of the South Building, together with
contemporary restorations of the dockside warehouses. Shed V and E.
Most observers will conclude that Arc adds to the dynamism and interest of the scene –
a fascinating landmark improving the legibility of Millennium Square as an important
destination and way point on the Brunel Mile journey.
The scene is no stranger to masts, with St Augustine’s Reach serving as a marina for
yachts, formerly masted schooners bound for anywhere in the globe, with V and W
Sheds surmounted by cranes, see Figures 13 and 14 in Chapter B, page 15.

Viewpoint 1.1 – View looking west from side of Pero’s Bridge; verified view not
provided

City Design Group Consultation Response (verbatim)
Viewpoint 1.2 – View looking west from centre of Anchor Square. The proposal
adversely impacts the appearance and significance of the grade II listed Canon’s
Marsh Goods Shed. The counterweight and support structure’s impact the setting of
the Goods Shed and clutter the visual link between Anchor Square and Millennium
Square. By causing harm to the listed goods shed and hindering the legibility of the
route between the two squares the proposal is judged to result in significant adverse
effect.

Page 77

Note that the Senior Conservation Architect has made separate and specific
comments on the effects on the listed buildings.

Applicant’s Response to CDG and Case Officer
TVIA assesses Slight Beneficial. The south-side setting of We The Curious enjoys the
successful and contemporary spherical Planetarium set against the backdrop of the
Casino development. Arc’s keel adds the complementary geometric form of a cylinder
into a context of geometric forms – triangular prisms, arcs, cuboids and spheres – and
the quillon introduces a Moon crescent to the astronomical figure-of-eight analemma
light sculpture by David Ward.
Anchor Square can be beautifully clear as in the photographs or, as in the previous
viewpoint, full of transient attractions like the Ferris Wheel or a helter-skelter. If this
collection of interest is considered clutter, it is popular clutter, and it is irrational to
consider that the addition of Arc tips the balance in this view from serenity to chaos,
from slight beneficial to significant adverse.
Arc’s presence will clarify the legibility of the route and destination. Visitors to the city
cannot fail to have their orientation improved by the presence of a landmark which is so
memorable and visible – having walked or cycled from Temple Meads station with Arc
increasing in view. Pedestrians familiar with the squares already know that the route
continues and have a range of 6 options at the transition, none of which Arc will impair
as confirmed by the TDM response dated 5th December 2020.

Viewpoint 1.3 – View looking west onto Millennium Square from Anchor Square;
verified view not provided

Viewpoint 2 – View looking west from Queens Quay, 33 Queens Square
Existing image and proposed verified view should occupy separate A3 pages. Wider
angle context image is useful but should be on a separate page.
Queen Square was the subject of an historic restoration scheme to recreate as far as
practicable its Georgian townscape, one of the largest squares of its time throughout
Europe. The view of the ride is incongruous in this context, harmful to both the
character of Queen Square and the wider City and Queen Square Conservation Area.
From this viewpoint, due to the importance and quality of the historic context within
Queen Square the proposal is judged to have a moderate adverse impact.

City Design Group Consultation Response (verbatim)
Viewpoint 3 – View looking northwest from Princes Wharf, M Shed

Page 78

Existing image and proposed verified view should occupy separate A3 pages. Wider
angle context image is useful but should be on a separate page
The view incorporates a number of key landmark buildings - Cabot Tower, Cathedral,
Royal Fort – that characterise the Bristol skyline from this viewpoint, as well as
buildings fronting the harbour that express the strongly horizontal form typical of the
conservation area. The proposal reduces the significance of the historic structures
within the view. Also as with viewpoint 1 the proposal does little to add to the
character of the conservation area and arguably detracts from it more through the
movement of the Arc through its flight pattern; slight to moderate adverse impact.

Arc is illustrated at 55mm high, which at a full height of 72m to cabin top at a distance
of 389m away from which the photograph is taken, would allow the viewer to match the
photograph and the view at about 300mm from the viewer’s eye.
The view illustrates the presence of the proposal through one of the gaps in between
the buildings enclosing the square. To the careful observer, the M Shed cranes and St
Mary Redcliffe are just distinguishable above the roofs to the south and south-east
respectively.
The character of Queen Square is therefore contained within itself and the observer is
under no illusion that the modern city does not exist outside its confines. For transient
viewers walking along the Brunel Mile towards the destination of Millennium Square et
al, Arc will be naturally perceived as belonging to the modern city and not the square.
For everywhere else in the square, viewers will be unaware of Arc and their enjoyment
of the space unchanged. For these reasons, we assess the effect to be slight beneficial.

Applicant’s Response to CDG and Case Officer
Arc is illustrated at 73mm tall, which matches what it should appear to be at 293m
distant. The illustrations accurately present the proposal.
No viewer in the valley floor to the south can see Royal Fort house which is entirely
screened by the elevation of St Michael’s Hill and the enclosing University of Bristol
Engineering Building. The much taller and visible building is the University of Bristol Wills
Physics building.

The buildings in this view do indeed express the strongly horizontal form of the retained
dockside warehousing at the eastern end of the dock, with M and L Sheds immediately
to the observer’s left. However, this currently uncluttered view has not always been so.
In the recent past, the view was dominated by the bonded tobacco warehouse and for
centuries before that, a forest of masts of cranes and ships, see selected illustrations
from thousands, Chapter B Figures 11-14, pp14-15. The conservation area celebrates
the docks as shaping Bristol’s sense of place as a great maritime city, CA17, §4.2.
Chapter B Figure 8 and 21, illustrate the remaining ghosts of the masted past.
A visual assessment of this context should acknowledge the particular maritime sense of
place created by tall, vertical, moving masts set against horizontal-form, utilitarian
warehouses.
It is for this reason that we assess the impact in the view to be slight beneficial.

Viewpoints 3.1 and 3.2 - from Museum Square and the Fairburn Steam Crane
respectively – verified views not provided. Arising from the potential harm to an
appreciation of the cathedral in 3.2 we ask for this to be viewpoint to be modelled.

Please see new kinetic views provided as per Historic England request, Chapter J.

Viewpoint 4 – Pedestrians at Bath Basin, Lower Guinea Street
Existing image and proposed verified view should occupy separate A3 pages. Wider
angle context image is useful but should be on a separate page.
Significance of effect agreed – neutral
Viewpoint 5 – View looking North from Gaol Ferry Bridge, southern end
Significance of effect agreed – neutral

City Design Group Consultation Response (verbatim)

Applicant’s Response to CDG and Case Officer

Viewpoint 6 – View looking east from No1 Brunel Square, Great Western Dock

Page 79

Significance of effect agreed – neutral

Viewpoint 7 – View looking from Cascade Steps at Broad Quay
Existing image and proposed verified view should occupy separate A3 pages. Wider
angle context image is useful but should be on a separate page.
As with viewpoint 1 above the proposal introduces a new incongruous element within
the Harbour side Conservation Area without contributing to the harbor side character.
From this viewpoint the proposal is judged to be of slight adverse effect.

Viewpoint 8 – View looking east along Hotwell Road
Existing image and proposed verified view should occupy separate A3 pages. Wider
angle context image is useful but should be on a separate page
Significance of effect agreed – negligible

Arc is illustrated at 70mm tall, which at a distance of 304m, is correct.
As with Viewpoint 3, Arc introduces a contemporary mast into a maritime context soaked with

the memories of masts, melding, as docks always have, the superposition of vertical elements
against a workaday horizontal ground.

Viewpoint 9 – Upper platform Cabot Tower
Existing image and proposed verified view should occupy separate A3 pages. Wider
angle context image is useful but should be on a separate page.
Significance of effect agreed – neutral

City Design Group Consultation Response (verbatim)

Applicant’s Response to CDG and Case Officer

Page 80

Viewpoints 10 & 10.1 – Views Looking south from College Green

Please see additional kinetic views submitted.

Existing images and proposed verified views should occupy separate A3 pages. Wider
angle context images are useful but should be on a separate page.

Viewpoint 10.1 was added to the TVIA because when the montage had been prepared
and verified, it was evident that Arc was not visible. Viewpoint 10.1 shows the view of
Arc over the Cathedral from the small portion of College Green where this is so.

Views of the grade I listed Cathedral and its setting within College Green are one of
Bristol’s most valued historic townscapes. Though the proposed ride is revealed only
slightly within view 10, its visual effect in view10.1 will provide a major distraction

within the frame; its intermittent appearance during operational hours will exacerbate
it’s alien character within the view. And is regarded here as resulting in a significant
adverse effect.

Historic England’s consultation response, 30th November 2020, says that Arc “will
detract” people’s appreciation in this view. Dr Bond assesses that, “Arc’s presence and

pattern of movement within the view will adversely affect the spiritual symbolism
provided by the Cathedral’s current pre-eminent architectural standing and provide a
distraction to appreciation of its heritage value and significance. Not- withstanding the
absence of any further negative impacts affecting the remainder of the contribution
made to significance by the Cathedral’s setting, on that basis, it is concluded that Arc
will have a slight to moderate adverse effect on the listed Cathedral’s significance.”, HS.
§5.3.7.

It is common ground that there will be an element of harm in this view but assessors
disagree on the extent.

Viewpoint 11 – Looking south west from Anchor Road
The impact of the alterations to the listed goods warehouse has been commented
upon in relation to view 1.2. The harm arising to the building will be the subject of
comments from the Senior Historic Environment Officer. In terms of the townscape
impact the diminution of the historic architecture is of a lesser degree than that in
view 1.2, but is still regarded in effect as slight to moderate adverse.

City Design Group Consultation Response (verbatim)

The diminution of the historic character of the GWR is imperceptible over the change
wrought by the Wilkinson Eyre remodelling. The presence of the Aquarium to the left is
so large that it exceeds the camera’s field of view.
As illustrated in Chapter B Figure 55, p32, the A4 Anchor Road, diverted from its route
along the north façade of the cathedral to the south, is lined for the next 560m with
contemporary offices and residential developments two to three times taller than the
Wilkinson Eyre rooftop extension to the GWR Shed. The receptors travelling along this
noisy arterial route are the least sensitive to change, which is why we assess the impact
to be neutral.

Applicant’s Response to CDG and Case Officer

Page 81

Viewpoint 12 – Looking north east from Millennium Square
The visual effects are of a similar order to those described for viewpoint 1.2 above;
diminishment of the listed goods warehouse caused by an extension of the more
contemporary architecture to house the ride access facilities, visual intrusion to the
setting of the listed building by caused by the support pillar and counterweight and
overall clutter of elements. The visual effect on the townscape is less harmful than
that in view 1.2; moderate adverse

At the request of Historic England, we have prepared an additional view from the southeast corner of Millennium Square, Chapter J, Figure 12. This illustrates that the view of
the cathedral visible over the roof of the GWR Shed was obscured by the roof extension
as identified by Novell Tullett in their Environmental Statement, Figure 15(b), replicated
in Chapter C, p13. To an observer at the southernmost extent of Millennium Square, the
proposed lounge will obscure the very top of the cathedral’s southern curtain wall. Most
of the square is screened from the cathedral by the GWR Shed.
The Leadworks chimney and the top of Radisson Blu are visible above Anchor Square
but the cathedral cannot be seen over We The Curious, exactly as anticipated by Novell
Tullett in their illustration 15(b), see Chapter C, p13.
Arc is an unmistakable and exciting contemporary addition to the square while the
careful continuation of the design principles of the lounge extension make it necessary
to refer back to the unmodified photograph to see where the one becomes the other.

Page 82

We disagree that Arc “diminishes” the significance of the Listed shed to any greater
extent than does the Wilkinson Eyre extension – they are of a piece. Clearly the latter
was consented and the resultant science centre has been a fabulous champion of science
ever since, welcoming some 3 million visitors. No one would doubt now that whatever
heritage harm might
have been attributed to the remodelling, it is significantly
outweighed by the public benefits.
It is for these reasons that we assess the impact to be moderate beneficial.
Viewpoint 13 – View looking south from Trinity Street steps
Not yet modelled. This may be required in the comments of the Senior Historic
Environment Officer.

It should be noted that this lower part of Trinity Steps is framed entirely by modern
development and that the view represents the furthest back from which any view of the
proposal may been seen. Above this point, trees and Trinity, see Chapter B, Figure 16,
p15, intervene.

Supporting Documents
1.

We The Curious, One Millenium Square Anchor Road

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Proposed Site Plan Swept Path
Existing Elevations North and West
Existing Elevations South and East
Proposed Elevations North and West
Proposed Elevations South and East
Proposed Second Floor plan
Proposed Cross Section AA
Context Sections ABC Proposed
Context Sections DE Proposed

Page 83

9.1m

Key
WTC land ownership
boundary

15° above horizontal
9,590m²

d
a
o
R
r
o
h
c
n
A

Bristol Aquarium

Watershed
L
R
F
m
0
2
3
.
4
+2

L
R
F
m
3
7
2
.
3
+2

L
R
F
m
0
2
3
.
4
+2

L
R
F
m
0
2
3
.
4
+2

ollege

L
R
F
m
0
2
3
.
4
+2

quare

outh
Ar
cf
l
i
gh
tp
at
h

e
ore Lan
Expl

l
i
m

i
t

We The Curious
Anchor
Square

r4
i
a
t
S
L
R
F
m
0
2
3
.
4
+2

L
R
F
m
0
2
3
.
4
+2

h
c
n
e
b
h
c
n
e
b

r3
i
a
t
S
LP

3000

LP

Page 84

P
e
r
o
'
sB
r
i
d
g
e

Sign

h
nc
be

bench

b
e
n
c
h

e
d
a
n
e
m
o
r
P
m
u
i
n
n
e
l
l
Mi

Post

Millennium
Square

B
L

B
L

Harbour

8.5m

Waterfront
Square

y
sWa
n
o
n
a
C
0

5

25

50

Arc Bristol
ISO 19650 BIM Reference

Drawing No.

3558-WTC-SRA-PR-00-DR-A-PL-102-B Site Plan proposed swept path
Volume Level

Type

Role For

Rev Title

Project No.

Originator

Drawn by

Checked by

Approved by

A3 Scale

Date

Reason for Issue

MS

DB

NS

1:750

01/09/2020

PLANNING

Number

75m

Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2019. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

|

|

www.sra-architects.co.uk

© (UK 2020) SRA Architects LLP. Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing.

Roof access ladder: metal.

Glazed curtain walling.
Gallery

Photovoltaics

Terrace balustrade, exposed concrete.

Frame colour: dark grey.

Colour: dark grey

Roof
24.320m AOD

20.335m AOD
Roof
19.125m AOD

15.570m AOD

covered arcade

9.000m AOD

Frameless structural glazing

Page 85

Glazed curtain walling.

Photovoltaics

Frame colour: dark grey.
Glazed balustrade to end of terrace

Glazed balustrade to end of terrace
Mirrored cladding to Planetarium

Roof access ladder: metal.

20.335m AOD
Roof
19.125m AOD

15.570m AOD

Frameless structural glazing

Covered arcade

9.000m AOD

Arc Bristol
ISO 19650 BIM Reference

Drawing No.

LEP

GOODS

LIFT

LEP

Volume Level

Type

Role For

Rev Title

Project No.

Originator

Drawn by

Checked by

Approved by

A3 Scale

Date

Reason for Issue

SO'D

MS

DB

1:250

01/09/2020

PLANNING

Number

PASSENGER
R003

LIFT
LIFT LOBBY

METER
ROOM

LV SWR

HV SWR
R002
'STAR
WALK'

R001
STAIR 01

GAS
STORE

EXTERNAL ARCADE

0

1

2

3

4

5

10

20m

|

|

www.sra-architects.co.uk

© (UK 2020) SRA Architects LLP. Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing.

Photovoltaics

Glazed curtain walling.

Terrace balustrade, exposed concrete.

Frame colour: dark grey.

Roof
24.320m AOD
Metal louvres. Colour: grey

Timber sash windows

20.335m AOD

15.570m AOD

covered arcade

9.000m AOD
Glazed curtain walling. Frame colour: grey.

Page 86

Glazed balustrade to end
of terrace

Roof
24.320m AOD

Metal louvres. Colour: grey
Glazed balustrade to end
of terrace

20.335m AOD
Roof
19.125m AOD

15.570m AOD

Frameless structural glazing

9.000m AOD
Timber sash windows

Glazed curtain walling. Frame colour: grey.

Fire escape doors
Metal windows.

Arc Bristol
ISO 19650 BIM Reference

LEP

Drawing No.

GOODS

LIFT

LEP

PASSENGER
R003

LIFT
LIFT LOBBY

METER

Volume Level

Type

Role For

Rev Title

Project No.

Originator

Drawn by

Checked by

Approved by

A3 Scale

Date

Reason for Issue

SO'D

MS

DB

1:250

01/09/2020

PLANNING

ROOM

Number

LV SWR

HV SWR
R002
'STAR
WALK'

R001
STAIR 01

GAS
STORE

EXTERNAL ARCADE

0

1

2

3

4

5

10

20m

|

|

www.sra-architects.co.uk

© (UK 2020) SRA Architects LLP. Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing.

NEW EXTENSION

Arc fulcrum
25.000m AOD

6
5
1

24.320m AOD

7
Second and Cabin

2

20.335m AOD

2

4

6

3

3
8

Roof
19.125m AOD

15.570m AOD

9.000m AOD

ARC DOCK & ESCAPE STAIR

Page 87

Arc fulcrum
25.000m AOD

6

6

5
1

7

Second and Cabin

4

20.335m AOD

8

Roof
19.125m AOD

15.570m AOD

9.000m AOD

1

3

2

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

A

Arc Bristol

A

Flat roof (gravel)

Materials key

B

ISO 19650 BIM Reference

B

North-facing Terrace
Timber Decking

Drawing No.

RL

C

C

Plant
(unheated)
Plant
(unheated)
RL
Rosalind Franklin Room

Kitchen

Volume Level

Type

Role For

Rev Title

Project No.

Originator

Drawn by

Checked by

Approved by

A3 Scale

Date

Reason for Issue

MS

DB

NS

1:250

01/09/2020

PLANNING

Number

RL
D

D

3. Mid-grey metallic cladding

Sedum Roof

Lobby

Roof
access

Lobby

Lobby

RL

4. Glass balustrade with stainless steel handrail
0

1

2

3

4

5

10

The Annexe

Stair 3

20m

Stair 4
Flat roof

E

E

RL

South-facing Terrace

RL

Timber Decking

6. Photovoltaic panels

Sedum Roof

F

F

1

8. Painted steel swan props for masts

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

G

|

|

www.sra-architects.co.uk

© (UK 2020) SRA Architects LLP. Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing.

Arc fulcrum
25.000m AOD

6
5

24.320m AOD

1
2

2

4

20.335m AOD

20.335m AOD

3

15.570m AOD

9.000m AOD

ARC LOUNGE & TERRACE

ESCAPE STAIR & LIFT

Page 88

Arc fulcrum
25.000m AOD

6
24.320m AOD

5

2
20.335m AOD
Roof
19.125m AOD

1

1

2

4
Arc cabin dock
20.335m AOD

3
2

15.570m AOD

1

9.000m AOD

1

3

2

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

Materials key

3. Mid-grey metallic cladding
4. Glass balustrade with stainless steel handrail

6. Photovoltaic panels

Stair 3

Stair 4

E

E

F

F

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1:250

11

G

1:250

01/09/2020

1

3

2

5

4

6

7

8

9

10

11

A

A

FFL 19.345m

Void

Stair
23.1m²

4m³ ballast

17.9m²

reservoir
2m tall incl
freeboard.

20.4m²

Promontories

Flat roof (gravel)

B

B

North-facing Terrace

Lobby
North Terrace

16.8m²

81.9m²
FFL 20.335m

Timber Decking

RL
Cabin Store,
Cleaning,
Workshop

Crew

40.8m²

18.1m²

Retail

9m²

53.6m²

C

C
Plant

Plant
(unheated)

61.0m²

Plant
(unheated)
RL
Rosalind Franklin Room

Toilets

Kitchen

Theatre

Unisex

105.7m²
FFL 20.335m

43.6m²

RL
D

D

Page 89

Sedum Roof

Lobby

Roof
access

Luggage
10.7m²

Changing
Room
Toilet
12.8m²

Sedum Roof
FFL 19.125m

Lobby

Entrance

Lobby

23.6m²
FFL 20.335m

RL

162.1m²

Kitchen
34.4m²

The Annexe

Stair 3

Stair 4

Bar
22.7m²

Flat roof

E

E
South Terrace

RL

South-facing Terrace

RL

44.7m²
FFL 20.335m

Roof overhang

Timber Decking

Sedum Roof
Sedum Roof
FFL 19.125m

F

F

1

2

3

5

4

6

7

8

9

10

11

G

Arc Bristol
ISO 19650 BIM Reference

0

1

2

3

4

5

10

Volume Level

Drawing No.

Type

Role For

Rev Title

Project No.

Originator

Drawn by

Checked by

Approved by

A3 Scale

Date

Reason for Issue

MS

DB

NS

1:250

01/09/2020

PLANNING

Number

20m

|

|

www.sra-architects.co.uk

© (UK 2020) SRA Architects LLP. Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing.

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

Ba

Bb

Bc

Ca

Cb

Cc

Cd

Da

Db

Dc

De

Dd

Ea

Arc fulcrum
25.000m AOD
Roof
24.320m AOD

Terrace

Dock

Arc Cabin

20.335m AOD

Page 90

Roof
19.125m AOD

*

*

*

*
Laboratory

*
Prep

*
Laboratory

*

*
WCs

Lobby

15.570m AOD

Stair 2

Café

Entrance

Shop

9.00m AOD

Notes

Existing rf columns at first floor
must be bypassed with new

steels bearing on first floor
Hennebique main rf frame
structure and passing through
roof to receive lounge
construction. Subject to
Structural Engineer's design.

1

3

2

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

A

A

Flat roof (gravel)

B

B

North-facing Terrace
Timber Decking

RL

C

C

Arc Bristol

Plant
(unheated)
Plant
(unheated)
RL
Rosalind Franklin Room

Kitchen

RL
D

D

Sedum Roof

Lobby

Roof
access

Lobby

Lobby

ISO 19650 BIM Reference

Drawing No.

RL

The Annexe

Stair 3

Stair 4
Flat roof

E

E

RL

South-facing Terrace

RL

Timber Decking
Sedum Roof

F

Volume Level

Type

Role For

Rev Title

Project No.

Originator

Drawn by

Checked by

Approved by

A3 Scale

Date

Reason for Issue

MS

DB

NS

1:250

01/09/2020

PLANNING

Number

F

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

G

0

1

2

3

4

5

10

20m

|

|

www.sra-architects.co.uk

© (UK 2020) SRA Architects LLP. Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing.

Arc mast tip (78.7m AGL)
87.70m AOD

Arc passenger eyeline (69m AGL)
78.00m AOD

Bristol Cathedral (44m AGL)
c. 63.40m AOD

1
5
ºa
b
o
v
eh
o
r
i
z
o
n
t
a
l

We The Curious roof level
24.32m AOD

College Green
17.70m AOD

We the Curious ground level
9.00m AOD

0.00m AOD

1:250

Lloyds Building and Amphitheatre

Millennium Square

We The Curious

Anchor Rd

Bristol Cathedral

College Green

87.70m AOD

Arc passenger eyeline (69m AGL)
78.00m AOD

A
Bristol Cathedral (44m AGL)
c. 63.40m AOD

College Green
17.1m

eet
Str
ty
ni
Tri

8m
7.
1

Bristol Cathedral

ty Steps
ni
Tri

College
Square

Page 91

1
5
ºa
b
o
v
eh
o
r
i
z
o
n
t
a
l

l
a
t
n
o
z
i
r
o
eh
v
o
b
a
º
5
1

8.8m

9.1m

d
a
o
R
r
o
h
c
n
A

Bristol Aquarium

Watershed

College
Square
South

We The Curious

e
ore Lan
Expl

We The Curious roof level
24.32m AOD

Anchor

Square

B

College Green
P
e
r
o
'
sB
r
i
d
g
e

17.70m AOD

C

C
a
t
h
e
d
r
a
l
Wa
l
k

B

Millennium

Square

W

A

LK

We the Curious ground level

e
d
a
n
me
o
r
mP
u
i
n
n
e
l
l
Mi

TH

ED

RA

L

B
L

CA

9.00m AOD

B
L

Harbour

Waterfront
Square

y
sWa
n
o
n
a
C

0.00m AOD

0

5

25

50m

100m

Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2019. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

Ordnance Survey © Crown Copyright 2019. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

Millennium Promenade

Millennium Square

Anchor Square

A
87.70m AOD

Arc passenger eyeline (69m AGL)
78.00m AOD

0

5

25

50m

100m

Bristol Cathedral (44m AGL)
c. 63.40m AOD

1
5
ºa
b
o
v
eh
o
r
i
z
o
n
t
a
l

l
a
t
n
o
z
i
r
o
eh
v
o
b
a
º
5
1

We The Curious roof level
24.32m AOD

College Green
17.70m AOD

Arc Bristol
ISO 19650 BIM Reference

We the Curious ground level

Drawing No.

3558-WTC-SRA-PR-AC-DR-A-PL-107-B Context Sections ABC Proposed - Arc Upright

9.00m AOD

Volume Level

Type

Role For

Rev Title

Project No.

Originator

Drawn by

Checked by

Approved by

A3 Scale

Date

Reason for Issue

MS

DB

NS

1:1250

01/09/2020

PLANNING

Number

0.00m AOD

Millennium Promenade

Millennium Square

Anchor Square
|

|

www.sra-architects.co.uk

© (UK 2020) SRA Architects LLP. Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing.

Arc mast tip (78.7m AGL)
87.70m AOD

Arc passenger eyeline (69m AGL)
78.00m AOD

Bristol Cathedral (44m AGL)
c. 63.40m AOD

l
a
t
n
o
z
i
r
o
eh
v
o
b
a
º
5
1

We the Curious Roof Level
24.32m AOD
College Green
17.70m AOD

We the Curious Ground Level
9.00m AOD

0.00m AOD

College Green

Bristol Cathedral

Cathedral School

Anchor Rd

We The Curious

Millennium Square

Lloyds Building and Amphitheatre
Harbour

Arc mast tip (78.7m AGL)
87.70m AOD

Arc passenger eyeline (69m AGL)
78.00m AOD

Bristol Cathedral (44m AGL)
c. 63.40m AOD

l
a
t
n
o
z
i
r
o
eh
v
o
b
a
º
5
1

Page 92

1
5
ºa
b
o
v
eh
o
r
i
z
o
n
t
a
l

We the Curious Roof Level
24.32m AOD
College Green
17.70m AOD

We the Curious Ground Level
9.00m AOD

0.00m AOD

Bristol Aquarium

We The Curious

Anchor Sq.

Explore

College Square South

Lane

D

College Green
17.1m

eet
Str
ty
ni
Tri

8m
7.
1

Bristol Cathedral

E
ty Steps
ni
Tri

College
Square

8.8m

9.1m

d
a
o
R
r
o
h
c
n
A

Bristol Aquarium

Watershed

E

College
Square
South

We The Curious
ore Lane
Expl

Anchor
Square

P
e
r
o
'
sB
r
i
d
g
e

C
a
t
h
e
d
r
a
l
Wa
l
k
e
d
a
n
me
o
r
mP
u
i
n
n
e
l
l
Mi

Millennium

W

A

LK

Square

CA

TH

ED
RAL

B
L

B
L

Harbour

Waterfront
Square

y
sWa
n
o
n
a
C

0
0

5

25

Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2019. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

50m

100m

5

25

50m

100m

Arc Bristol
ISO 19650 BIM Reference

Ordnance Survey © Crown Copyright 2019.

Drawing No.

3558-WTC-SRA-PR-DE-DR-A-PL-108-B Context Sections DE proposed - Arc Upright

All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432
Volume Level

Type

Role For

Rev Title

Project No.

Originator

Drawn by

Checked by

Approved by

A3 Scale

Date

Reason for Issue

MS

DB

NS

1:1250

01/09/2020

PLANNING

Number

D

|

|

www.sra-architects.co.uk

© (UK 2020) SRA Architects LLP. Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing.

Agenda Item 9b
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
WARD:

Avonmouth & Lawrence Weston

SITE ADDRESS:

Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB

APPLICATION NO:

19/03660/F

ITEM NO. 2

Full Planning

DETERMINATION
16 April 2021
DEADLINE:
Construction of 36 new dwellings, a mixture of one, two and three bedroom houses and flats of two
and three storeys with associated landscaping and parking.

RECOMMENDATION:

AGENT:

Refuse

Barefoot Architects
Unit 4.8
Paintworks
Bristol
BS4 3EH

APPLICANT:

ALW And United Communities
Eden House
Eastgate Office Park
Bristol
BS5 6XX

The following plan is for illustrative purposes only, and cannot be guaranteed to be up to date.
LOCATION PLAN:

DO NOT SCALE

07/04/21 11:24

Page 93

Committee report

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB

SUMMARY
The application relates to Astry Close in Lawrence Weston. This is a Bristol City Council owned
former pre-cast reinforced concrete housing site which was cleared due to structural defects in
2012. Prior to demolition, Astry Close was a street of 16 semi-detached two storey houses. The site
is long and rectangular in shape with Astry Close running to the north and Brookthorpe Avenue to
the south. The development site also includes highways grass verges to the east, west and north of
the site. The site includes a significant change in levels, increasing in elevation to the south.
The applicants for this development are Ambition Lawrence Weston community group and United
Communities housing association. The proposals for the site have been co-designed and project
developed in close consultation with the local community. The application seeks permission for
construction of 36 homes at the site, including 32 houses and 4 flats. These would comprise a
variety of terraced, semi-detached and detached two storey buildings laid out primarily in two
parallel banks to the north and south of the site. Perpendicular terraces are proposed at the
western side to Goodring Hill and in the middle of the site.
Public consultation responses from the local community have been entirely positive. A total of 46
responses have been received from 19 addresses, all in support of the application. The application
is also supported by the Lawrence Weston Planning Forum as well as Avonmouth and Lawrence
Weston ward Councillors Jo Sergeant and Don Alexander.
Throughout the planning process, officers have raised concerns in relation to two particular aspects
of proposals. These relate to development of grass verges at the eastern and western ends of the
site and amenity relationships resulting from the constrained layout of buildings within the
development itself. Officers have engaged extensively with the applicants in attempt to overcome
these issues however no significant changes to the scheme have been forthcoming.
Officers recognise many positive aspects of the proposals. The development would provide 36 new
homes which would make a positive contribution to local housing need. These would be located in
an established neighbourhood which would be within walking distance of a district centre. The
proposals include a pair of self-build houses and accessible flats which will contribute to the variety
of housing types available within the area. The development will deliver at minimum a policy
compliant 30% affordable housing contribution and in reality the level of affordable housing
delivered is expected to be substantially higher. The houses accord with policy expectations in
terms of energy efficiency, renewable heating and on site energy generation.
However, as referenced above and discussed in more detail within the report beneath, officers have
identified significant policy conflicts with parts of the scheme. The proposals to develop grass
verges for housing and car parking conflict with neighbourhood and city planning policy. These
parts of the site are not identified for housing development and are informal open space which
policy requires to be preserved for local amenity. The verges are identified in the neighbourhood
plan as attractive features which contribute positively to local appearance, character and
distinctiveness. Development in these areas would not represent an appropriate response to the
site and adjacent area and would be harmful to local appearance, character and distinctiveness.
Furthermore, the proposed layout in terms of outlook and privacy is very constrained and will not
achieve high standard of amenity for future occupiers.
Within the context of sustainable development, these aspects of the development will not contribute
to creation of a community which is environmentally and socially sustainable. When weighed in the
balance, these issues are found to outweigh the positive aspects identified. On the whole, the
scheme is found counter to national, local and neighbourhood planning policy and for this reason
the application is recommended by officers for refusal.

Page 94

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
SITE DESCRIPTION
The development site is located at Astry Close, Lawrence Weston. Astry Close is single width street
which has no through access for traffic. The street is entered from the western side of Oakhanger
Drive as well as pedestrian access from the eastern side of Goodring Hill. It provides access to the
rear of properties on Broadlands Drive located to the north. It is 150m south of the district centre at
Ridingleaze and is approximately 6km north of the city centre.
The local area increases in elevation to the south, climbing Kings Weston Hill. This change in
elevation, increasing north to south, is also present across the site. The site has a total area of
7800m2 or 0.7 of a hectare. It is broadly a long rectangular shape.
Until 2012, Astry Close included 8 pairs (16 houses) of semi-detached two storey houses. These
were demolished due to structural defects relating to the pre-cast concrete method of construction.
Since demolition, the site has been vacant awaiting redevelopment. It includes a single oak tree
located at the eastern side adjacent to Oakhanger Drive. The development site also includes
previously undeveloped grass verges at the eastern and western ends of the site, adjacent to
Oakhanger Drive and Goodring Hill respectively. A further parcel of land is also included to the
northern side of Astry Close, adjacent to Goodring Hill. This is presently undeveloped grass verge
also.
The former houses were positioned in a single bank to the northern side adjacent to Astry Close
including small front gardens before the street. Larger gardens extended to the rear backing directly
onto the northern side of Brookthorpe Avenue. The houses included dual pitched tiled roofs and
rendered walls.
Lawrence Weston is a residential neighbourhood which was developed post war in the 20th
Century located in the outer north of the city. It is in close proximity of Blaise Castle and Kings
Weston Estates as well as the M5 motorway and Avonmouth. The Kingsweston and Trym Valley
Conservation Area is located approximately 100m south of the site behind The Gastons. The area
has been designated as a neighbourhood planning area, managed by Lawrence Weston
Neighbourhood Planning Group who have prepared the Lawrence Weston Neighbourhood
Development Plan which applies to the area.
PLANNING HISTORY
The history of planning applications listed beneath relate to repairs to the former pre-cast concrete
houses which were granted permission in the early 1990's and permission for the eventual
demolition of the former houses which was given in 2011. A subsequent submission seeking the
pre-application planning advice of the Local Planning Authority was made and responded to in
2018. This was submitted by the current applicant and related to redevelopment of the site
comprising a total of 42 homes.
90/01968/H
The structural refurbishment of 1no. woolaway type PRC houses in
accordance with PRC Homes Ltd. License No.006.
GRANTED - 14.09.1990
92/00365/H
property.

Material change of the facades repairs and refurbishment of PRC Woolaway
GRANTED - 08.05.1992

11/02569/N
21.07.2011

Prior notification of proposed demolition of properties.

GIVEN -

18/04497/PREAPP
Proposal to build approximately 42 new dwellings, a mixture of one,
two and three bedroom houses and flats of two and three storeys
RESPONSE SENT 04.10.2018

Page 95

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT
The applicant is Ambition Lawrence Weston who are a community group formed by residents with
the aim to make the area of Lawrence Weston a better place to live. The group has close links to
the neighbourhood planning forum. The proposals for the site have been 'co-designed' and project
developed in close consultation with the local community. This has included a series of planned,
interactive design workshops taking place in Lawrence Weston where community members were
invited to provide views, inform, influence and shape the developing designs for the site. A detailed
'Statement of Community Involvement' has been submitted outlining this process. The Local
Planning Authority is satisfied that proposals for the site and subsequent application have been
prepared with due regard for principles set out within the Bristol City Council Statement of
Community Involvement which forms part of the Local Plan.
APPLICATION
The current application seeks full planning permission for development of 36 dwellings at the site as
well as associated works including to highways and landscaping proposals.
The proposed dwellings would include 32 houses and 4 flats. The proposed houses would
principally be arranged in two parallel horizontal banks located to the north and south of the site.
These would front Astry Close and Brookthorpe Avenue to the north and south respectively. A
separate terrace of houses is also proposed bookending the western side of the site. These are
located on the grass verge to the east of Goodring Hill. These houses would be situated
perpendicular to the main horizontal banks and front Goodring Hill. At the centre of the main
horizontal banks, a further perpendicular element is proposed. This would comprise two facing
terraces of three houses. This would create an overlooked central area referred to as a 'heart
space'. At the eastern end of the site, a pair of houses are proposed which will be allocated as 'selfbuild'. These are located to the southern part of the site fronting Brookthorpe Avenue. Adjacent to
the north in this location fronting Astry Close, the block containing 4 flats is proposed.
The development would be entirely two storeys in height. The main horizontal banks of houses to
the north and south would primarily comprise semi-detached pairs of houses. The houses to the
western end fronting Goodring Hill and within the 'heart space' would be terraced. A total of 16 two
bedroom and 16 three bedroom houses are proposed. The flatted block would include a single one
bedroom flat and 3 two bedroom flats.
The two self-build houses located to the eastern end of Brookthorpe Avenue would be detached.
The external elevations and materials will match all other units. These units will have the building
envelope (including internal floor) completed prior to hand over to self-builders to complete internal
fit and finish to suit them.
All houses would include dual pitched gabled or hipped roofs. Roofs would be clad with slates. Flat
roofed porches and projecting bay windows are proposed. Houses would be constructed with grey
brick walls. Textured raised/recessed brick details are proposed to street facing elevations for
interest and detailing. It is indicated that front doors will be coloured and windows coloured grey,
similar to brickwork.
With regards to the proposed highways and public realm at the site, it is proposed to alter Astry
Close to allow for through traffic to Goodring Hill. This would be one-way (westbound) only. A new
T junction would be created at the western end of Astry Close to accommodate this. New tarmac
footways are proposed to be constructed around the perimeter of the development site. This would
include to the northern side of Brookthrope Avenue where there is currently no footway.
A total of 48 car parking spaces are proposed within the development. This would include creation
of 20 spaces on street on Brookthorpe Avenue, 4 spaces on street on Astry Close, 8 spaces within

Page 96

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
a proposed car park to be created within the grass verge adjacent to Goodring Hill, 10 spaces on
site serving houses on Astry Close and 6 spaces adjacent to the flats including 2 disabled sized
spaces adjacent to Oakhanger Drive.
All houses and flats include dedicated cycling parking stores located within the curtilage. These are
either to the front, side or rear depending on the house type. This will be in the form of covered,
lockable stores. Visitor cycle parking in the form of Sheffield stands is proposed within the 'heart
space' area.
With regards to waste and recycling storage, similarly this would also be located within stores
integrated into the design of each house or building. These are generally located to the front or side
to allow access to the street for collection. Within the 'heart space' area which includes steps, the
central houses include storage areas located on Brookthorpe Avenue.
The proposed central 'heart space' area would include a flight of stairs formed in precast concentre
and include areas paved natural stone landings. The area would also include soft landscaping and
tree planting. A children's play slide taking advantage of the sloping topography is proposed to the
northern end of this area.
It is proposed to plant a total of 23 new trees on site. Tree planting would be focused upon streets
and public areas. 4 trees are proposed on the highway to the front of the terraced row on Goodring
Hill. 12 trees are proposed lining the new footway and parking bays on Brookthorpe Avenue. The
remaining trees would be located within the heart space and between semi-detached pairs on Astry
Close. The existing oak tree adjacent to Oakhanger Drive will be retained and integrated within the
rear garden area of the proposed flat block. All houses will include a private rear garden including
lawn and brick paved patio area.
The proposed homes are specified to exceed Building Regulations requirements for thermal
performance and air tightness. Mechanical Ventilation with Heat Recovery systems are proposed
providing controlled ventilation. Homes will also include individual air source heat pumps and
photovoltaic roof mounted systems to generate on site renewable energy. It is outlined that the
development will include fibre to the premises (FTTP) broadband to all homes.
RESPONSE FROM PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION
89 neighbouring addresses were directly notified of the application via neighbour notification letter.
The proposed development was also advertised via site notice and local press advert.
The deadline for responses was 28th October 2019.
A total of 46 responses were received from 19 addresses. All comments made were classified as
supporting the development.
A summary of grounds for support is as follows:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

More affordable homes are needed in Lawrence Weston
Development will benefit residents in the local area who are looking for a home to rent or
buy
Development will be an asset in the overall regeneration of Lawrence Weston
Homes will provide a high standard of living
Running costs for residents will be low due to sustainability and energy performance
Lots of thought and work from local residents has gone into the proposals and this is what
local residents want to see built
Application has involved extensive consultation with both the wider community and
immediate neighbours

Page 97

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
o
o
o

The development improves and adds to the local streetscape
The houses are acceptable to neighbours and improve their environment
A most imaginative development that will bring considerable benefits to Lawrence Weston

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING FORUM
The Lawrence Weston Planning Forum/Group commented on the application as follows:
"We, the Lawrence Weston Planning Forum give our full support for this development.
We believe the proposed development shows exemplar practice when delivering truly grass root
community development.
With the development being driven completely by local residents residing in the area, the
development will enable the delivery of the wider aspirations being demanded by the residents
through their own Community Development Plan, Design Statement and the Lawrence Weston
Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP).
We would like to highlight our delight on how this development will help to achieve a well-balanced
sustainable community, and how it will compliment other soon to be realised developments coming
to the area following their successful planning application approvals.
We welcome the proposed improved use of green spaces that will deter the abuse of these green
spaces and verges, as is currently far to common on other local green spaces and verges at
present.
We also welcome the positioning and clustering of the houses so as to create increased social
interaction opportunities between the tenants and to encourage tenants to keep a watchful eye over
the more vulnerable tenants that may reside there, like the elderly and young children.
We are very pleased to see how the development meets the demands coming from the Lawrence
Weston Neighbourhood Development Plans objectives and plan policies.
We feel that this development far exceeds recently approved planning applications for other
developments with respect on how it meets the NDP objectives 1-5.
We also feel that this development far exceeds recently approved planning applications for other
developments with respect on how it meets the NDPs Policies including policy:H1, H2,H3, H4, H5,
MA1, MA2, MA3, JSB2, and OPR3.
We would also note the exemplar and extensive wider community involvement this development
has facilitated.
We request that the planning department, and ultimately its decision, takes note of, and gives the
positive weighting deserved to the residents wishes and aspirations for their community and
approves the submitted planning application in question".
LOCAL COUNCILLORS COMMENTS
Avonmouth and Lawrence Weston ward Councillor Jo Sergeant commented on the application as
follows:
"I support this application because community-led housing schemes will benefit Lawrence Weston
and it has the support of local residents. It will hopefully be the first of many across this ward".
Avonmouth and Lawrence Weston ward Councillor Don Alexander commented on the application
as follows:

Page 98

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB

"I fully support this application".
INTERNAL/EXTERNAL PLANNING CONSULTEE RESPONSES
City Design Group, Bristol City Council:
"The proposals will impose an entirely different townscape on the existing pattern of which large
tree lined grass verges are a key feature. This is particularly true on the Goodring Hill elevation,
where the proposed houses occupy the width of the verge with the exception of a small strip in
which trees are located. This is entirely counter to policies relating to retention of character and
good urban design".
"Related to building density, it is noted that the proposed garden spaces are relatively small, with an
uncomfortably close relationship between the Astry Close/Brookthorpe Avenue rear boundaries".
"The proposals for tree planting between parking bays on Astry Close are also cause for concern
with regard to who will maintain them. Also, the space available to the tree pits look constrained - is
their enough growing medium to ensure establishment?"
"I have grave concerns regarding the vulnerability of the oak tree in relation to proposed levels,
vulnerability during the construction period and the fact that it appears to be retained within a rear
garden of the new residence. I understand the Arboriculture Officer has been contacted with regard
to this; might be worthwhile getting comment on tree planting generally".
"Presumably the tree planting shown within the highway on Brookthorpe Avenue will be adopted?"
"Given the degree of ground works necessary to achieve required floor levels and access I share
your concerns regarding the potential for using degraded fill material within garden spaces".
"A number of the above issues could be resolved by reducing the number of housing units particularly the broader urban design character relating to existing character".
Transport Development Management, Bristol City Council:
Transport Development Management have commented on the application at three separate points
and the proposals have been revised in response to feedback. The final comments read as follows:
The applicant has been in dialogue with TDM and the planning officer for a considerable length of
time. Following TDM's previous comments the applicant has provided a number of drawings.
TDM again raise concerns regarding the inclusion of three parking spaces along Astry Close, as
shown on the Proposed Highway Adoption Plan - 12843-CRH-Z1-00-DR-5000-S2-P3. These are
considered unacceptable given the creation of a narrowing and the lack of room for error should a
vehicle not park perfectly within the parking bay as demonstrated within plan 12843-CRH-XX-XXDR-C-5014-P1. A refuse vehicle will be required to overhang the footway as well as collide with any
protrusions of the parked car, such as wing mirrors. It is therefore extremely likely that a refuse
vehicle will overrun the footway, causing highway safety implications for pedestrians and
maintenance issues of the footway. Given the restricted width it is unlikely that Bristol Waste will
serve along this route.
Furthermore, the narrow width of the carriageway at this point would result in vehicle tracks (rutting)
due to the inability of a vehicle to deviate from the path due to the insufficient carriageway width
resulting in an unnecessary maintenance liability due to poor design. TDM therefore require a
condition be applied which necessitates this aspects alteration prior to commencement.

Page 99

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB

There is also proposed planting on the existing highway outside of the units fronting Astry Close.
These are considered unacceptable as they narrow the footway and would represent an
unacceptable maintenance liability for the highway authority.
As stated previously any planting within the highway will be subject to a commuted sum as will any
non-standard materials.
Noting the time constraints and the applicant's unwillingness to submit further revised plans which
address TDM's consistent requirements, this is the final set of comments. Although there are
outstanding issues, TDM are content suitably worded conditions could be applied that address
these concerns and requires the applicant to submit information prior to commencement. On this
basis TDM recommend approval subject to the following S106 contributions and conditions:
o
£11,826 towards two TRO's relating to parking restrictions within the local area and the
implementation of one way directions along Astry Close and Brookthorpe Avenue.
Amended Highway Layout Plans
Notwithstanding the approved plans, no development shall take place until Amended Internal
Highway Layout Plans have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
The plans must include the following:
o
o

Re-assessment of and adjustments to buildouts and carriageways
Assessment and removal of obstructions along the Astry Close footway

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plan prior to the occupation
of the development and the layout shall remain in accordance with the approved plan unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Electric Vehicle Charging Points
No building or use hereby permitted shall be commenced until details of Electrical Vehicle Charging
infrastructure, management plan and phasing for implementation has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
This shall include details of the following:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Final Layout
Number and location of EV parking spaces
Number and location of EV charging points
Type of EV charging points (fast, rapid)
Indicative locations for feeder pillars and protective infrastructure
Evidence of power supply from WPD (to ensure substation capacity is adequate)
Indicative location of substation (where required)
Indicative cable routing
Management plan outlining proposed management of spaces, charging network and
infrastructure
Electrical Layout and Schematic Design
Feeder Pillar Design/Electrical Layout/Schematic Layout Designs

The Electric Vehicle Charging Points and management strategy as approved shall be implemented
prior to occupation / as per the agreed phasing plan and retained in that form thereafter for the
lifetime of the development.

Page 100

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
Reason: To promote sustainable travel, aid in the reduction of air pollution levels and help mitigate
climate change
B1B Highway works - General Arrangement Plan
No development shall take place until general arrangement plan(s) to a scale of 1:200 showing the
following works to the adopted highway has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Resurfacing of carriageway and footways along Brookthorpe Avenue and Astry Close
Resurfacing of footway along Goodring Hill and Oakhanger Drive
Creation of a build out along Astry Close
Tightening of junction radii
Tree pits and installation of street tree
Tactile paving at all crossing points surrounding site
Upgrade of street lighting along Brookthorpe Avenue, Astry Close, Oakhanger Drive and
Goodring Hill
Vehicle crossovers

Where applicable indicating proposals for:
o
o
o
o
o

Existing levels of the finished highway tying into building threshold levels
Alterations to waiting restrictions or other Traffic Regulation Orders to enable the works
Signing, street furniture, street trees and pits
Structures on or adjacent to the highway
Extent of any stopping up, diversion or dedication of new highway (including all public rights
of way shown on the definitive map and statement)

No development shall take place over the route of any public right of way prior to the confirmation of
a Town & Country Planning Act 1990 path diversion/stopping up order.
Prior to occupation these works shall be completed to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of public safety and to ensure that all road works associated with the
proposed development are: planned; approved in good time (including any statutory processes);
undertaken to a standard approved by the Local Planning Authority and are completed before
occupation.
B2A Highway to be adopted - Add relevant advices I027A, I055
B3A Construction management plan
B36A Structure Adjacent To/Within 6m of the Highway Add relevant advice I059
B39 Highway Condition Survey Add relevant advice I052
C5A Implementation/Installation of Refuse Storage and Recycling Facilities - Shown on Approved
Plans
C12A Completion and Maintenance of Car/Vehicle Parking - Shown
C13 Completion and Maintenance of Cycle Provision - Shown
C34 Travel Plan Statement - Not Submitted - Add relevant advice I060
D19 Restriction of Parking Level on site
D20 Protection of Parking and Servicing Provision
Advices
I024A) Works on the Public Highway
I026A) Traffic Regulation Order (TRO)
I027A) Highway to be Adopted

Page 101

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
I043A) Impact on the highway network during construction
I052) Highway Condition Survey
I053) Excavation Works on the Adopted Highway
I055) Street Name and Numbering
I056) Stopping Up/Diversion of Adopted Highway
I059) Structure Adjacent To/Within 6m of the Highway
I060) Travel Plan Statement / Travel Plan - Not Submitted
Arboriculture Team, Bristol City Council:
"I am happy to see the retention of the oak tree to the east of the site. The dwelling surrounding this
tree, however, appears to encroach into the area which the subject oak will eventually grow into.
Not including sufficient space or consideration for the tree to grow, will cause issues for futures
residents (loss of light, significant leaf fall in gardens, mildew on cars etc.) add pressure to prune or
fell the tree in the future. With this in mind, the area around this tree area could be reconsidered as
a recreational area or pocket park".
"The subject oak is a fine specimen with potential to become a defining feature of the development;
considering the amenity value of this tree, it is being considered for a Tree Preservation Order
(TPO)".
"I am also slightly concerned that a self-build house has been identified close to the only retained
tree on site - if the new owner requests a basement, this will impact the long term health of the tree.
Ideally, reposition this self-build to a less continuous area of the site".
"An area has been identified for additional parking on Goodring Hill - I object to the loss of green
space to facilitate parking off-site. There also appears to be an Energy Centre situated very close to
a Bristol City Council Lime Tree - presumably utilities and trenching will be required within the
rooting area of this tree?"
"The tree planting on site appears small and sparsely placed, which may be due to the high density
nature of the site".
"In summary, I object to the overdevelopment of the site due to the increased pressure this places
on retained trees on site, and Bristol City Council owned trees off site. The overdevelopment of the
site has also left minimal opportunity for meaningful tree planting on site. I would like to see more
consideration of the long term retention of T1".
Flood Risk, Bristol City Council:
The proposed drainage strategy is acceptable. Some details are still to be confirmed, so we request
that our standard pre-commencement drainage condition is applied should planning permission be
granted.
Archaeology Team, Bristol City Council:
Evidence of Roman occupation has been previously recorded across the Lawrence Weston area.
Immediately adjacent to the site George Boon reported evidence of Roman occupation revealed
during the construction of the housing on Broookthorpe Avenue. Although, these previous
developments and later demolition of housing at Astry Close will have had a negative impact on any
archaeology, some evidence may survive on this site. Consequently it will be necessary to
archaeologically monitor development ground works should this application receive consent. This
monitoring can be secured through attaching the standard conditions B28 and C18 to any consent.

Page 102

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
Nature Conservation, Bristol City Council:
The following planning condition, which accords with the recommendations in the Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal (PEA) dated April 2018, is recommended.
Condition: Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, including all site
clearance and vegetation removal, a method statement for a Precautionary Method of Working
(PMW) with respect to vegetation and site clearance and the potential presence of nesting birds
and any other legally protected and priority species to include hedgehogs shall be prepared by a
suitably qualified ecological consultant and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The PMW shall include measures to protect mammals during construction to
prevent them from becoming trapped in excavations or open pipework. The development shall be
carried out in full accordance with the approved method statement.
Reason: To ensure the protection of legally protected and priority (Section 41) species which are a
material planning consideration.
Two fox earths (dens) were recorded during the PEA dated April 2018 on the northeastern corner
and southern boundary of the site (section 5.13.2 on page 16 of the PEA refers). Foxes and their
earths (dens) are protected by the Wild Mammals (Protection) Act 1996 which includes the offences
of crushing and asphyxiation. The following planning condition is recommended.
Condition: No more than a week prior to the commencement of development, a check for active fox
earths shall be undertaken on the site by a qualified ecological consultant. If an active fox earth is
found then an appropriate mitigation strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
mitigation strategy.
Reason: To conform with the legal requirements of the Wild Mammals (Protection) Act 1996.
The following planning condition is recommended: There are records of house sparrows in the
general vicinity. Condition: Prior to occupation of the development details provided by a qualified
ecological consultant shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
providing the specification, orientation, height and location for built-in bird nesting and bat roosting
opportunities integrated within buildings and shown on a site plan with compass directions marked
on it. This shall include six built-in bird boxes or bricks to include at least four house sparrow nest
boxes and two built-in bat boxes. Bird boxes shall be installed to face between north and east to
avoid direct sunlight and heavy rain. Bird boxes shall be erected out of the reach of predators and
at least 3.5 metres high on publicly accessible sites. For small hole-nesting species bird boxes shall
be erected between two and four metres high. House sparrow nesting boxes shall be grouped
together and located at least 1.5 metres apart. House sparrow nesting boxes shall be positioned
high up under the eaves where present. Bat boxes shall face south, between south-east and southwest. Bat boxes shall be erected at a height of at least four metres, close to hedges, shrubs or treelines and avoid well-lit locations. Bat boxes which are being placed on buildings shall be placed as
close to the eaves (if present) as possible. Development shall be undertaken in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To help conserve legally protected bats and birds which include priority species.
Landscaping of the site should employ a significant proportion of native species of local provenance
including berry and fruit-bearing tree, hedgerow and shrub species for birds and nectar-rich
flowering plants for invertebrates.
Sustainability and Climate Change, Bristol City Council:
The strategic approach to reducing energy demand including through a fabric first approach, and
reductions in air permeability, is noted and welcome.

Page 103

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB

I recommend clarification being requested with regard to the 'target' of proposed air permeability of
3m3 /m2 .hr @ 50 Pa. Once clarification of the air permeability is received, I'd recommend
conditioning evidence that the agreed air permeability of X m3 /m2 .hr @ 50 Pa is achieved; as
should this not be achieved it will have a bearing on the demand for space heating.
Regarding the heating strategy, the use of renewable heating via heat pumps is welcomed. In light
of the heat hierarchy, it would be helpful to have some further information as to why community
renewables / micro-heat networks weren't selected i.e. a communal ASHP metered to two
properties, etc.
One additional benefit of using air source heat pumps is that individual systems can be designed for
the addition of low-energy / low-cost cooling - could clarification be sought as to whether this is
required (as per overheating query below) and if so whether the ASHP units chosen are able to
provide this service.
Overheating
I would like further reassurance that the scheme will not be liable to over-heating under projected
climate scenarios, for the lifetime of the scheme (e.g. 60 years).
The section in the report addressing overheating is welcomed. It is noted that there has been
careful consideration of glazing size, reveal depth /solar shading, as well as specifying solar control
glass with a g-value of ca. 0.4 or 0.6, balancing useful winter solar gains with reduction of
overheating risk.
The report states that overheating will be controlled using natural ventilation and internal blinds and
that risk has been assessed for a typical set of dwellings using a spreadsheet based CIBSE AM10
calculation with 99th %ile current external temperatures. Could the agent provide any further
clarification as to how these temperatures compare with a future weather file of the 2050 and 2080
50%ile medium emissions scenario?
Units likely to be at greatest risk are those with a southerly or westerly aspect. As such I would like
further reassurance on this issue. Depending on the evidence supplied, we may need to request
additional analysis based on dynamic thermal modelling and the assessment of overheating risk be
based on a recognised methodology such as CIBSE TM52 (or applicable equivalent) and cover the
projected life-time of the scheme i.e. 60 years to 2080.
Any 'failures' should be addressed through modifications to the design starting with measures to
reduce solar gain. 'Worst case scenario' units can be chosen with justification.
Broadband
Information on the potential for ultrafast broadband is noted from two providers. As such, the
development should include the infrastructure to connect to this service and make it available to
occupiers- as per the Connectivity Practice Note.
Electric Vehicles
The development appears to have 12 EV spaces for the overall 50 parking spaces is noted. A full
specification/definition of what will be provided for the EV spaces is required.
Pollution Control, Environmental Health, Bristol City Council:
I would confirm that I have no objection to the above application but have some concerns with

Page 104

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
regards to noise and dust from construction works at the site and noise from the potential for noise
nuisance from the proposed air source heat pumps.
I would therefore ask for the following conditions should the application be approved:
1.

Construction Management Plan
No development shall take place until a site specific Construction Management Plan has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The plan must demonstrate the
adoption and use of the best practicable means to reduce the effects of noise, vibration,
dust and site lighting. Advice The Construction Environmental Management Plan should
also include but is not limited to reference to the following:
o All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at such other
place as may be agreed with the Local Planning Authority, shall be carried out only between
the following hours: 08 00 Hours and 18 00 Hours on Mondays to Fridays and 08 00 and 13
00 Hours on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays.
o Mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and 2 : 2009 Noise and Vibration
Control on Construction and Open Sites shall be used to minimise noise disturbance from
construction works.
o Procedures for emergency deviation of the agreed working hours. o Control measures for
dust and other air-borne pollutants .
o Measures for controlling the use of site lighting whether required for safe working or for
security purposes.

2.

Air Source Heat Pumps
There shall be no commencement of us of the air source heat pump until details including
noise levels and any noise mitigation measures have been submitted to and been approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Contaminated Land, Public Protection, Bristol City Council:
The proposed development is not sensitive to contamination and is situated on or adjacent to land
which has been subject to land uses which could be a potential source of contamination.
The submitted Desk Study prepared by Campbell Reith dated May 2018 Reference 12843 is
sufficient and identifies the fly-tipping issues which we are aware of being a persistent problem
since the original homes were demolished. Further intrusive investigation is recommended which
we support.
The following conditions are recommended to be applied to any future planning consent.
1. Site Investigation: A site specific risk assessment and intrusive investigation shall be carried out
to assess the nature and extent of the site contamination and whether or not it originates from the
site. The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a
written report of the findings must be produced. The results of this investigation shall be considered
along with the reports submitted with the original application. The written report of the findings shall
be submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any works (except
demolition) in connection with the development, hereby approved, commencing on site. This
investigation and report must be conducted and produced in accordance with DEFRA and the
Environment Agencys Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11 and
and BS 10175:2011 +A2 2017: Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites - Code of Practice.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological

Page 105

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks
to workers, neighbours and other off site receptors.
2. Standard B12 condition (Remediation strategy)
3. Amended B13 Condition (Verification Report) to read prior to occupation rather than prior to
commencement.
4. Standard C1 condition
Bristol Waste Company:
For 36 individual properties we would provide the standard kerbside collection service. This would
consist of the following containers for each property:
X1 180 litre wheeled general refuse bin
X1 90 litre blue cardboard recycling bag
X2 45 litre dry recycling boxes
X1 25 litre food waste bin
X1 240 litre garden waste bin
Each property should have adequate storage space to accommodate at least a refuse bin, green
recycling box, black recycling box and food waste bin. Whilst it is not a statutory service it would be
advisable to also allow space for a garden waste bin or sacks as these properties do have gardens.
Containers from all properties should be presented at the kerbside on the relevant collection day.
We would urge at this stage of the planning process that the developers refer to the Planning
Guidance for Waste and Recycling produced by Bristol Waste Company. When considering the
layout, access and the design of the bins stores, this guide contains a wealth of information
regarding the bin volumes, requirements etc.
http://www.bristolwastecompany.co.uk/resources/
I hope that this has provided sufficient feedback should this development progress from application
status as proposed.
Affordable Housing Delivery Manager, Bristol City Council:
This summary of requirement is an update to previous requirement for 18/04497/PREAPP, this now
being progressed to this current 'Full Application'. For this full application, 30% of the homes will be
secured as Section 106 Affordable Homes - 11 units. The 'Offer' in terms of types and tenure
highlighted in their submitted Affordable Housing Planning Obligations Statement, are accepted by
the Housing Delivery Team.
Unit & type
The Council Housing Delivery Team will accept the eleven units as the S106 affordable homes
offer. The council will seek a fully integrated housing mix but will support a reasonable clustering,
particularly for any proposed flatted units, to enable small self-contained blocks. The S106
agreement will be subject to an agreed location of the units between Bristol City Council and the
Developer.
RSL payment
Bristol City Council's Core Strategy Policy BCS17 seeks to secure affordable homes without any
public subsidy. Our Matrix is out-ofdate, we therefore advise developers to assume 50% of market

Page 106

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
value across all units when assessing the level of affordable housing they can provide. Registered
Partners (Housing Association) might offer more than this percentage.
Service charges
Service charges (including all site charges for un-adopted public space) payable by the occupant
on all affordable houses transferred will not exceed £250 per annum and £650 per annum in
respect of flats These Service Charges will be linked the Consumer Price Index. Any ground rent or
estate charges shall be at a peppercorn.
Enabling Fees
An Enabling Fee of £550 per affordable homes index linked from 1st October 2017 will be payable
to Council by the Registered Provider when each affordable home is substantially completed.
Specification
The council expect all Affordable Housing units to achieve Design and Quality Standards that is
specified in the Homes and Communities Agency's "Design and Quality Standards" (published by
the former Housing Corporation in April 2007) but without the code levels.
Approved housing provider
The Council's preferred approved Registered Provider for this scheme will be a 'Homes West'
Bristol Partner.
RELEVANT POLICIES
National Planning Policy Framework – February 2019
Bristol Local Plan comprising Core Strategy (Adopted June 2011), Site Allocation and Development
Management Policies (Adopted July 2014) and (as appropriate) the Bristol Central Area Plan
(Adopted March 2015) and (as appropriate) the Old Market Quarter Neighbourhood Development
Plan 2015 and the Hengrove and Whitchurch Park Neighbourhood Development Plan 2019.
In determining this application, the Local Planning Authority has had regard to all relevant policies
of the Bristol Local Plan and relevant guidance.
ASSESSMENT
PRINCIPLE OF RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT OF LAND
The following national, local and neighbourhood level planning policies are relevant to assessment
of the principle acceptability of residential development at the site. This includes the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and the Bristol Local Plan which comprises the Core Strategy
(2011) and Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Local Plan (2014) as well as
the Lawrence Weston Neighbourhood Development Plan (2017).
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019) states that "the purpose of the planning
system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development". This includes economic,
social and environmental objectives as outlined at paragraph 8.
Section 5 (Delivering a sufficient supply of homes) of the NPPF outlines that "To support the
Government's objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient
amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with
specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed without

Page 107

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
unnecessary delay". Strategic policies should be informed by a local housing need assessment
outlining the minimum number of homes needed. The size, type and tenure of housing needed for
different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning policies.
Paragraph 60 of the NPPF outlines that to determine the minimum number of homes needed,
strategic policies should be informed by a local housing need assessment, conducted using the
standard method in national planning guidance - unless exceptional circumstances justify an
alternative approach which also reflects current and future demographic trends and market signals.
In addition to the local housing need figure, any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring
areas should also be taken into account in establishing the amount of housing to be planned for.
Following the withdrawal of the West of England Joint Spatial Plan from examination in April 2020,
a new Spatial Development Strategy is being prepared for the West of England Combined Authority
(WECA). This will set the planning policy for the number of new homes to be delivered in Bristol
and distribute any unmet need between the constituent WECA authorities. Until then the
Government's standard method is used to calculate housing supply and to inform the approach to
the housing delivery test as it applies to Bristol. This method results in Bristol having a very high
level of calculated need which means, in the current absence of a strategic plan to distribute
housing delivery across the wider region, that the entirety of the standard method figure is directed
to the City of Bristol. This has led to a statistical shortfall in housing land supply.
The most recent Housing Delivery Test results trigger the presumption in favour of sustainable
development as outlined at paragraph 11 of the NPPF. The Housing Delivery Test demonstrates
that the LPA has not delivered the level of housing required by the application of the 'standard
method' over the previous three years. Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is therefore engaged and
currently applicable to planning decision making within Bristol. For applications relating to housing
development, this means that the presumption in favour of sustainable development applies and
permission should be granted for sustainable development unless:
i.

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed;

ii.

or any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Section 11 (Making effective use of land) of the NPPF states that "Planning policies and decisions
should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while
safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions".
Paragraph 118 (d) states that planning should "promote and support the development of underutilised land and buildings, especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing where
land supply is constrained and available sites could be used more effectively".
Section 5, Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states: "Plans should consider the case for setting out
policies to resist inappropriate development of residential gardens, for example where development
would cause harm to the local area".
Policy BCS3 (Northern Arc and Inner East Bristol Regeneration Areas) of the Bristol Core Strategy
states that social, economic and physical regeneration will be promoted in the Inner East and
Northern Arc with the purpose of creating mixed, balanced and sustainable communities. New
development will be encouraged in both areas which provides new employment premises,
especially flexible and small business floor space which can stimulate enterprise and deliver new
employment opportunities. The Northern Arc generally corresponds with the wards of Lockleaze,
Henbury, Southmead, Kingsweston, Horfield and part of Avonmouth.
In the Northern Arc the emphasis will be on:

Page 108

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB

i.
ii.
iii.

Encouraging higher density and mixed forms of development in the most accessible
locations;
Making more efficient use of underused land;
Promoting improved access and linkages to neighbouring areas.

Development will include:
i.
ii.

The provision of around 3,000 new homes;
The redevelopment of Southmead Hospital to provide a new acute and community "superhospital".

Policy BCS5 (Housing Provision) of the Core Strategy outlines the Councils aim to deliver new
homes within the built up area to contribute towards accommodating a growing number of people
and households in the city. Provision of new homes will be in accordance with the spatial strategy
for Bristol set out in this Core Strategy and it is envisaged that 30,600 new homes will be provided
in Bristol between 2006 and 2026. Additional provision which accords with the spatial strategy may
be appropriate within the plan period. The minimum target will be 26,400 homes between 2006 and
2026. The appropriate level of new homes will be reviewed within 5 years of the adoption of the
Core Strategy.
Development of new homes will primarily be on previously developed sites across the city. Some
new homes will be developed on open space which does not need to be retained as part of the
city's green infrastructure provision. The strategy by which the Council will allow development of
open space is set out within the Site Allocations & Development Management Policies (SADMP)
Local Plan.
The figures in the Policy above are based upon the Strategic Housing Land Availability assessment
which indicated a potential supply of 30,000 homes over the plan period. The Strategic Housing
Land Availability Assessment did not consider the potential contribution that developments on small
unidentified 'windfall' sites could make over the plan period. Although all small sites cannot
practicably be identified, they have made a considerable contribution to housing delivery in the
past. The council has cautiously estimated that there are reasonable prospects of around 4,200
homes being delivered from this source from 2012 to 2026.
Policy BCS10 (Transport and Access Improvements) of the Core Strategy states that development
proposals should be located where sustainable travel patterns can be achieved, with more
intensive, higher density mixed use development at accessible centres and along or close to main
public transport routes. Proposals should minimise the need to travel, especially by private car, and
maximise opportunities for the use of walking, cycling and public transport.
Policy BCS18 (Housing Type) of the Core Strategy states that all new residential development
should maintain, provide or contribute to a mix of housing tenures, types and sizes to help support
the creation of mixed, balanced and inclusive communities.
To achieve an appropriate tenure, type and size mix the development should aim to:
o
o
o
o

Address affordable housing need and housing demand;
Contribute to the diversity of housing in the local area and help to redress any housing
imbalance that exists;
Respond to the requirements of a changing population;
Employ imaginative design solutions.

Policy BCS20 (Effective and Efficient Use of Land) states that new development will maximise
opportunities to re-use previously developed land. Where development is planned opportunities will

Page 109

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
be sought to use land more efficiently across the city. Imaginative design solutions will be
encouraged at all sites to ensure optimum efficiency in the use of land is achieved. Higher densities
of development will be sought:
i.
ii.
iii.

In and around the city centre;
In or close to other centres;
Along or close to main public transport routes.

For residential development a minimum indicative net density of 50 dwellings per hectare will be
sought. Net densities below 50 dwelling per hectare should only occur where it is essential to
safeguard the special interest and character of the area.
Policy DM1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development) of the Site Allocations and
Development Management Policies Local Plan (SADMP) outlines that the city's approach to
development proposals will generally be positive and reflective of the presumption in favour of
sustainable development as referenced throughout the NPPF.
Policy DM17 (Development Involving Green Existing Infrastructure) of the SADMP states in relation
to 'unidentified open space' that development which would result in the loss of open space which is
locally important for recreation, leisure and community use, townscape and visual amenity will not
be permitted.
Policy DM21 (Development of Private Gardens) of the SADMP sets out the LPA's approach to the
development of residential gardens. This is in accordance with paragraph 70 of the NPPF as noted
above. The policy outlines that private garden space is recognised to make an important
contribution to the city's green infrastructure and to the character of its residential areas. The policy
generally aims to retain private residential gardens in the city whilst setting out the limited
circumstances where their development may be acceptable.
The policy highlights that the housing provision targets as set out within the Core Strategy (Policy
BCS5) have not been based on the assumption that development of significant amounts of garden
land will be required. However, development of garden land maybe appropriate where it would
contribute to sustainable forms of development.
The policy states "development involving the loss of gardens will not be permitted unless:
i.
ii.
iii.

The proposal would represent a more efficient use of land at a location where higher
densities are appropriate; or
The development would result in a significant improvement to the urban design of an area;
or
The proposal is an extension to an existing single dwelling and would retain an adequate
area of functional garden.

"In all cases, any development of garden land should not result in harm to the character and
appearance of an area".
"Development involving front gardens should ensure that the character of the street is not harmed
and that appropriate boundary treatments and planting are retained".
The Urban Living SPD (2018) outlines the Council's approach to delivering residential development
of a high quality at higher densities. This document indicates that densities of 100units/per hectare
will be targeted within outer urban settings such as Lawrence Weston. Specifically in relation to the
outer urban context, the document outlines:
"In the 20th century, Bristol expanded beyond its Victorian suburbs, creating the Outer Urban Area,
which is heavily influenced by Garden City principles. Residential densities are low (typically

Page 110

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
30dwellings per hectare). These low densities have significantly undermined the ability of the area
to deliver a range of services within a reasonable walking distance of the home, resulting in high
reliance on the car. In poorer areas, geographic isolation and lack of access to employment and
services are compounded by low densities which fail to reach the required level to justify a regular
bus service."
"There are signs that new, higher density building typologies are beginning to be built in the Outer
Urban area with small scale apartment blocks, terrace housing, and urban infill schemes emerging
in areas like Lockleaze and Southmead. Schemes like Gainsborough Square demonstrate the
potential of focussing small-scale, but higher than the prevailing density developments at the focal
points in a community, providing a catalyst for wider regeneration. These early schemes
demonstrate the advantages of diversifying the housing stock, enabling the community to better
meet its changing housing needs."
Lawrence Weston Neighbourhood Development Plan (LWNDP) Policy H1 (New Housing
Development) outlines that the provision of about 333 homes on the vacant or derelict sites shown
on Map 3 will be supported, subject to assessment against the following criteria:
i.

the extent to which the proposal would make efficient use of under-used land (including
"brownfield" sites and former PRC housing sites) and would meet local needs as set out in
the most recent housing needs assessment by Bristol City Council;

ii.

whether the proposal would reflect the guidance set out in the Lawrence Weston Design
Statement and would integrate well with or improve the character of the existing
neighbourhood;

iii.

whether the proposal would provide a mix of tenures and dwelling types, including custombuild opportunities and family houses with gardens, where this is feasible on any one site;
and

iv.

the extent to which renewable energy technology, energy efficiency and best practice in
sound insulation would be incorporated into the development.

It is noted that Astry Close is included on Map 3 of LWNDP Policy H1. The majority of the site is
therefore allocated at neighbourhood level for housing development. It is therefore expected and
policy compliant that the land at Astry Close developed for housing. It is noted that this is the
historic use of the site and the proposed redevelopment for the same purpose would be fitting and
avoid material change of use. The allocation of Astry Close for housing development is in
accordance with wider local policy which encourages development of new homes primarily on
previously developed, brownfield sites across the city.
Astry Close is located only around 150m south of the Lawrence Weston district centre at
Ridingleaze. This centre includes a variety of local shops, services and facilities including GP
surgery, supermarket, post office, pharmacy and various hot food outlets. The proximity of the site
to be district centre would allow future residents to access local services on foot and without
requiring car use. This is compatible with wider local policy which encourages housing development
located where sustainable travel patterns can be achieved, with more intensive, higher density
mixed use development at accessible centres and along or close to main public transport routes.
In terms of public transport, the area is served by bus routes (services 3 and 4) to the City Centre,
Avonmouth and Cribbs Causeway as well as additional routes (services 10 and 11) to Thornbury
and Avonmouth via Southmead. It is recognised that these services can be infrequent, involve long
ride durations and expensive. The LWNPD recognises these issues and there is a wider discussion
regarding mass transit within the city currently. Improvement to public transport accessibility in
areas such as Lawrence Weston will likely be part of this. In the meantime, the neighbourhood

Page 111

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
includes some public transport connectivity which could provide a viable means for accessing
employment in adjacent neighbourhoods. Furthermore, home working is becoming more prevalent
which for some, reduces the requirement to travel for work on a daily basis. As noted above, the
site is in close proximity of local shops and services. Overall, it is found that residential
development at Astry Close would not necessitate use of a private car and sustainable transport
patterns can be achieved at in this location.
It is recognised that some of the land subject of proposed development was previously private
garden land. The site has not been associated with dwellings or gardens for an extended period
due to demolition and time elapsed for redevelopment plans to emerge. However, had demolition
not previously been undertaken, the increased densities proposed for the site are achieved through
development of previously undeveloped garden land. Local policy DM21 applies to such
development. Development at Astry Close would likely be required to achieve a significant
improvement to the urban design of the area in order to qualify as acceptable development of
garden land. The policy outlines that improvements in urban design can be achieved where
redevelopment of a number of properties may result in overall loss of garden land but create
improved design. This principle could potentially apply in this case and the design of the scheme
will be addressed in more detail beneath.
The development also extends onto grass verges at the northern, eastern and western sides, which
are previously undeveloped, open, green land. This specifically relates to land including the
proposed western terrace of 5 houses facing Goodring Hill, the car parking area opposite in the
grassed area to the north adjacent to 96-98 Broadlands Drive and to a lesser extent car parking
and flats at the eastern end of the site.
It is noted that these grass verges are not part of the site designated for housing development as
shown on Map 3 of LWNDP Policy H1. The allocation as shown on Map 3 only relates to the land
previously 1-16 Astry Close and their gardens. The grass verges are not part of the site allocated
for housing development however do now comprise part of the proposed development site,
accommodating significant parts of the proposals.
Housing development on grass verges is not specifically referenced within the LWNDP. It is noted
that the verges are referred to within the LWNDP in the context of their contribution to the area
under the heading of 'parks and green spaces'. In this regard, the LWNDP states "Throughout the
neighbourhood there are green parks and verges which provide an attractive green environment".
Verges are also referenced in the context of traffic and transport with the LWNDP stating that
parking on verges harms visual amenity and makes streets unsafe to navigate. It is stated that with
insightful design, the benefits of a good quality residential street space can be restored to the
community while still allowing residents convenient access to their motor vehicles.
LWNDP Policy OPR1 (Open Spaces & Allotments) states where existing areas of open space and
landscaping are of low amenity and ecological value, may adversely affect perceptions of security
and are not specifically protected by planning policy then alternative uses of them will be
considered. Turning some of these spaces into small allotment or garden spaces could improve
security levels, increase community cohesion, enable local food production and improve habitat
provision, whilst potentially reducing the Councils expenditure on maintenance.
Policy OPR1 suggests alternative uses of open space and landscaping where this is of low amenity
value. However as referenced above, the NDP notes green parks and verges provide an attractive
green environment. In this context, the grass verges are not found to be of low amenity value.
Furthermore, the alternative uses suggested are small allotment or garden spaces rather than
housing development. Whilst the open, green, grass verges are recognised in policy to be
associated with certain issues, they are also recognised to be attractive. Alternative uses suggested
do not include housing development.

Page 112

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
City wide local policy of relevance includes Core Strategy Policy BCS9 (Green Infrastructure) and
Local Plan Policy DM17 (Development Involving Existing Green Infrastructure). The previously
undeveloped grass verges surrounding Astry Close would qualify as 'unidentified open space' as
defined by Policy DM17. These are open spaces which are too small to be shown on the Policies
Map, or are integrated into existing developments. However, many of these spaces can have an
important role and value for recreation, leisure, community use, townscape, landscape and visual
amenity quality. Policy DM17 states that development which would result in the loss of open space
which is locally important for recreation, leisure and community use, townscape and visual amenity
will not be permitted.
The grass verges in question are informal public open spaces. They are available for use by the
local community for recreational purposes. As highlighted within the LWNDP, the verges provide an
attractive green environment. There is therefore recognition within the neighbourhood plan that the
verges are of importance in terms of townscape and visual amenity. Development on these areas is
therefore found to be in conflict with policy objectives as loss of these areas of green open space is
contrary to Policy DM17. There is therefore a conflict with the principle of development on these
parts of the site.
HOUSING NEED & TYPE
With regards to the proposed housing mix, the site is located within the Coombe Dingle West Lower
Super Output Area (LSOA) within the Avonmouth & Lawrence Weston Ward. A portrayal of the
proportion of different residential accommodation types in the LSOA can be obtained through
review of Census data (2011). The Coombe Dingle West LSOA has a proportion of houses to flats
of 88% houses and 12% flats. Therefore, within the LSOA immediately including the site, there is a
significant bias towards houses in comparison to flats. It is however also recognised that both
neighbouring LSOA including Lawrence Weston Parade and Lawrence Weston South, the majority
of households are flats rather than houses. Lawrence Weston Parade includes 38% houses and
62% flats and Lawrence Weston South includes 48% houses and 52% flats. As such, whilst the
area including the site and to the south includes significantly more houses than flats, the areas
adjacent to the north, east and west of the site have a slight bias towards flats over houses.
In terms of household size, the majority size is three bedroom households representing 60% of all
households within the Coombe Dingle West LSOA. Within Lawrence Weston Parade there is
mostly two bedroom (37%) and three bedroom (38%) properties. Within Lawrence Weston South
there is a majority of two bedroom households (53%).
The proposals involve development of 36 homes, of which 32 would be houses and 4 would be
flats. The development is therefore strongly balanced towards provision of houses over flats.
Provision of houses would contribute the type of housing that is the prevailing type within the LSOA.
It is noted that adjacent areas include more flats however. Taking account of the overall context, no
objection is held to the proposed proportion of houses over flats. The development would include
some mix of housing types and a good variety of both houses and flat accommodation would be
maintained in different parts of Lawrence Weston.
In terms of provision of a mix of different sizes of accommodation, the development would include
16 two bedroom houses, 16 three bedroom houses, a one bedroom flat and 3 two bedroom flats.
The development does not fully accord with policy objectives of providing a range of different sizes
of housing. Local housing statistics indicate need for smaller one bedroom and larger four and five
bedroom properties within the area. The development will deliver additional two and three bedroom
properties which are the most common sized housing within the area. In this regard, the proposals
do not fully accord with policy objectives of redressing any housing imbalance that exists and
achieving a mixed community. However it is recognised that the local community has identified a
desire to retain encourage young families to stay in the area. This is connected to a need for two
and three bedroom houses within the LWNDP and therefore the proposals accord with this

Page 113

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
aspiration.
The proposals also include two flats to be constructed to Building Regulations M4(3) adaptable
standard, making them suitable for wheelchair users. Two self-build houses are also proposed.
These factors would ensure further different types of housing which are not widely available and are
specific to the needs of the local community. Overall, the development is found to include an
acceptable mix of accommodation types and sizes and would be in accordance with policy
objectives of creating mixed, balanced and inclusive communities.
AFFORDABLE HOUSING
Bristol Core Strategy Policy BCS17 (Affordable Housing Provision) sets out that affordable housing
will be required in residential developments of 15 dwellings or more. The following percentage
targets will be sought through negotiation:
o
o

40% in North West, Inner West and Inner East Bristol;
30% in all other locations;

Residential developments should provide a mix of affordable housing units and contribute to the
creation of mixed, balanced and inclusive communities. The tenure, size and type of affordable
units will reflect identified needs, site suitability and economic viability.
LWNDP Policy H2 (Affordable Housing Types and Tenures) outlines that proposals for new housing
development should aim to provide a variety of affordable housing types and tenures, including
shared ownership. Development on allocated sites will be supported if:
i.

ii.

either affordable housing would be provided in accordance with the figures in Appendix 1, or
the developer can show by means of a full development appraisal why the identified levels
cannot be achieved; and
affordable housing would be integrated with open market housing.

Appendix 1 of the LWNDP outlines the suggested split of tenure types for residential sites. Astry
Close is indicated to require 70% affordable housing provision. It is noted that this affordable
housing allocation is higher than the general policy requirement for 30% because the community
have an aspiration to deliver a community land trust development on the site that will deliver
affordable homes in perpetuity.
The development is proposed to be 100% affordable housing within the definition of NPPF namely
affordable rent and shared ownership. 34 houses will qualify as affordable which is all housing
except for self-build houses. The affordable housing will all be let at Affordable Rent or sold as
Shared ownership. 30% of the homes will be named as affordable housing and secured within a
S106 agreement. This will secure a policy compliant affordable housing contribution in perpetuity.
This equates to 11 homes (10.8 homes rounded up) of which all are proposed to be delivered for
affordable rent. These homes will be let at no more than 80% of market rent but capped at
prevailing LHA levels (and inclusive of service charge).
The Council's Housing Delivery Team has confirmed that they will accept the eleven units as the
S106 affordable homes offer. The council will seek a fully integrated housing mix but will support a
reasonable clustering, particularly for any proposed flatted units, to enable small self-contained
blocks. The S106 agreement will be subject to agreement of location of the affordable units
between Bristol City Council and the Developer. Subject to completion of S106 agreement, the
development will comply with neighbourhood and city wide policies in relation to affordable housing
provision.

Page 114

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
SELF BUILD HOUSING
Section 5 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires that a sufficient amount and variety of
land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing
requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay.
Housing needed for different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning
policies. This includes people wishing to commission or build their own homes.
Under section 1 of the Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015, local authorities are required
to keep a register of those seeking to acquire serviced plots in the area for their own self-build and
custom house building. They are also subject to duties under sections 2 and 2A of the Act to have
regard to this and to give enough suitable development permissions to meet the identified demand.
Self and custom-build properties could provide market or affordable housing.
Bristol does not currently have an adopted policy specifically relating to self-build housing however
such housing would fall under Core Strategy Policy BCS5. The policy outlines that the Council will
support other mechanisms of housing delivery, including self-building.
LWNDP Policy H4 (Community Self Build) outlines all developments of more than 30 houses shall
include an offer of serviced plots for custom build, either on an individual basis or for a duly
constituted self-build group to organise a collective self-build construction programme. A minimum
of whichever is higher of 5% or 2 of the dwelling plots shall be offered.
Where plots have been made available and marketed appropriately at a reasonable price for a
minimum of one year and have not sold, the requirement on the site shall lapse. Alternative
negotiated compliance with this policy for several sites in order to provide a larger self-build site will
also be considered, as long as it offers a genuine self-build opportunity of equal value to the
community, and is well integrated within the surrounding built form and community.
The development includes proposals to allocate two properties as self-build. These are indicated on
plans at the eastern end of the site, fronting Brookthorpe Avenue. The properties would be
detached. The external elevations and materials will match all other units. These units will have the
building envelope (including internal floor) completed prior to hand over to self-builders to complete
internal fit and finish to suit them. The provision of two self-build houses meets the neighbourhood
plan policy requirement and in this regard the proposals are acceptable.
APPEARANCE, CHRACTER & DESIGN
Section 12 (Achieving well-designed places) of the NPPF outlines that "The creation of high quality
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve.
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and
work and helps make development acceptable to communities". Planning policies and decisions
should aim to ensure that developments:
a)

will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but
over the lifetime of the development;

b)

are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective
landscaping;

c)

are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment
and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or
change (such as increased densities);

d)

establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces,

Page 115

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live,
work and visit;
e)

optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and
mix of development (including green and other public space) and support local facilities and
transport networks; and

f)

create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and wellbeing, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and
disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion
and resilience.

Section 12 of the NPPF also states that "Permission should be refused for development of poor
design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an
area and the way it functions, taking into account any local design standards or style guides in
plans or supplementary planning documents".
Policy BCS21 (Quality Urban Design) of the Core Strategy advocates that new development should
deliver high quality urban design that contributes positively to an area's character and identity,
whilst safeguarding the amenity of existing development.
Policy DM17 (Development Involving Green Existing Infrastructure) of the SADMP states in relation
to 'unidentified open space' that development which would result in the loss of open space which is
locally important for recreation, leisure and community use, townscape and visual amenity will not
be permitted.
Policy DM21 (Development of Private Gardens) of the SADMP sets out the LPA's approach to the
development of residential gardens. This is in accordance with paragraph 70 of the NPPF as noted
above. The policy outlines that private garden space is recognised to make an important
contribution to the city's green infrastructure and to the character of its residential areas. The policy
generally aims to retain private residential gardens in the city whilst setting out the limited
circumstances where their development may be acceptable.
The policy highlights that the housing provision targets as set out within the Core Strategy (Policy
BCS5) have not been based on the assumption that development of significant amounts of garden
land will be required. However, development of garden land maybe appropriate where it would
contribute to sustainable forms of development.
The policy states "development involving the loss of gardens will not be permitted unless:
i.
ii.
iii.

The proposal would represent a more efficient use of land at a location where higher
densities are appropriate; or
The development would result in a significant improvement to the urban design of an area;
or
The proposal is an extension to an existing single dwelling and would retain an adequate
area of functional garden.

"In all cases, any development of garden land should not result in harm to the character and
appearance of an area".
Policy DM26 (Local Character & Distinctiveness) of the Site Allocations & Development
Management Policies (SADMP) Local Plan outlines that all development is expected to contribute
positively to an area's character and identity. The policy builds on policy BCS21 (above) by
stipulating the characteristics which development should seek to respond to. General principles
include:

Page 116

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
i.
Responding appropriately to and incorporating existing land forms, green
infrastructure assets and historic assets and features; and
i.

Respecting, building upon or restoring the local pattern and grain of development, including
the historical development of the area; and

ii.

Responding appropriately to local patterns of movement and the scale, character and
function of streets and public spaces; and

iii.

Retaining, enhancing and creating important views into, out of and through the site; and

iv.

Making appropriate use of landmarks and focal features, and preserving or enhancing the
setting of existing landmarks and focal features; and

v.

Responding appropriately to the height, scale, massing, shape, form and proportion of
existing buildings, building lines and set-backs from the street, skylines and roofscapes; and

vi.

Reflecting locally characteristic architectural styles, rhythms, patterns, features and themes
taking account of their scale and proportion; and

vii.

Reflecting the predominant materials, colours, textures, landscape treatments and boundary
treatments in the area.

The policy states that "development will not be permitted where it would be harmful to local
character and distinctiveness or where it would fail to take the opportunities available to improve the
character and quality of the area and the way it functions."
Policy DM27 (Layout and Form) of the SADMP outlines that the layout, form, pattern and
arrangement of streets, open spaces, development blocks, buildings and landscapes should
contribute to the creation of quality urban design and healthy, safe and sustainable places. It should
make efficient use of land, provide inclusive access and take account of local climatic conditions.
The policy then proceeds to outline sets of criteria which development is expected to achieve in
relation to streets and spaces, blocks and plots, height scale and massing, landscape design as
well as servicing and management.
In relation to landscape design, the policy states that through high quality landscape design,
development will be expected to contribute to a sense of place with safe and usable outdoor spaces
which are planned as an integral part of the development and respond to and reinforce the
character of the context within which it is to be set.
In contributing to green infrastructure, design should incorporate valuable existing natural and
manmade landscape features, while reinforcing it with new structural tree planting where
appropriate.
Proposals for the landscape design and planting of development will be expected to:
i.

Take account of the function, circulation and servicing of places and site constraints
including underground services; and

ii.

Use trees and other plants appropriate to the character of the site and its context, including
native trees; and

iii.

Allow sufficient space for safeguarding valuable existing vegetation and the healthy
establishment of trees and other planting; and

Page 117

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB

iv.
v.

vi.

Integrate sustainable urban drainage systems; and
Incorporate hard detailing and materials and planting appropriate to context and fit for
purpose, for all elements including surfacing, change of level, boundary treatments, and site
furniture; and
Accommodate capacity for local food growing where possible.

Policy DM28 (Public Realm) of the SADMP outlines that development should create or contribute to
a safe, attractive, high quality, inclusive and legible public realm that contributes positively to local
character and identity and encourages appropriate levels of activity and social interaction. This will
be achieved by:
i.

Provide for or contribute towards an appropriate range of activity within the public realm,
including spill-out spaces for trade, events, relaxation and recreation; and

ii.

Sensitively integrate and prioritise appropriate levels of movement infrastructure for different
modes, including provision for convenient pedestrian and cycle movement; and

iii.

Provide an appropriate relationship with the building edge and a suitable transition between
clearly defined public and private spaces; and

iv.

Reduce crime and fear of crime by creating a well-surveilled public realm that is well
managed and cared for; and

v.

Enable easy, inclusive access into and through the public realm and to buildings that
provides adequately for the mobility needs of all users having regard to age, gender and
disability; and

vi.

Ensure that any car parking and provision for servicing are appropriate to the context and
are sensitively integrated so as not to dominate the public realm; and

vii.

Where they are proposed or required by other policies, integrate sustainable drainage
systems, natural and historic features and any planting into the design of the public realm;
and

viii.

Incorporate appropriate street furniture, lighting and surface materials of high quality,
environmental performance and durability that enhance the quality, character and
appearance of the public realm through their siting and design; and

ix.

Retain in situ, where possible, traditional surface materials, boundary treatments and street
furniture or, where this cannot feasibly be accompli shed, reclaim them and reuse them
elsewhere in the proposed development.

Policy DM29 (Design of New Buildings) of the SADMP states the design of new buildings should be
of high quality. Proposals for new buildings will be expected to:
i.

Be clearly organised in terms of their form and internal layout and circulation to reflect the
hierarchy of function they will accommodate, the uses they will serve and the context they
will address; and

ii.

Incorporate active frontages and clearly defined main entrances facing the public realm that
emphasise corners and reinforce the most prominent frontages; and

Page 118

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
iii.

Respond to the solar orientation of the building to support energy efficient design while
ensuring as far as possible that active rooms face the public realm; and

iv.

Provide appropriate natural surveillance of all external spaces; and

v.

Ensure that existing and proposed development achieves appropriate levels of privacy,
outlook and daylight; and

vi.

Allow for future adaptation or extension to accommodate alternative uses or to respond to
the changing future needs or circumstances of occupiers by means of their internal
arrangement, internal height, detailed design and construction; and

vii.

Provide appropriately for inclusive access and circulation; and

viii.

Incorporate opportunities for green infrastructure such as green roofs, green walls and
green decks that may be accessed and used where appropriate; and

ix.

Incorporate exteriors and elevations that provide visual interest from a range of viewing
distances and are visually organised and well-proportioned; and

x.

Incorporate high quality detail of an appropriate scale and proportion, arranged in a
coherent way that contributes positively to the overall design approach of the building; and

xi.

Employ high quality, durable and sustainable materials of an appropriate texture, colour,
pattern and appearance that contribute positively to the character of the area.

LWNDP Policy H1 (New Housing Development) requires that the provision of about 333 homes on
the vacant or derelict sites shown on Map 3 will be supported, subject to assessment against the
following criteria. Of relevance to appearance and character, these include making efficient use of
under-used land including "brownfield" sites and former PRC housing sites as well as reflecting the
guidance set out in the Lawrence Weston Design Statement and integrating well with and improving
the character of the existing neighbourhood.
LWNDP Policy H3 (Building Design and Sustainability) states that new built development will be
expected to have high standards of design and to reflect the guidance in the Lawrence Weston
Design Statement. Proposals for new housing will be assessed against the 12 objectives in the
guidance published in the latest edition of "Building for Life 12", and should obtain the Building for
Life quality mark with at least nine "green" levels. Proposals of innovative design will be
encouraged. Development proposals which are poorly designed and would not improve the
character, quality, or function of the area will be opposed.
LWNDP Policy OPR1 (Open Spaces and Allotments) states that where existing areas of open
space and landscaping are of low amenity and ecological value, may adversely affect perceptions
of security and are not specifically protected by planning policy then alternative uses of them will be
considered. Turning some of these spaces into small allotment or garden spaces could improve
security levels, increase community cohesion, enable local food production and improve habitat
provision, whilst potentially reducing the Councils expenditure on maintenance.
Well integrated amenity space/ landscaping (including new open spaces and allotments) should be
incorporated into any major development and be of high quality, of an appropriate type, standard
and size to suit the character of the local area and the requirements of the community as evidenced
at the time of development. Alternatively major residential development proposals may provide a
financial contribution to the improvement of existing open space where this is considered
appropriate.

Page 119

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
The Lawrence Weston Design Statement Urban Design Vision outlines: "That Lawrence Weston is
a welcoming, safe and attractive neighbourhood that positively contributes to resident's confidence,
wellbeing and pride. A neighbourhood of choice that helps create a stable, resourceful, active and
engaged community".
o

Creating a sustainable, well-designed, innovative and welcoming urban environment.

o

Creating and enhancing formal and informal green spaces that are well used and well
maintained.

o

Investing in and improving our public realm so that is attractive, safe and clean.

o

o
o

Designing and improve highways, cycle paths and footpaths to better link the
neighbourhood with itself and beyond.
Building a high quality community hub and enhancing existing community facilities.
Ensuring that new developments promote a greater mix of tenure, community space where
required and a focus on appropriate forms of housing of high quality and with good space
standards.

In relation to Green Infrastructure the Design Statement outlines: "One of the key characteristics of
Lawrence Weston is its abundance of green space. The neighbourhood benefits from the proximity
of both Blaise Castle and Kingsweston Estate with long views to mature woodland and the Estuary.
The character of the neighbourhood is low density with green parks and verges which provide an
attractive green environment, there are however improvements to be made".
At 1.5 'Incidental Places' it is stated in relation to 'other green spaces' - wide curtilage at the end of
some streets, these are opportunities for planting of both herbaceous borders and new trees where
visibility splays and infrastructure allow.
In relation to character, the Design Statement outlines that much of the estate was built after the
Second World War, some historical buildings predate this time particularly the old (17th century)
farmhouses on Kings Weston Lane. The estate includes a Roman Villa and there are thought to be
Roman ruins across the estate.
The majority of the buildings are 2 and 3 bed family housing in a mixture of terraced and semidetached arrangements. They are of varying quality and construction some are precast concrete
and others more traditional brick construction.
The neighbourhood is low density overall, but the character is generally of high density housing set
in extensive communal areas. This can create localized problems of crowded on-street parking.
New developments tending to be small scale in a mixture of styles; some traditional and some
contemporary. Bristol City Council BCC has cleared a number of the precast reinforced concrete
(PRC) housing sites relocating residents to alternative housing within the neighbourhood (and
beyond). This has left gap sites which have currently been enclosed by close boarded timber
fencing.
The Design Statement highlights the following key visions for new housing development in
Lawrence Weston:
o
o
o

Focus on 2 and 3 bedroom family housing,
Traditional massing and overall form - pitch roofs with potential for some contemporary
layout, detailing and materials,
Aiming for Passiv house standards, the EnerPHit standard for renovations and using

Page 120

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB

o

o
o
o
o

o

renewable energy technologies to develop houses that have very low running costs,
Housing developments to consider their relationship with the public realm - friendly, safe,
pedestrian friendly, integrated parking and landscape design, space for refuse storage and
recycling,
Good connections between new developments and other parts of the neighbourhood - on
foot, by bicycle, bus and car,
Maintaining key views to Blaise Estates, Kingsweston House, Avonmouth Docks, and long
views to the Estuary,
Maximum 3 full stories with majority 2 story plus habitable roof space,
The Building for Life 12 toolkit is used by the resident planning committee as a framework to
respond to new development applications and BCC current space standards should inform
housing design,
Air quality within dwellings, and good soundproofing between linked dwellings are both
essential to improve on current problem areas within existing housing.

The Urban Living SPD (2018) outlines the Council's approach to delivering residential development
of a high quality at higher densities. This document indicates that optimum densities of 100units/per
hectare will be acceptable within the outer urban area such as this site.
With regards to development within the 'Outer Urban Area' the Urban Living SPD states:
In the 20th century, Bristol expanded beyond its Victorian suburbs, creating the Outer Urban Area,
which is heavily influenced by Garden City principles. Residential densities are low (typically
30dwellings per hectare). These low densities have significantly undermined the ability of the area
to deliver a range of services within a reasonable walking distance of the home, resulting in high
reliance on the car. In poorer areas, geographic isolation and lack of access to employment and
services are compounded by low densities which fail to reach the required level to justify a regular
bus service.
There are signs that new, higher density building typologies are beginning to be built in the Outer
Urban area with small scale apartment blocks, terrace housing, and urban infill schemes emerging
in areas like Lockleaze and Southmead. Schemes like Gainsborough Square demonstrate the
potential of focussing small-scale, but higher than the prevailing density developments at the focal
points in a community, providing a catalyst for wider regeneration. These early schemes
demonstrate the advantages of diversifying the housing stock, enabling the community to better
meet its changing housing needs.
The Urban Living SPD outlines that development proposals should make the most efficient use of
land by delivering an optimum density for its site and location i.e. developing land to the fullest
amount consistent with all relevant planning objectives. Some parts of the city will lend themselves
to intensification more than others.
Lawrence Weston is classified within the Urban Living SPD to be an area of dominant townscape
character, and low intensity usage e.g. post-war housing estates (Lawrence Hill, Southmead,
Lockleaze, Knowle West). Community-led intensification could provide opportunities to diversify
housing stock, increase patronage for public transport and support local centres.
In relation to establishing whether a development responds positively to the existing context, the
Urban Living SPD outlines meeting with the Local Planning Authority at the earliest opportunity to
establish whether the scheme should respond positively to the existing context or a new and
emerging context as expressed through an adopted spatial framework, neighbourhood plan, or
masterplan.
Where it's determined that a scheme should respond positively to the existing context, a thorough
context appraisal of the neighbourhood should be undertaken, with a particular focus on the

Page 121

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
immediate streets and spaces adjoining the scheme. This should identify the prevailing height,
scale and mass of surrounding buildings, streets and spaces. Areas of strong character and form
offer only limited opportunities for deviation.
In the case of the site at Astry Close, the Local Planning Authority has engaged in pre application
discussions with the applicant regarding development of this site in 2018. Pre application advice
provided in response stated the following in relation to the design of the development:
"An uplift in residential density at the site is welcomed in design terms, as this will result in a more
efficient use of land. Any development however should also respond to the character of the area
and should deliver high quality urban design and acceptable living environments for future
occupants. The amenities of surrounding properties must also be preserved".
"Based on the plans provided, the Council's Urban Design Team has raised concern regarding the
intensity of the development and the impact on the character of the area and amenity of future
occupants".
"Given the intensity of development it is considered that potential amenity issues will arise given the
topography of the site and relationship between residential properties. It is also considered that the
outlook for some units will be poor. See the below amenity section for further detail on these
concerns".
"Surrounding grass verges are an important part of the character of the neighbourhood; the current
proposal removes these. Whilst the LPA recognises that the loss of some of the green verges may
be necessary to achieve the required uplift in housing, in order to respond to the context and be
supported increased greenery and softening of the edges will be required. The retention of trees is
also recommended. It is recognised that this would require a reduction in the number of units and a
revision of the car parking strategy within the public realm".
The pre application advice as outlined above and position of the LPA is that increased densities at
Astry Close in accordance with Urban Living SPD principles should be achieved by responding
positively to the existing context. This is the appropriate approach within an area classified as
having a dominant townscape character and no emerging alterative character. The area has a
neighbourhood plan which as outlined above states new development will focus on 2 and 3
bedroom family housing of traditional massing and overall form, similar to the existing context.
As identified within pre application feedback above, there has been a consistent issue with
proposed use of grass verges adjacent to Astry Close. The proposals have been subject of minor
alterations since pre application stage. The flatted block has been positively adjusted to the eastern
end of the site and a greater proportion of this verge is proposed to be retained. At the western end
of the site a single dwelling has been removed from the terrace on Goodring Hill, parking removed
from the front of houses and front gardens introduced. Parking proposed within the grass verge
opposite to the north west of the site has been enlarged since pre application stage.
The grass verges surrounding the site form part of the original layout of the Lawrence Weston
estate. The estate was planned and constructed to Garden Suburb town planning principles of
spaciousness and greenery. The verges are indicative of the health benefits which a spacious and
green layout offered in comparison to previously cramped, high density inner city housing which
fostered poor living conditions and health. The estate includes substantial gardens, formal and
informal areas of open space offering residents areas for domestic food production, exercise,
outdoor amenity and community events. The informal open spaces are a fundamental characteristic
of the local environment, part of the ethos of the neighbourhood and contribute positively to the
local townscape and visual amenity.
There is some commentary regarding existing context within the supplied Design & Access
Statement. It is stated that: "Goodring Hill currently has a very open outlook with deep verges and

Page 122

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
low buildings to both sides. The verge areas are not used at present, though the upper area
adjacent to Brookthorpe Avenue is an attractive landscape feature". As noted above, the
Neighbourhood Plan states that throughout the estate grass verges provide an attractive green
environment. The upper area adjacent to Brookthorpe Avenue is referred to as an attractive
landscape feature. The grass verges proposed for development do not significantly differ in terms of
appearance and character to this adjacent area.
It is recognised that there appears to be some support within the local community for development
on the grass verges. It is understood that they can be associated with inappropriate car parking and
are viewed as underused. It is noted that the Neighbourhood Plan encourages resolution of parking
issues through insightful and good quality residential street design. Alternative uses of grass verges
such as small allotment or garden spaces are suggested in Policy OPR1. The grass verges are
identified as an attractive feature of the area within the neighbourhood plan. There is no clear
directive or policy within the Neighbourhood Plan or Design Statement which encourages housing
development on these areas. The allocation of Astry Close as a housing development site under
LWNDP Policy H1 does not include the grass verges. Wider city level local policy (DM17) states
that development of unidentified open spaces which would result in the loss of open space which is
locally important for townscape and visual amenity will not be permitted. Furthermore, city policies
BCS21 and DM26 require development to contribute positively to the area's character and identity,
reinforcing local distinctiveness by incorporating existing green infrastructure assets and respecting,
building upon or restoring the local pattern and grain of development.
The position of the LPA is that the grass verges contribute positively to the appearance and
character of the neighbourhood. This is supported by the Neighbourhood Plan which identifies the
verges as attractive. In the view of the LPA, the attractiveness is based upon the openness of these
areas which provides a spacious character, the green and verdant appearance of these areas and
their continuity and consistency throughout the neighbourhood. These factors relating to the grass
verges all contribute positively to the appearance and character of the area. The location of the
proposed Goodring Hill terrace of five houses on the grass verge would significantly erode the
openness, continuity and green character associated with this part of the local area. The proposed
car parking area to the north in the grass verge adjacent to Broadlands Drive would also erode the
continuity of landscaping on Goodring Hill and the green character associated with this area.
It is recognised that the development makes some effort to attempt to retain the green character of
this area, including tree planting, landscaping and planting to both the highway and front gardens of
houses. However, this does not overcome the fundamental encroachment of the proposed terrace
of five houses and car parking area to the openness of this area.
In terms of layout, it is noted that the proposed Goodring Hill terrace is positioned significantly
ahead of the established building line which is set by the side elevations of 96-98 Broadlands Drive
and 14 Brookthorpe Avenue. The former house at 16 Astry Close (now demolished) previously
broadly corresponded within this also. The proposed layout including the Goodring Hill terrace
significantly west of existing buildings and projecting into the green, open space would make the
proposed terrace appear obtrusive and overly prominent in views up and down Goodring Hill. This
aspect of the proposed layout is found to fail to integrate well with the established townscape layout
in the local area.
As noted above, the Urban Living SPD highlights the need to increase density in locations such as
Lawrence Weston. This must be achieved with regard to the dominant townscape character and in
the context of prevailing lower densities. The Local Plan and Urban Living SPD set a minimum
density target of 50 dwellings per hectare and it is stated that 100 dwellings per hectare will
represent optimum density in the outer urban area. This upper level of density may only be
attainable in centres adjacent to public transport facilities. Density below 50 dwellings per hectare
should only occur where it is essential to safeguard the special interest and character of the area. In
this case, the proposals achieve density of 46 dwellings per hectare. Whilst this is an increase on

Page 123

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
established levels in the local area, the LPA is not convinced that the layout represents optimum or
most efficient use of the site. For example, proposed semi-detached type houses require significant
spacing to the sides. Due to the low back-to-back separation, principle windows have been
accommodated in the sides of houses which require large gaps to ensure adequate light, outlook
and privacy. Whilst the previous houses at the site were semi-detached, it is expected that the
proposals will increase density on the previous layout. There is significant context for terraced
housing within the area and this would be in keeping with appearance and character. There are a
low number of flats within the scheme and the buildings do not exceed two storeys in height,
despite Design Statement allowing up to three stories maximum. Roof spaces have also not been
utilised for accommodation. Use of more terraced housing, three storey accommodation and more
flats would likely achieve higher densities. The layout of development is generally found to be
inefficient and fails to achieve optimal densities for the site as targeted by the Local Plan and Urban
Living SPD.
With regards to the wider design and layout, the introduction of dwellings positioned facing the
public realm is generally positive. The active frontages and public surveillance surrounding the site
will represent an improvement over the current undeveloped state and previous layout where the
rear of houses on Astry Close fronted the northern side of Brookthorpe Avenue. In terms of
appearance and character, no objection is held to the layout comprising parallel rows of housing to
the north and south of the site. There is also no objection to buildings positioned perpendicular
bookending the eastern and western ends of the site, although it is recognised that this creates
challenging amenity relationships.
In relation to the 'Heart Space' area, the principle of introducing an element of communal open
space including landscaping and children's play within the scheme is supported. The location and
quality of execution of this area is however questioned. The location in the middle of Brookthorpe
Avenue and Astry Close is not highly beneficial or particularly convenient to the wider community.
The area is not located on a main route surrounding the site. At 9m wide by 30m depth, the size
and scale of this area is very limited. It is subject of significant change in levels which will be
stepped. This makes the area less practical and inaccessible for certain groups within the
community which devalues the purpose as a communal area. It also limits the area available for
safe children's play, with bike riding or ball games not possible. Six proposed houses are positioned
directly facing this area, with front doors and windows directly onto the communal area. It is found
that the layout is unlikely to encourage residents to dwell for extended periods given the sense that
this would impede privacy of the adjacent dwellings. Children playing in this area would be in very
close proximity of the adjacent dwellings and are likely to cause nuisance to these properties.
Whilst a communal open space including landscape design and children's play opportunities is
supported in principle, the location, scale and design of the area selected is found to be
problematic. It is noted that the area and site itself include existing areas of communal open space
which are larger, flatter and would benefit from landscape design to foster improved use. This is
encouraged within the Neighbourhood Plan and it is unclear why this principle has not been
followed. Overall, the proposed 'Heart Space' would fail to create or contribute to a safe, attractive,
high quality, inclusive and legible public realm that contributes positively to local character and
identity and encourages appropriate levels of activity and social interaction.
The proposed flat block at the eastern end of the site would be a rectangular shaped building,
positioned near level with Astry Close to the north and inset slightly from Oakhanger Drive. The
length of the building positioned in close proximity of Astry Close would result in a very cramped
appearance. This is particularly true given the single carriageway width of Astry Close at this point.
This layout is not reflective of the local area where typically larger, high occupancy flatted buildings
are positioned within more generous, landscaped plots. The proposed layout of the building and
site in relation to the wider public realm at this location is unsatisfactory. This aspect of proposals is
found to fail to respond positively to local appearance and character.

Page 124

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
The immediate buildings adjacent to Astry Close are predominantly two storeys. There are some
three storey flats adjacent to the eastern end of the site (Oakhanger Drive) and further three storey
development found to the north towards the district centre. With regards to the proposed housing,
notwithstanding issues identified in relation to height and optimal density, the proposed two storey
scale is acceptable in terms of appearance. The proposed scale would not be out of character or
cause harm to the appearance of the area.
With regards to the proposed form and design of the houses themselves, generally this is found to
be acceptable. The buildings include a simple combination of pitched gable or hipped roofs. These
would be in keeping with the design of adjacent buildings. Projecting flat roofed porches or bay
windows would provide interest in elevations, along with projecting patterned brick detail panels.
Coloured front doors would introduce an element of individuality and provide variation between
homes. The proposed grey brick and slate roofs are notably not materials typically found within the
local area. However, the materials would be of similar tones to render and tiles more commonly
found locally. The materials would differentiate the modern nature of the scheme whilst remaining in
keeping with the local vernacular. Full details would be sought via condition in the event of
permission being granted in order to safeguard quality.
The proposed opening up of Astry Close at the western end and creation of one way street would
generally be beneficial in terms of enhanced movement and accessibility surrounding the site.
Similarly the proposed introduction of footway and dedicated parallel parking bays to the northern
side of Brookthorpe Avenue would also represent enhancement to the public realm. These aspects
would positively link the development with the adjacent area.
A hard and soft landscape strategy has been prepared for the site. The proposals for the western
end of the site to the front and sides of the proposed Goodring Hill terrace and car parking area
adjacent to the north are insufficient to offset the harm identified above in relation to this area. A
good level of tree planting is proposed across the site which will benefit the public realm,
particularly on Brookthorpe Avenue. Further details would be required regarding detailed planting
and design of tree pits etc. The approach to landscaping on Oakhanger Drive would benefit from
enhancement. This area would benefit from increased soft planting and reduced car parking. The
communal garden area including retained oak tree is very limited in scale. Enclosing this area with
1.9m timber fencing will not provide a satisfactory relationship with the public realm. This frontage
would benefit from increased integration within the public realm, greater public interface, further soft
landscaping and higher quality boundary treatments. The proposed planting beds to the front of
houses on Astry Close would also benefit from being enclosed to the street to prevent damage and
increase defensible space to the front of these houses.
Conclusion
Whilst the height, design and appearance of the buildings themselves are found to be acceptable,
there are significant and fundamental issues with the policy compliance of the proposed design in
terms of appearance and character. The substantial development of open grass verges surrounding
the site is found to be harmful to the open, spacious and green character which prevails throughout
the neighbourhood. These features are acknowledged to contribute positively to the appearance of
the local area within the neighbourhood plan and should be substantially retained and enhanced.
Across the site, the proposed layout does not achieve densities as required by local policy and is
not found to successfully achieve efficient use of land. The quality of the heart space as a
communal public open space is undermined by the scale, gradient and immediate proximity of
adjacent dwellings. The layout of the proposed flatted block, car parking and landscaping at the
eastern end of the site is found to be cramped and would fail to respond positively to local
characteristics of greenery, spaciousness and openness. Overall, the layout of the development
results in significant conflict with national and local policy. The harm posed to the appearance and
character of the local area is deemed too significant to be outweighed by the acceptability of other
specific elements of the design. The scheme is deemed unacceptable in terms of design and would

Page 125

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
be harmful to the appearance of the local area.
NEIGHBOURING AMENITY
Section 12 (Achieving well-designed places), paragraph 127 of the NPPF outlines that planning
policies and decisions should ensure that developments create places with a high standard of
amenity for existing and future users.
Policy BCS21 (Quality Urban Design) of the Core Strategy outlines that all new development within
Bristol will be expected to strive to achieve high standards of urban design. With regards to amenity
it is outlined, that new development is expected to safeguard the amenity of existing development.
Policy BCS23 (Pollution) of the Core Strategy outlines that development should be sited and
designed in a way as to avoid adversely impacting upon environmental amenity or biodiversity of
the surrounding area by reason of fumes, dust, noise, vibration, smell, light or other forms of air,
land, water pollution, or creating exposure to contaminated land. Further to this, in locating and
designing development, account should also be taken of the impact of existing sources of noise or
other pollution on the new development and the impact of the new development on the viability of
existing uses by reason of its sensitivity to noise or other pollution.
Policy DM29 (Design of New Buildings) of the SADMP outlines that new buildings should be
designed to ensure that existing and proposed development achieves appropriate levels of privacy,
outlook and daylight.

Policy DM35 (Noise Mitigation) of the SADMP outlines that development which would have an
unacceptable impact on environmental amenity or biodiversity by reason of noise will be expected
to provide an appropriate scheme of mitigation. In assessing such a scheme of mitigation, account
will be taken of:
i. The location, design and layout of the proposed development; and
ii. Existing levels of background noise; and
iii. Measures to reduce or contain generated noise; and
iv. Hours of operation and servicing.
Development will not be permitted if mitigation cannot be provided to an appropriate standard with
an acceptable design, particularly in proximity to sensitive existing uses or sites.
Supplementary Planning Document 2 (SPD2: A Guide for Designing House Alterations and
Extensions) outlines that development should not result in any significant loss of privacy to
neighbouring houses and gardens. The best way of ensuring privacy between houses is to avoid
windows to habitable rooms directly facing one another. Where this cannot be achieved and
habitable rooms face each other, as a 'rule of thumb', a gap of 21 metres should generally be
provided. In more densely developed, inner urban locations this distance may be less. In
exceptional cases, obscured glazing may be needed where potential overlooking problems cannot
be overcome, or the window(s) set at an angle to avoid direct overlooking. Where windows to
habitable rooms face the end wall of a house the distance should be not less than 12 metres.
With regards to the principle of residential use at increased densities at the site, this does not raise
any significant amenity concerns. It is noted that the site is identified for housing development in the
neighbourhood plan and the established historic use of the site has also been for housing. Whilst
the site has been vacant for a period and this may have changed the amenity experienced by
adjacent occupiers, demolition was undertaken with a view to eventual redevelopment. The
proposed development comprising 36 homes would result in increased occupancy and use in
comparison to the previous scenario including 16 homes. There will therefore be increased noise

Page 126

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
and activity associated with the increased residential usage. There will be additional vehicle
movements, comings and goings. This would all be activity which already occurs in the area and
would be typical of a residential area. This would therefore not be abnormal within the existing
residential context. The increased residential densities are therefore found to safeguard the amenity
of adjacent occupiers.
With regards to the impact of the buildings themselves to neighbouring occupiers, the site is located
adjacent to neighbouring flats on Broadlands Drive to the north and houses on Brookthorpe Avenue
to the south. There are also flats and houses adjacent to the east on Oakhanger Drive and houses
as well as place of worship adjacent to the west.
The development would be separated from adjacent existing residential properties by existing
highways and public realm including Astry Close, Brookthorpe Avenue, Oakhanger Drive and
Goodring Hill. These highways, verges and adjacent gardens provide substantive separations
between the development and neighbouring properties.
To the eastern and western ends of the site, the separations to adjacent properties would be in
excess of 30m which given the proposed two storey scale of the development, would be sufficient
to ensure negative impact to amenity through loss of light, outlook or privacy is avoided.
With regards to flats adjacent on Broadlands Drive to the north of the site, a separation of a
minimum of 23m would be retained. This would increase to 28m in parts. This would be sufficient
to ensure negative impact to amenity through loss of light, outlook or privacy is avoided. There
would be some increased overlooking to the rear gardens of these properties, primarily from first
floor windows serving proposed houses on Astry Close. There would have previously been some
overlooking of these gardens from the previous (now demolished) houses on Astry Close. There is
also established overlooking from the rear of the first floor flats. As such, it is not found that privacy
would be harmfully diminished given the existing context. The development is found to preserve an
acceptable standard of amenity for neighbouring flats on Broadlands Drive.
Turning to adjacent properties to the south of the site on Brookthorpe Avenue, the development
would be located directly opposite fronting the northern side of this street. Previously the now
demolished houses on Astry Close included rear gardens in this location. The development would
bring houses in closer proximity of the existing houses on Brookthorpe Avenue. A separation of a
minimum of 18m would be maintained between the front of proposed houses on the northern side
of the street and the front of existing houses to the southern side of the street. Noting that the
proposed development would be to the north of neighbouring houses, it would not cause
overshadowing. The 18m minimum separation would be sufficient to prevent harmful loss of light or
outlook. 18m would be below the 21m facing window separation outlined in SPD2. However the
separation would remain substantial and only 3m below the 21m rule of thumb. This would also be
across a public highway to the front of houses where it is not uncommon to find facing windows.
This layout is found to avoid significant harm to neighbouring amenity through loss of privacy. On
the whole, the development is found to preserve acceptable standards of amenity for all
surrounding occupiers.
In relation to construction noise and disturbance, in the event of permission being granted, a
'Construction Management Plan' and 'Construction Environmental Management Plan' would be
sought via conditions attached to any permission. These would include measures to ensure the
construction impacts to neighbouring amenity and the environment will be within acceptable and
manageable limits.
It is noted that the development includes renewable energy generation technology in the form of air
source heat pumps for dwellings. These are indicated to be installed within rear/side gardens of
properties. The pumps would be associated with some degree of noise emissions. These would
primarily impact the proposed dwellings at the site given the proximity. Detailed specifications of

Page 127

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
units and any associated acoustic screening have not been provided at this stage and would
therefore be sought through condition in the event of permission being granted. To ensure noise
emissions do not impact upon living conditions, it will be required that the rating level of any noise
generated by air source heat pumps is at least 5 dB below the background level as determined by
BS4142: 2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound. This condition
would also ensure that the amenity of neighbouring occupiers located further from the heat pump
units would be preserved.
It is noted that following the Council's public consultation of neighbouring residents, no objections
were received relating to the application or development. Overall, the proposed development would
adequately safeguard the amenity of existing homes surrounding the site. This is achieved by
ensuring appropriate levels of privacy, outlook, daylight and noise environment for existing
occupiers. The application is therefore in accordance with policy requirements in this regard.
FUTURE RESIDENTS AMENITY
Section 12 (Achieving well-designed places), paragraph 127 of the NPPF outlines that planning
policies and decisions should ensure that developments create places with a high standard of
amenity for existing and future users. The NPPF states that policies may also make use of the
nationally described space standard, where the need for an internal space standard can be
justified.
Policy BCS18 (Housing Type) of the Core Strategy outlines that residential developments should
provide sufficient space for everyday activities and to enable flexibility and adaptability by meeting
appropriate space standards.
Policy DM29 (Design of New Buildings) of the SADMP states the design of new buildings should be
of high quality. To achieve this, new buildings are expected to ensure that existing and proposed
development achieves appropriate levels of privacy, outlook and daylight. New residential
development should provide dual aspect where possible, particularly where one of the aspects is
north-facing.
Supplementary Planning Document 2 (SPD2: A Guide for Designing House Alterations and
Extensions) outlines that development should not result in any significant loss of privacy to
neighbouring houses and gardens. The best way of ensuring privacy between houses is to avoid
windows to habitable rooms directly facing one another. Where this cannot be achieved and
habitable rooms face each other, as a 'rule of thumb', a gap of 21 metres should generally be
provided. In more densely developed, inner urban locations this distance may be less. In
exceptional cases, obscured glazing may be needed where potential overlooking problems cannot
be overcome, or the window(s) set at an angle to avoid direct overlooking. Where windows to
habitable rooms face the end wall of a house the distance should be not less than 12 metres.
The relevant space standards are the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government,
Technical housing standards - nationally described space standard (2016). These outline technical
standards for application to all tenures of new housing across England. The standards set minimum
internal areas which accommodation should provide relative to the number of future occupants.
Relevant to this application, 1 bedroom, 2 occupant dwellings must achieved minimum internal area
of 50m2, 2 bedroom, 3 occupant dwellings 70m2, 2 bedroom, 4 occupant dwellings of a single
storey 70m2 and 79m2 where two storeys and 3 bedroom, 5 occupant dwellings 93m2. The
standards also set minimum levels for built in storage within new houses, bedroom sizes and
minimum floor to ceiling heights. Double bedrooms should have a floor area of 11.5m2 and a
minimum width of 2.75m. Single bedrooms should have a floor area of 7.5m2 and minimum width of
2.15m. The dwellings should ensure 2.3m floor to ceiling height for at least 75% of the gross
internal area. Any area with headroom of less than 1.5m is not counted within the gross internal
area unless used solely for storage.

Page 128

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB

The development has been designed so that all dwellings of all sizes, including both houses and
flats meet the requirements of the nationally described space standard for their respect unit size.
This will ensure that the development delivers homes which offer sufficient space to accommodate
the everyday living and needs of future occupants. All proposed houses would also benefit from
access to a private garden. These vary in size and scale however all would offer the opportunity for
private outdoor amenity. It is noted that nearby Blaise Castle and Kings Weston Estates offer large
areas of public open space within a short walk should residents require more area for outdoor
amenity. The development is found to offer sufficient space to provide for acceptable living
conditions for future occupiers.
In relation to overlooking and privacy, BRE guidance (Site Layout Planning for Daylight and
Sunlight) indicates that recommended privacy distances are typically between 18m and 35m. BRE
Guidance (Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight) indicates that where the angle between
existing windows and proposed development is less than 25 degrees, development is unlikely to
have a substantial effect on the diffuse skylight enjoyed by adjacent buildings.
With regards to light within the development, it is noted that a Daylight & Sunlight Assessment has
been prepared and submitted in support of the application. This recognises there are 22 separate
instances at the site where the angle between proposed windows and proposed buildings is greater
than 25 degrees. This indicates that these windows may experience substantial effects on diffuse
skylight access and the rooms may experience poor day light as a result. The majority of the rooms
impacted also benefit from a secondary window which will provide the room with acceptable access
to light. However in the case of three particular layout scenarios, the rooms do not include
additional windows. This specifically relates to the rear ground floor windows within dwellings which
have a dwelling adjacent located perpendicular at the end of the rear garden. This is the case with
dwelling numbers 26, 27, 31 and 36. Further daylight modelling has been undertaken on these units
and it is indicated that the Average Daylight Factor in the rooms concerns would exceed the
recommended levels of 2% for a kitchen and 1.5% for a living room. This indicates that adequate
light will be achieved within these rooms. The LPA is accepting of these findings in terms of
daylight. The high number of 25 degree failure is however highlighted to be indicative of the close
relationships between dwellings and constrained nature of the site.
Whilst modelling has been undertaken which indicates acceptable daylight will be achieved, levels
of outlook remain of concern. Certain parts of the site are noted to achieve challenging relationships
with adjacent buildings. The proposed lower dwellings on Astry Close will achieve poor outlook from
rear facing ground floor windows due to the increase in elevation and retaining wall proposed to the
south. It is noted that additional side facing windows have been included. The gardens of these
properties will also experience a significant sense of enclosure associated with the elevated nature
of adjacent properties located to the south on Brookthorpe Avenue.
In some areas, dwellings located perpendicular to the main rows would include rear windows and
rear gardens backing onto the side walls of adjacent houses. In some cases this separation is as
low as 8m, such as the rear of dwelling 31 and the side wall of dwelling 20. The front windows to
dwellings facing the Heart Space area are located only 9m from adjacent two storey houses. The
rear windows in dwelling 36 would be 9m from the side wall of dwelling 20. The rear windows of
dwellings 26 and 27 would be 11m from the side wall of dwelling 25. These separations are very
low and will result in the living environment feeling enclosed and lacking outlook. As noted above,
SPD2 states that where windows to habitable rooms face the end wall of a house the distance
should be not less than 12 metres. The relationships proposed would not offer good levels of
outlook from these windows within the respective dwellings. The garden areas would also be
hindered by lack of outlook which would limit the amenity associated with these areas. Generally
the proposed layout is very constrained and does not ensure acceptable levels of outlook from all
habitable rooms. This will limit the quality of amenity associated with these dwellings.

Page 129

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
The tight relationships described above also result in privacy issues. It is noted that around 11m
separates the rear of proposed houses to the north of the site adjacent to Astry Close and those to
the south adjacent to Brookthorpe Avenue. These properties include first floor bedroom windows
within the rear elevations. The properties to the south are between 3.3m to 4.3m higher than those
to the north. This means that the houses to the south will have elevated vantage which will allow
views into adjacent rooms and over neighbouring gardens. The proposed separation distance of
11m is significantly below the 18-21m distance outlined to preserve acceptable privacy within local
policy and planning guidance.
Similar concerns exist relating to the separation distance between first floor windows within the rear
of the terrace on Goodring Hill and side windows to the first two semi-detached properties to Astry
Close and Brookthorpe Avenue. These separations would be 15m and 11m respectively. The first
floor side windows between dwellings 2 and 3 would be separated by 13m. The first floor side
windows within dwelling 4 would be separated by 13-14m from the rear windows of dwelling 33
within the northern end of the Heart Space. All dwellings within the Heart Space would include
separations of 9m between front windows. First floor windows have been offset to reduce this
impact however overlooking would not be entirely eliminated. Windows within the rear of dwelling
34 would be 12m from windows within the side of dwelling 5. Windows within the sides of dwellings
6 and 7 are separated by around 12m. Windows within the side of dwelling 8 are 12m from
windows serving flats 9 and 10.
The many relationships described above are all significantly below the 18-21m distance outlined to
preserve acceptable privacy within local policy. Whilst some of these relationships could be
improved through use of obscure glazing secured by condition, this would not fully overcome
concerns. This would reduce outlook and negatively impact amenity in this regard. Certain
properties have issues with overlooking and privacy to the rear as well as to the side. To overcome
this, both bedroom windows would need to be obscurely glazed which would fail to offer adequate
outlook. The proposed constrained layout would fail to achieve acceptable levels of privacy and
amenity for future occupiers.
Overall, there are found to be significant issues with amenity relationships within the proposed
development site itself. The proposed layout is highly constrained by virtue of steep gradient,
perpendicular terraces and semi-detached house types with primary side facing outlook. These
factors result in the development including poor outlook and an enclosed living environment as well
as inadequate privacy and extensive overlooking. These are not relationships or issues typical of
this area currently and would be out of character with the area. These factors are contrary to
national, local and neighbourhood level planning policies and the development is found to be
unacceptable in this regard.
TRANSPORT, HIGHWAYS & ACCESS
Section 9 (Promoting Sustainable Transport) of the NPPF outlines that significant development
should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to
travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This can help to reduce congestion and
emissions, and improve air quality and public health. However, opportunities to maximise
sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas, and this should be taken
into account in both plan-making and decision-making.
In relation to sustainable transport, the NPPF states that development should:
a)

b)

give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and with
neighbouring areas; and second - so far as possible - to facilitating access to high quality
public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other public
transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use;
address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all modes of

Page 130

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
transport;
c)

create places that are safe, secure and attractive - which minimise the scope for conflicts
between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter, and respond to
local character and design standards;

d)

allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency vehicles; and

e)

be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe,
accessible and convenient locations.

Policy BCS10 (Transport & Access Improvements) of the Core Strategy states that development
proposals should be located where sustainable travel patterns can be achieved, with more
intensive, higher density mixed use development at accessible centres and along or close to main
public transport routes. Proposals should minimise the need to travel, especially by private car, and
maximise opportunities for the use of walking, cycling and public transport.
Developments should be designed and located to ensure the provision of safe streets and reduce
as far as possible the negative impacts of vehicles such as excessive volumes, fumes and noise.
Proposals should create places and streets where traffic and other activities are integrated and
where buildings, spaces and the needs of people shape the area.
The following hierarchy for transport user priorities is set out:
a) The pedestrian;
b) The cyclist;
c) Public transport;
d) Access for commercial vehicles;
e) Short stay visitors by car;
f) The private car.
Policy DM23 (Transport Development Management) of the SADMP outlines that new development
should not give rise to unacceptable traffic conditions and will be expected to provide safe access
to the highway network. The policy also outlines that new development should be accessible by
sustainable transport methods such as walking, cycling and public transport. Furthermore, the
policy sets standards for parking provision. These can be found at Appendix 2 of the SADMP
document. The parking standards are maximum levels for car parking and minimum levels for cycle
parking.
Policy DM32 (Recycling & Refuse Provision in New Development) of the SADMP outlines that all
new development should provide bin and recycling storage facilities fit for the nature of
development, with adequate capacity for the proposed development, in a location which is safe and
accessible for all users and does not harm the visual amenity of the area or neighbouring amenity.
The development proposes new highways layouts to Astry Close and Brookthrope Avenue. The
footways on Goodring Hill and Oakhanger Driver would be revised with parking created on the
latter. The revised footways surrounding the site are viewed positively and will enhance pedestrian
accessibility in the local area. It is proposed to open up Astry Close as a one way street which will
improve accessibility. The Council's Transport Development Management Officers have provided
advice on several iterations of the scheme. As noted above, the latest comments are that they
would have no objections to the scheme in terms of highways safety, accessibility and design
subject to conditions attached to an eventual consent to further resolve certain issues.
Specifically, a financial contribution is required for Traffic Regulation Orders relating to parking
restrictions within the local area and the implementation of one way directions along Astry Close

Page 131

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
and Brookthorpe Avenue. These will need to be secured if permission were to be granted. Revised
layout proposals for Astry Close including removal of planting beds to the front of houses which
narrows the footway and removal of x3 parallel car parking spaces would be required.
These proposals would reduce the total car parking provision to 45 car parking spaces. It is noted
that the development could be associated with a maximum policy compliant car parking provision of
49 spaces in accordance with Policy DM23 and Appendix 2. This is within the maximum threshold
and therefore no objection is held to this level of provision. It is indicated that all properties which
include private driveways would include an electric vehicle charging point. This would be secured
by condition in the event of permission being granted. No concerns have been raised in relation to
accessibility or any highways safety issues associated with accessing any of the proposed car
parking.
As discussed above, it is recognised that the location on the site is not ideal in terms of public
transport accessibility. On this basis, a car parking provision closer to the policy maximum is
deemed acceptable. There are bus services available within the area however. Higher density
developments such as this scheme and others coming forward locally will help to maintain viable
public transport services for the area.
Cycle parking is to be provided to meet the minimum policy parking provision requirements of 2
spaces per two or three bedroom dwellings plus one space per ten units for visitors. Cycle parking
stores are proposed within the plots of houses. Concerns are raised as the lack of rear access
provides less utility than on-street secure parking in terms of access and the Equalities act. There is
a concern that cycle parking access routes (doors/corridors) are potentially below 2m wide and will
limit access to wider types of bike. Further details regarding the detailed method of securing bikes
would be sought via condition in the event of permission being granted.
Refuse and recycling storage is indicated on site. Each house will include its own private store.
These appear to be of sufficient size and scale to accommodate bins and recycling boxes required.
All refuse and recycling storage would include level and direct access to the highway for collection.
Full details of stores would be sought via condition in the event of permission being granted.
Subject to conditions, the development is not found to cause any insurmountable access, transport
or highways issues. The LPA and Highways Authority will seek to engage with the applicants to
resolve outstanding highways issues via conditions and legal agreements.
SUSTAINABILITY & CLIMATE CHANGE
Section 14 of the NPPF states "The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon
future in a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to:
shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise
vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the
conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated
infrastructure".
Paragraph 150 of the NPPF outlines that "new development should be planned for in ways that:
can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, orientation and design".
Core Strategy Policy BCS13 states that "Development should contribute to both mitigating and
adapting to climate change, and to meeting targets to reduce carbon dioxide emissions.
Development should mitigate climate change through measures including:
o

High standards of energy efficiency including optimal levels of thermal insulation, passive
ventilation and cooling, passive solar design, and the efficient use of natural resources in
new buildings.

Page 132

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB

o

The use of decentralised, renewable and low-carbon energy supply systems.

o

Patterns of development which encourage walking, cycling and the use of public transport
instead of journeys by private car.

Development should adapt to climate change through measures including:
o

o

Site layouts and approaches to design and construction which provide resilience to climate
change.
Measures to conserve water supplies and minimise the risk and impact of flooding.

o

The use of green infrastructure to minimise and mitigate the heating of the urban
environment.

o

Avoiding responses to climate impacts which lead to increases in energy use and carbon
dioxide emissions.

These measures should be integrated into the design of new development. New development
should demonstrate through Sustainability Statements how it would contribute to mitigating and
adapting to climate change and to meeting targets to reduce carbon dioxide emissions by means of
the above measures.
Core Strategy Policy BCS14 provides further objectives for how development will be expected to
reduce carbon emissions through use of sustainable energy sources. It is outlined that development
should include measures to reduce carbon dioxide emissions from energy use in accordance with
the energy hierarchy. Development is also required to reduce carbon dioxide emissions from
residual energy use by way of onsite renewable energy generation in buildings by at least 20%.
New development will be expected to demonstrate that the heating and cooling systems have been
selected following the heat hierarchy.
Further guidance on Core Strategy policy requirements and the preparation of Sustainability and
Energy Statements is available within the Climate Change and Sustainability Practice Note (2012).
The Sustainability Statement outlines various merits of the proposals in terms of contribution to the
economy through construction and increased local population, promotion of sustainable transport
and travel planning, sustainable design and construction including use of materials with high
environmental ratings, flexible and adaptable dwellings and specification of high speed fibre to the
premises 1Gbps broadband. These principles accord with the objectives outlined in Policies
BCS13-15.
The Sustainability Statement also outlines how the development will minimise energy use and
carbon emissions, utilise low carbon renewable heat and reduce residual regulated emissions by
20% through the use of low carbon renewable energy.
The Sustainability Statement outlines that the approach to reducing energy demand will be through
a fabric first approach and very high levels of air permeability which is welcomed. The Sustainable
Cities team who have reviewed the application have recommended conditioning the suggested
level of air permeability (3m3/m2.hr @ 50 Pa) as if this is not achieved, it will have a bearing on the
demand for space heating. Regarding the heating strategy, the use of renewable heating via heat
pumps is welcomed. The supplied energy calculation table demonstrates that through these
systems the homes will achieve a 14% reduction in carbon emissions on a Part L Building
Regulations compliant baseline and a further 21% reduction in carbon emissions beyond the
improved level through use of on-site renewable energy generation. The specified systems include

Page 133

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
both air source heat pumps and also Solar PV. The proposals therefore comply with Policy BCS14
and implementation in accordance with the requirements outlined within the supplied statements
would be secured by condition in the event of permission being granted.
The Sustainable Cities team have requested further information regarding Overheating Risk
Assessment including climate modelling. This specifically relates to how modelled temperatures
compare with a future weather file of the 2050 and 2080 50% percentile medium emissions
scenario. This information has not been provided however an updated Overheating Risk
Assessment could be secured by condition in the event of permission being granted. Subject to
such a condition, the development will be resilient to anticipated changes in the climate and
increases in average and peak summer temperatures. This will avoid responses (BCS13) to climate
change which will increase energy demand and associated carbon dioxide emissions.
DRAINAGE & FLOOD RISK
Policy BCS16 (Flood Risk and Water Management) of the Core Strategy states that development in
Bristol will follow a sequential approach to flood risk management, giving priority to the
development of sites with the lowest risk of flooding. The development of sites with a sequentially
greater risk of flooding will be considered where essential for regeneration or where necessary to
meet the development requirements of the city.
Development in areas at risk of flooding will be expected to:
i.
ii.

be resilient to flooding through design and layout, and/or
incorporate sensitively designed mitigation measures, which may take the form of on-site
flood defence works and/or a contribution towards or a commitment to undertake such offsite measures as may be necessary, in order to ensure that the development remains safe
from flooding over its lifetime.

All development will also be expected to incorporate water management measures to reduce
surface water run-off and ensure that it does not increase flood risks elsewhere. This should include
the use of sustainable drainage systems (SUDS).
Policy DM33 (Pollution Control, Air Quality and Water Quality) of the SADMP states that
Development which has the potential, either individually or cumulatively, for an unacceptable impact
on environmental amenity, biodiversity or water quality by reason of pollution as set out in the Core
Strategy but is considered desirable for reasons of economic or wider social need will be expected
to provide an appropriate scheme of mitigation.
The policy proceeds to outline that "Development adjacent to underground or surface water bodies
covered by the Water Framework Directive and Severn River Basin Management Plan should
contribute towards those water bodies maintaining or achieving Good Ecological Status. This may
take the form of on-site measures or a financial contribution to off-site measures."
"In terms of water quality, the River Frome, Brislington Brook, Malago, River Trym and Colliter's
Brook do not currently achieve Good Ecological Status due to impacts from flood protection / land
drainage schemes and urbanisation. To comply with the Water Framework Directive water bodies
should reach good ecological potential by 2027. Measures will therefore be sought from
development adjacent to waterways covered by the Water Framework Directive, where feasible and
viable, either through measures in the Severn River Basin Management Plan or other good practice
such as naturalised river habitats, deculverting and appropriate vegetation management plans. The
River Avon is at good ecological status and this should not be allowed to deteriorate through
development."
The site is not located within a flood zone and is not at risk of flooding. The proposed development

Page 134

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
is located within surface drainage discharge zone where the priority is to use infiltration techniques
where possible, or reduce the discharge rate and provide water quality improvements.
The proposals have been submitted including a drainage strategy. This has been reviewed by the
Flood Risk and Data Manager and confirmed as acceptable however they have commented that
some details are yet to be confirmed. Therefore a final drainage strategy including maintenance
plans for drainage features will be required to be submitted via condition. The drainage design will
include SuDs storage facilities on site which will need to be correctly sized in order to be adequate
to minimise flood risk on the site. Full details of a comprehensive drainage strategy for the site will
be sought via condition in the event of permission being granted. Subject to this measure, the
development would avoid causing any significant increase in flood risk locally.
LAND CONTAMINATION
Policy DM34 (Land Contamination) of the SADMP states that new development should
demonstrate that:
i. Any existing contamination of the land will be addressed by appropriate mitigation measures to
ensure that the site is suitable for the proposed use and that there is no unacceptable risk of
pollution within the site or in the surrounding area; and
ii. The proposed development will not cause the land to become contaminated, to the detriment of
future use or restoration of the site or so that it would cause pollution in the surrounding area.
The application has been reviewed by the Council's Public Protection Contaminated Land team.
The proposed development is noted to be sensitive to contamination and is situated on or adjacent
to land which has been subject to land uses which could be a potential source of contamination.
The submitted Desk Study prepared by Campbell Reith dated May 2018 Reference 12843 is
sufficient and identifies the fly-tipping issues which we are aware of being a persistent problem
since the original homes were demolished. Further intrusive investigation is recommended which is
supported. This will be secured by conditions in the event of permission being granted. Subject to
this measure, the development will avoid unacceptable risk of pollution effecting public health.
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY
Some new developments granted planning permission will be liable to pay Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to Bristol City Council.
CIL is payable where development comprises 100m2 or more of new build floorspace or results in
the creation of one or more dwellings.
The development is CIL liable and the supplied CIL form submits that the development comprises
174m2 market housing and 2917m2 social housing which is eligible for CIL charging relief. The CIL
liability of the development based on the information submitted by the applicant is estimated to total
£8,700 plus indexation. This is based on 174m2 new build floor area within the outer Bristol
charging area (£50 per m2). Full CIL liability will be calculated and issued by the Planning
Obligations team following permission being granted.
In order to benefit from any relief from CIL which may be applicable, the applicant must submit
exemption forms and commencement (of development) notice to the Charging/Collecting Authority
prior to the commencement of development in order to benefit from relief from the levy.

Page 135

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
CONCLUSION
When considered overall, the development is associated with some clear benefits. It would provide
36 new homes which would make a positive contribution to local housing need. These would be
located in an established neighbourhood which would be within walking distance of a district centre.
The proposals include a pair of self-build houses and accessible flats which will contribute to the
variety of housing types available within the area. The development will deliver at minimum a policy
compliant 30% affordable housing contribution and in reality the level of affordable housing
delivered is expected to be substantially higher. The houses accord with policy expectations in
terms of energy efficiency, renewable heating and on site energy generation. However, as
highlighted within the report above, officers have identified significant policy conflicts with parts of
the scheme. The proposals to develop grass verges for housing and car parking conflict with
neighbourhood and city planning policy. These parts of the site are not identified for housing
development and are informal open space which should be preserved for local amenity. The verges
are identified are attractive features which contribute positively to local appearance, character and
distinctiveness. Development in these areas would not represent an appropriate response to the
site and adjacent area and would be harmful to local appearance, character and distinctiveness.
The proposed layout in terms of outlook and privacy is very constrained and will not achieve high
standard of amenity for future occupiers. Within the context of sustainable development, these
aspects of the development will not contribute to creation of a community which is environmentally
and socially sustainable. When weighed in the balance, these issues are found to outweigh the
positive aspects identified. On the whole, the scheme is found counter to national, local and
neighbourhood planning policy and is therefore recommended for refusal.
EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
During the determination of this application due regard has been given to the impact of this scheme
in relation to the Equalities Act 2010 in terms of its impact upon key equalities protected
characteristics. These characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. There is
no indication or evidence (including from consultation with relevant groups) that different groups
have or would have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation this particular
proposed development. Overall, it is considered that this application would not have any significant
adverse impact upon different groups or implications for the Equalities Act 2010.
RECOMMENDED

REFUSE

The following reason(s) for refusal are associated with this decision:
Reason(s)
1.

Harm to local appearance, character and distinctiveness
The substantial development of open grass verges surrounding the site is found to be
harmful to the open, spacious and green character which prevails at the site and within
Lawrence Weston. These features are identified for their positive contribution to the
appearance of the local area within the neighbourhood plan and their development would be
at odds with this. The terrace of houses on Goodring Hill would breach the established
building line in this area, appearing obtrusive and out of character with adjacent buildings
and open space. Across the site, the proposed layout does not achieve densities as
required by local policy and is not found to successfully achieve efficient use of land. The
quality of the heart space as a communal public open space is undermined by the scale,
gradient and immediate proximity of adjacent dwellings. The layout of the proposed flatted
block, car parking and landscaping at the eastern end of the site is found to be cramped and

Page 136

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
would fail to respond positively to local characteristics of greenery, spaciousness and
openness. Overall, the development fails to provide an appropriate response to the
character of the neighbourhood. This is contrary to Section 12 of the National Planning
Policy Framework, Bristol Core Strategy Policies BCS9 and BCS21, Site Allocations and
Development Management Local Plan Policies DM17, DM21, DM26, DM27 and DM28 as
well as Lawrence Weston Neighbourhood Development Plan Policies H1, H3 and OPR1.
2.

Inadequate standards of amenity for future occupiers
The proposed layout is highly constrained by virtue of steep gradient, perpendicular terraces
and semi-detached house types with side facing primary outlook. These factors result in the
development achieving poor outlook and an enclosed living environment as well as
inadequate privacy and extensive overlooking between houses. These are not relationships
or issues typical of this area currently and would be out of character with the area. As a
result the development is not found to offer an acceptable standard of amenity or living
conditions for future occupiers. This is contrary to Section 12 of the National Planning Policy
Framework, Bristol Core Strategy Policies BCS18 and BCS21, Site Allocations and
Development Management Policies Local Plan Policies DM14, DM27 and DM29 as well as
guidance within Supplementary Planning Document 2: A Guide for Designing House
Alterations and Extensions.

Advice(s)
1.

Refused Applications Deposited Plans/Documents
The plans that were formally considered as part of the above application are as follows:1804-P-001 Site location plan, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-002 Existing site plan, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-003 Pre-demolition site plan, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-100 (A) Proposed site plan, received 21 September 2020
1804-P-101 (B) Proposed key plan, received 21 September 2020
1804-P-102 (F) Proposed site ground floor plan, received 21 September 2020
1804-P-103 (B) Proposed site first floor plan, received 21 September 2020
1804-P-104 Proposed roof plan, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-105 Overview, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-106 Overview, received 30 July 2019
1804_P-107 Overview, received 2 December 2019
1804-P-200 Proposed street elevations, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-201 Proposed site sections, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-300 House type plans, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-301 (A) House type plans, received 2 December 2019
1804-P-302 (A) House type elevations, received 2 December 2019
1804-P-303 (A) House type elevations, received 2 December 2019
1804-P-310 House type ground floor plan, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-311 House type first floor and roof plans, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-312 House type elevations, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-313 House type elevations, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-320 (A) House type Ground floor plans, received 2 December 2019
1804-P-321 (A) House type first floor and roof plans, received 2 December 2019
1804-P-322 (A) House type elevations, received 2 December 2019
1804-P-323 (A) House type elevations, received 2 December 2019
1804-P-330 House type ground floor plan, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-331 House type alternative ground floor plans, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-332 House type first floor and roof plans, received 30 July 2019

Page 137

Item no. 2
Development Control Committee B – 15 April 2021
Application No. 19/03660/F : Land At Astry Close Bristol BS11 0RB
1804-P-333 House type first floor and roof alternative plans, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-334 House type elevations, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-335 House type elevations, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-340 (A) House type ground floor plans, received 2 December 2019
1804-P-341 First floor and roof plans, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-342 Elevations, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-343 Elevations, received 30 July 2019
1804-P-350 (C) Ground floor plan, received 21 September 2020
1804-P-351 (B) First floor and roof floor plan, received 21 September 2020
1804-P-352 (A) Elevations, received 21 September 2020
1804-P-353 (A) Elevations, received 21 September 2020
12843-CRH-Z1-00-DR-C-5000-P3 Proposed highway adoption plan, received 31 March
2021
12843-CRH-Z1-00-DR-C-5001-P6 Proposed layout, received 31 March 2021
12843-CRH-Z1-00-DR-C-5003-P5 Proposed payment construction layout, received 31
March 2021
12843-CRH-Z1-00-DR-C-5007-P6 Proposed road signs and markings, received 31 March
2021
12843-CRH-Z1-00-DR-C-5011-P7 Junction visibility splays, received 31 March 2021
12843-CRH-Z1-00-DR-C-5012-P7 Refuse vehicle tracking, received 31 March 2021
12843-CRH-Z1-00-DR-C-5013-P3 Vehicle refuse tracking, received 31 March 2021
12843-CRH-Z1-00-DR-C-5014-P1 Refuse vehicle tracking, received 31 March 2021
Design and access statement, received 30 July 2019
Units supplementary information, received 30 July 2019
Affordable housing and planning obligations statement, received 30 July 2019
Preliminary ecological appraisal, received 30 July 2019
Daylight/sunlight assessment, received 30 July 2019
Energy and sustainability statement, received 30 July 2019
LTS_100(08)101_REV B Landscape general arrangement plan, received 31 March 2021
LTS_100(08)102 Landscape levels plan - sheet 1 of 3, received 30 July 2019
LTS_100(08)103 Landscape levels plan- sheet 2 of 3, received 30 July 2019
LTS_100(08)104 Landscape level plans - sheet 3 of 3, received 30 July 2019
Transport statement, received 30 July 2019
Geoenvironmental & geotechnical desktop study, received 30 July 2019
Maps, received 30 July 2019
Maps, received 30 July 2019
Desktop study, received 30 July 2019
Maps, received 30 July 2019
Arboriculture report, received 30 July 2019
Statement of community involvement, received 30 July 2019
Transport statement, received 30 July 2019
Community Involvement Statement, received 30 July 2019
2006-049 RSA1-200729 Road Safety Audit, received 30 July 2019
Flood risk assessment and outline drainage strategy, received 30 July 2019
Appendix D-K : Existing overland flood flow routes, received 30 July 2019
Utilities assessment report, received 30 July 2019
Designers response, received 30 July 2019

commrepref
V1.0211

Page 138

Supporting Documents
2.

Land at Astry Close
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

Existing site plan
Pre Demolition site plan
Proposed site plan
Proposed house key plan
Proposed site first floor plan
Proposed site elevations
Proposed site sections
Site 3D model from West
Site 3D model from East
Site Photos

Page 139

to
23
General Notes
1. All dimensions to be checked on site
2. Unless otherwise stated dimensions
are in millimetres
3. Drawings to be read in conjunction with
all other project drawings
4. Copyright Barefoot Architects Ltd.

2
12
0
12

Scale 1:500
0 1

5

15 metres

10

98
96
2a

Page 140

1

2b
No. Date

Issue Notes

a: Unit 4.8 Paintworks
Bristol BS4 3EH

5

e: info@barefootarchitects.co.uk
t: 0117 9070 971

1a
Project

1b

Astry Close

Job No.

1c

1804

Drawing Title

Existing Site Plan

1d
Drawn By

12

N

ESS

1

JH

Scale

Date

Feb 19

1:500@A3

Drawing No.

14

1804-P-002
4

Revision

to
23
General Notes
1. All dimensions to be checked on site
2. Unless otherwise stated dimensions
are in millimetres
3. Drawings to be read in conjunction with
all other project drawings
4. Copyright Barefoot Architects Ltd.

2
12
0
12

Scale 1:500
0 1

5

15 metres

10

98
96
2a

Page 141

1

2b
No. Date

Issue Notes

a: Unit 4.8 Paintworks
Bristol BS4 3EH

5

e: info@barefootarchitects.co.uk
t: 0117 9070 971

1a
Project

1b

Astry Close

Job No.

1c

1d

Pre-demolition Site
Plan
Drawn By

12

N

ESS

1

1804

Drawing Title

JH

Scale

Date

Feb 19

1:500@A3

Drawing No.

14

1804-P-003
4

Revision

23
to
General Notes
1. All dimensions to be checked on site
2. Unless otherwise stated dimensions
are in millimetres
3. Drawings to be read in conjunction with
all other project drawings
4. Copyright Barefoot Architects Ltd.

ive

kh
Oa

r
sD

o
Br

er
an g

nd

la
ad

Dri

2
12
0
12

ve

ree

gt

Ex

yC

98
96

tr
As

Scale 1:500

on

e
los

e
ew

REVISED
PLANNING ISSUE
21.09.20

i
ers
v
i
rd

0 1

5

15 metres

10

ps

o
Pr

2a

art

2b

He

Page 142

1

e

ac

Sp
pe

oo

Br

or
h
t
k

e
Av

e

nu

A

15/09/2020 Revisions to 2bed flats,
kerb lines and parking

No. Date

Issue Notes

a: Unit 4.8 Paintworks
Bristol BS4 3EH

5

e: info@barefootarchitects.co.uk
t: 0117 9070 971

1a

t
Exg s

1b

wer
ic se
rateg

ring H

Good

Project

Astry Close

Job No.

ill

1804

1c

Drawing Title

Proposed Site Plan

1d
Drawn By

12

N

ESS

1

JH

Scale
Drawing No.

14

Date

28/04/2020
1:500@A3
Revision

1804-P-100-A
4

2B4P

83sqm

Type B

8no.

2B4P

79sqm

Type C

11no.

3B5P

95sqm

Type D

5no.

3B5P

96sqm

Flats
1no.

2B3P

Type G

1no.

2B3P wheelchair accessible

73sqm

Type H

1no.

2B4P

71sqm

ts

fla

10
9- F
E

62sqm

-P

Total number car parking spaces - 48

5

00

4

80

1
ion

-2
-P

-2

A2
7

4

n1

tio

va
Ele

4
80

00

e

try

As

os
Cl

A2
5

A1
8

B

A1
6
C1
16

A
C3 5
3

art

B1
19

14

ati

v
Ele

8
n1

2
P-

-1

00

o

Scale 1:500
0 1

cti
on

5

15 metres

10

B

15/09/2020 Revisions to 2bed flats
and kerb lines

A

27/11/2019 Revisions to external
stores, window positions
and parking

No. Date

Issue Notes

01

-2

-P
-1

oo

04

n

ue

18

or
kth

Br

a: Unit 4.8 Paintworks
Bristol BS4 3EH
e: info@barefootarchitects.co.uk
t: 0117 9070 971

cti

Se
on

Project

-2

-3

01

D2
27

-2

01

-2

-P

04
18

-P
04

on

Astry Close

18

cti

Se

D2
28

B1
24

C1
23

C1
22

-

04

Se

e

C4
36

ac

Sp
A
C4 1
3

D2
29

ill
ring H

B1
25

A
pe

B1
20

B1
21

B1
15

C5 3
1

B1
18

ve

A1
2

D1
30

Good

Job No.

1804

Drawing Title

Proposed Key Plan

D3
26
ctio

Se

tion 1
Eleva

Drawn By

804

n1

JH

Scale

201

-P-4

3

-200-

804-P

N

C3
32

A1
4

il
bu

C1
17

C2
34

He

A
C2 3
3

Page 143
A2
3

d

lf
se
lf
se ld
i
bu 2

t

va
Ele

ve

D ri

Total number of units - 36

A2
1

r
nge

Type F

o
Br

s
62sqm

REVISED
PLANNING ISSUE
21.09.20

kha

1B2P wheelchair accessible

g
ex e
tre

1no.

nd

2
-1
11 H
G

e

Type E

la
ad

ts

fla

Oa

iv
Dr

-3

8no.

00
-2
-P

Type A

General Notes
1. All dimensions to be checked on site
2. Unless otherwise stated dimensions
are in millimetres
3. Drawings to be read in conjunction with
all other project drawings
4. Copyright Barefoot Architects Ltd.

04
18

Houses

Drawing No.

Date

28/04/2020
1:500@A3
Revision

1804-P-101-B

.41

23

General Notes
1. All dimensions to be checked on site
2. Unless otherwise stated dimensions
are in millimetres
3. Drawings to be read in conjunction with
all other project drawings
4. Copyright Barefoot Architects Ltd.

m

ive

kh
Oa

r
sD

er
an g

nd

la
ad

o
Br

Dri
ve

26

4
.3
11

m
.69
12

g
ex e
tre

REVISED
PLANNING ISSUE
21.09.20

m

.36
m

.84

m

11

10

.43

.97

28

m

m
.77

m

11

Scale 1:500

e
los

0 1

m

m

28

.43

15 metres

10

.11
11

yC

tr
As

5

.16

12

m

3m

.6
20

m

4
8.3

p

m

oo

Br

m

1m

20

m

11.

48

.1
18

11.

13

e

v
eA

or
h
t
k

e
nu

6m

e

ac

8.8

12

m
44
15.

9m

8m

.1
18

2m
4.0

Sp

m

art

m
.19

1

He

.33

23

Page 144

m

14
13.

B

07/07/2020 Revisions to 2bed flats
and kerb lines

A

27/11/2019 Revisions to external
stores, window positions
and parking

No. Date

Issue Notes

a: Unit 4.8 Paintworks
Bristol BS4 3EH
e: info@barefootarchitects.co.uk

Project

Astry Close

m
20.

11.21

65

Job No.

1804

m

ill

8m
22.8

ring H

Good

m

9m

.96

17

11.0

t: 0117 9070 971

Drawing Title

17.7

Proposed Site First
Floor Plan

1m

Drawn By

JH

Scale

N

Drawing No.

Date

28/04/2020
1:500@A3
Revision

1804-P-103-B

General Notes
1. Do not scale from drawings for the
purposes of construction.
2. All dimensions to be checked on site
3. Unless otherwise stated dimensions
are in millimetres
4. Drawings to be read in conjunction with
all other project drawings
5. Copyright Barefoot Architects Ltd.

Brookthorpe Avenue
Scale 1:250

Key Plan

Oakhanger Drive

Goodring Hill

Scale 1:250

Scale 1:250

Page 145

Astry Close
Scale 1:250

Astry Close
Scale 1:250

No. Date

Issue Notes

a: Unit 4.8 Paintworks
Bristol BS4 3EH
e: info@barefootarchitects.co.uk
t: 0117 9070 971

Project

Astry Close
Job No.

1804

Drawing Title

Proposed Street
Elevations

Drawn By

JH

Scale

Date

Jan 2019

1:250@A1

Drawing No.

1804-P-200

Revision

General Notes
1. Do not scale from drawings for the
purposes of construction.
2. All dimensions to be checked on site
3. Unless otherwise stated dimensions
are in millimetres
4. Drawings to be read in conjunction with
all other project drawings
5. Copyright Barefoot Architects Ltd.

Site Cross Section
Scale 1:250

4.29 m

Key Plan

Site Cross Section
Scale 1:250

Scale 1:250

Site Cross Section
Scale 1:250

No. Date

Issue Notes

a: Unit 4.8 Paintworks
Bristol BS4 3EH
e: info@barefootarchitects.co.uk
t: 0117 9070 971

Project

Astry Close
Job No.

3.33 m

Page 146

Site Cross Section

1804

Drawing Title

Proposed Site Sections

Drawn By

JH

Scale

Date

Jan 2019

1:250@A1

Drawing No.

1804-P-201

Revision

General Notes
1. All dimensions to be checked on site
2. Unless otherwise stated dimensions
are in millimetres
3. Drawings to be read in conjunction with
all other project drawings
4. Copyright Barefoot Architects Ltd.

Page 147
No. Date

Issue Notes

a: Unit 4.8 Paintworks
Bristol BS4 3EH
e: info@barefootarchitects.co.uk
t: 0117 9070 971

Project

Astry Close

Job No.

1804

Drawing Title

Overview

Drawn By

JH

Scale

Date

Jan 19

NTS@A3

Drawing No.

1804-P-105

Revision

General Notes
1. All dimensions to be checked on site
2. Unless otherwise stated dimensions
are in millimetres
3. Drawings to be read in conjunction with
all other project drawings
4. Copyright Barefoot Architects Ltd.

Page 148
No. Date

Issue Notes

a: Unit 4.8 Paintworks
Bristol BS4 3EH
e: info@barefootarchitects.co.uk
t: 0117 9070 971

Project

Astry Close

Job No.

1804

Drawing Title

Overview

Drawn By

JH

Scale

Date

Jan 19

NTS@A3

Drawing No.

1804-P-106

Revision

Page 149

Page 150

Page 151

Page 152

Page 153

Page 154

Page 155

Page 156

Page 157

Page 158

Page 159

Page 160

Page 161

